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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
e

Dear Shareholders,

2021 was a year in which the world continued to fight against the
COVID-19 pandemic. Since the global economy was hit by the
pandemic, overseas investment projects around the globe have
delayed, which had serious impact on our businesses in Africa and
Asia. Under the guidance of the board of directors, our management
adjusted the operation and development strategies according to
the international situation and our current conditions, by optimizing
business presence and focusing resources on major projects, to
take full advantages of our brand and customers accumulated over
the years, as a result of which we were quite successful on a number
of projects. In addition, we moderately scaled down our existing
business presence, streamline the workforce structure and increased
efficiency, as well as strictly controlled cost, leading to a significant
decrease in the overall loss. As a result, the business objectives set
at the beginning of the year have almost been achieved. | would
like to present the operation of Frontier Services Group Limited
(“Frontier” or the “Group”) in 2021 to the shareholders as below.

FOCUSING ON KEY PROJECTS AND BUILDING THE
BRAND

In the past few years, the Group obtained security licenses in more
than ten major countries, realizing localized operation, and largely
covering all critical regions along the “Belt and Road” initiative. With
the joint efforts of the team, Frontier has gradually built international,
professional and localized security workforce, and established
a high-level management process and operation standards. The
Frontier’'s security brand has been widely known among the Chinese
enterprises overseas. Security, as the core business of Frontier, has
driven the integrated development of logistics, insurance, air rescue
and other businesses.

In 2021, through further improvement and adjustment, the Group
vigorously promoted high-end security, logistics, insurance and
other core businesses characterized by Frontier, and integrated
and made full use of its existing resources by focusing its resources
on key countries and projects and closely aligning its business
presence and development with the political and economic situation
of the countries where the businesses were located. As a result, it
has successfully achieved a business growth in the context of the
global economic downturn.
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FERE

IMPROVING THE STRUCTURE AND REDUCING THE
COST

In 2021, the Group continued to promote the optimization of
business presence, further streamlined the organization, improved
the structure of the workforce and reduced its overall operating
cost. It adopted effective measures to reduce losses, and put more
human and financial resources in facilitating the implementation of
key and major projects, so as to increase the overall revenue, and to
ensure the Group’s business stable and sustainable for a long term.

ACHIEVEMENTS

After a year of adjustment and development, and with the joint
efforts of the management and employees of the Group, Frontier
has achieved significant results in some countries, subsidiaries
and key projects, recording a turnaround in some aspects and
a significant increase in the security and insurance businesses.
PAL has achieved profitability for two consecutive years, and its
performance in several major projects has been fully recognized
and accredited by local governments and Chinese organizations
overseas, enhancing the Frontier’s security brand.

ACQUISITIONS AND MERGERS

In October 2021, the Group completed the acquisition of DeWe
Security Limited, which has comprehensive security qualifications
and experience that would generate synergies with Frontier to
increase the market share more rapidly. Its healthcare services
would provide innovative intelligent medical solutions and expand
the Group’s presence in the healthcare field, enabling the Group to
satisfy customers’ needs for security and medical services in a full
range, and differentiating the Group in the market competition. It will
therefore become the Group’s new business and economic growth
point.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
e

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
ISSUES

As a company with services spanning across several continents,
the Group, while promoting business growth, also requires the
management team to integrate the concept of sustainability into
business operations, so as to create long-term and sustainable
value for all stakeholders. During the year, the Group prioritized
climate change, occupational health and safety, employee training
and development, service quality and safety, and community
investment as material environmental, social and governance
issues. Responding to the severe threat brought by the COVID-19,
the Group not only adopted various preventive measures to protect
the health and safety of employees, but also actively engaged in the
pandemic prevention and control in the countries and regions where
it was located. It has repeatedly provided air rescue, transportation
of medical devices and consumables and other services for those
patients with serious diseases in various countries, and donated a
large amount of anti-pandemic materials to non-profit organisations
such as communities, associations and elderly care centers, to fully
fulfill the Group’s social responsibilities.

OUTLOOK FOR 2022

2021 was a challenging year for the Group. Due to the COVID-19,
the expansion of major projects was slow down, and each of the
board of directors and management has undergone an adjustment.
Nonetheless, the Group’s management team and all employees have
withstood the test of the pandemic, with a growth in the operating
performance despite of the adversity. The board of directors
believes that, in 2022, the new management team will lead the
employees to continue to leverage the unique advantages of Frontier
and further optimize the management and business structure, to
keep generating greater value for its shareholders by overcoming
all obstacles. Thank you everyone for your unfailing attention,
confidence and support that you have been giving to the Group.

Chang Zhenming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2022
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¥, MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DN

REVIEW OF RESULTS KEOE

Overall Performance BERR
2021 2020
—EB-—F —T-FF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Revenue from contracts with customers KEEEAEDHZWA 756,123 605,246
Cost of direct materials and job expenses BEEMEBRRITERS (248,400) (152,467)
Cost of aircraft management services TR E I8 AR 7S A AN - (81,520)
Data costs IR AR (6,073) (5,907)
Employee benefit expenses EERBHHAX (242,431) (238,984)
Sub-contracting charges HEER (197,948) (166,942)
Rental expenses HeBH (12,562) (12,692)
Repair and maintenance costs wiERREER (14,223) (21,694)
Depreciation and amortisation e R i (49,684) (53,569)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiaries HERBARZEE - (486)
Other operating expenses HipLEER (67,048) (72,105)
Other income and other gains, net E Aty U A R H At U 25 BE 8,335 4,263
Provision for impairment of property, plant and  ¥73 - #2838 & R A &
equipment and right-of-use assets Tt FAAE 2 R E (15,731) -
Provision for impairment of other intangibles HEMEREEZRERE (2,029) -
Impairment losses on financial assets CRIEEZRERRE (30,866) (14,266)
Operating loss giEEE (122,537) (211,123)
Interest income SN ON 2,033 3,702
Finance costs B B AN (15,231) (19,485)
Share of profits/(losses) of associates and a IR E AR R —RAE
joint venture, net NREER(EE) F58E 3,344 (2,478)
Provision for impairment of assets held-for-sale 3£ & & 2 2 FE B # (10,396) -
Provision for impairment of interest in an R—RKEE AT 2w
associate VERERE - (8,693)
Loss before income tax KRETISBLRTETIE (142,787) (238,077)
Income tax (expense)/credit s (%) & (14,392) 9,491
Loss for the year FEEE (157,179) (228,586)

8 Frontier Services Group Limited 5t 22 BR7% = E B R A 7



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

Since the World Health Organisation declared COVID-19 a pandemic
in early 2020, more and more countries across the globe shut down
their borders and limited transportation and travel to contain the
coronavirus (“COVID-19") outbreak, thus, creating impediments
for international business and logistic chains. As the outbreak
caused disruptions in supply chain operations, the logistics and
transportation industries were hampered in various ways across air,
freight, and sea segments. The situation in 2021 has slightly been
stabilised as more and more people have got vaccinated and more
control measures on social distancing and against COVID-19 have
been implemented around the globe. 2021 is the second financial
year for Frontier Services Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) to operate our businesses under
the pandemic. The Group has overcome a lot of challenges and
difficulties and made good use of our resources so as to improve its
operational performance.

Financial Key Performance Indicators

Y

B REFEARE_S_TFYSHHETM
AERASRHRERXRITUAR  2HBREZE
REFEIRL R BIE SR M IRE - LB HI B
S(HEBREER)BRE KM ABEKEE
RREm KRR - ARNRITEHHEREET
B MRKEREEEE  BENMSEREFE
EREEARTE - BEURUZ ARERE
AEE2REWERESH IR MEEHUT
RESHEERE  RER_FT_—FHER
Eo T —FRESRBEEERAR([F
DR REMBAR (G [A&@])ERBT
REXBZF _EPRFE - AREC KRR
ZHBRRE YRS ZREMANERASZE

g

MBERERIER

As at 31 December

Rt+=-A=+—-8H

2020
—ERTF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET F&ET
Basic loss per share TR EAREE (6.81) cents (9.72) cents
As at 31 December
R+=—B=+—H
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Total assets BEBE 1,173,473 939,918
Equity attributable to the Company’s RARIRIERFE A
equity holders FE(L = 384,639 508,666
Net asset value per share BREEFE
(excluding non-controlling interests) (BRI AR ) 16 cents 22 cents
Cash and bank balances Re RBTESF 267,431 318,681
Current ratio TR R 2.00 2.61
Total liabilities-to-total assets ratio BBEEEELE 0.57 0.33
Price to book ratio mHEX 3.78 2.90

The reduction in cash and bank balances by HK$51,250,000
was mainly due to the net cash used in operating activities of
HK$22,324,000, the net cash used in investing activities of
HK$192,669,000 and the net cash generated from financing
activities of HK$160,798,000.

B & MIRIT4 TR 251,250,000 7t £ ZH R
REREMA 2R S F8 22,324,000 7T« &
BIEE T 2 I 4 %8 192,669,000 7T © LA K
BB EBFTS 2 IREF 5 160,798,000 7T ©
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Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEFEHZIBA

2021 2020
—E-—F TTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Aviation and logistics business Mz MIRER 494,241 510,443
Security, insurance and infrastructure business Z{#® * Rk M EEEK 236,148 80,120
Financial market information business SIS EAERS 14,095 14,480
Others HAth 11,639 203
756,123 605,246

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group reported a BEZZ-—FTA=+—HIEFE  &~5H

consolidated revenue of HK$756,123,000 (2020: HK$605,246,000),
representing an increase of 25% and the Group’s loss for the year
was reduced substantially by HK$71,407,000 from HK$228,586,000
in 2020 to HK$157,179,000 in 2021, which was mainly due to
the improvement in operating result in our aviation, security and
infrastructure business. Also, certain cost cutting measures were in
place during 2021 to further reduce our other operating costs.

The increase in the Group’s revenue was mainly attributable to
the growth in the security, insurance and infrastructure business
segment for the year ended 31 December 2021. It mainly resulted
from revenue generated from the provision of security services for
projects in South-East Asia and Africa.

Overall Performance
Aviation and Logistics Business

The Group’s aviation and logistics business reported a decrease in
revenue of approximately HK$16,202,000, after taking into account
the reduction in revenue of HK$104,364,000 as a result of the
completion of the disposal of the Group’s 51% interests in Maleth
Aero Limited (“Maleth”) in 2020. The reduction in revenue of Maleth
was compensated by the significant growth in revenue by Frontier
Logistics (Shanghai) Company Limited (“SH Logistics”) and
Phoenix Aviation Limited (“PAL").

SH Logistics’s growth in revenue was mainly due to the increase in
provision of integrated logistics with procurement services to those
infrastructural projects in countries in Africa and South East Asia
because of the resumption of the construction works. During 2021,
SH Logistics managed to report a marked reduction in net operating
loss.

Frontier Services Group Limited 5t 22 BR7% = E B R A 7
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &

BEEENWE DN

PALs performance continued to improve during 2021 and its profit
increased significantly. The number of flying hours increased
dramatically and PAL managed to secure fixed and guaranteed
income contracts with some of its major customers. Although
COVID-19 caused certain restrictions on cross border flying, PAL
managed to take advantage of rendering more medical evacuation
or air ambulance services, which generated much more revenue
and profit to the Group. For 2021, PAL was one of the profit-making
subsidiaries within the Group.

One of the Group’s logistics bases located in South Africa, Transit
Freight Forwarding (Pty) Ltd (“TFF”), was loss-making for the past
two years. Its operating performance was greatly affected by cross
border lockdowns, restrictions on supply chains, and the suspension
of production as imposed by South Africa government. Warehousing
capacity of TFF was under-utilised or left idle for certain months
during the year, which resulted in gross loss for those months. This
greatly affected the overall operating result of TFF and its revenue
further decreased during 2021. Although its gross profit margin
slightly improved when compared with last year, its loss for 2021
was increased due to impairment provisions made against some
non-current assets including right-of-use assets of HK$10,342,000,
intangible assets of HK$2,029,000 as well as the derecognition of
deferred tax assets of HK$10,799,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group reported a
revenue of HK$494,241,000 (2020: HK$510,443,000) and an
operating loss of HK$46,704,000 (2020: an operating loss of
HK$52,582,000) from this segment.

Security, Insurance and Infrastructure Business

This segment reported a significant improvement in both revenue
and operating results, in particular, the security and infrastructure
segments.

The Group’s subsidiaries in Africa involved in the provision of
security services in Africa countries reported a growth in revenue
and result because the Group secured security contracts in certain
of the Africa countries. Right now, the Group has rendered security
services to Chinese entities in Africa and South-East Asia.

On insurance business, the Group’s insurance related associated
company reported a share of net profit of HK$3,804,000 (2020:
HK$176,000).

BEMZEZRER T - —F/HENS - HAEN
ARBEIEIN o FRATH BUKIEIE AN - MR EM Z= K
BIBEPIVEERERAGH - BEHL
ERREE BB R ZERE TR - BEMZ
KIhEREBERIE S BREMELZEPRIER
% RAKESREZRARERN - R-_FT——

FREMEAAEESESRMNZMEARZ

— o

A& B E R — AL IE 2 YR & Transit
Freight Forwarding (Pty) Ltd ([ TFF ) i@ 4
AR - HISEXET SN - HIEERH &
RN TE RETE - TFF?%WE\

7

AERETADARERSNAXEE - EHEF

Hfﬁﬁ?%%%}gﬂé ° &t%%%%TFFZW@ SRS

CMEWRAR T —FiE— ;F/W\ B RE
%%\Jfﬂzﬁﬁtmﬁzﬁa&% BEA-_ZT——
ZEBEN  EEARBE TIERDEEEDLR
BRE REFAEEE10,342,00087T « &
FEE 2,029,000 70 + U REUHERELEHIE
&7 10,799,000 7T °

HE-_Z-—F+-_A=+—HILFE ' ~5£H
R D EERGURA 494,241,000 T (T -F
1 510,443, oooﬁém) N & 18 [E5 18 46,704,000
BIL( T T4 - EEE1852,582,000/87T) °

LR REEREZEE

A%ZWA&Miiﬁﬂﬁﬁ%gﬁi =R
ZIRREZEDEL ©

REE AIEMBE IR M % R IR TS 2 FEMFHT B 2 7]
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On infrastructure business, the Group carried out an engineering,
procurement and construction (“EPC”) contract for the construction
of headquarter office building for Air Force of Lao People’s
Democratic Republic (“Laos”). The construction period of this
contract is 2 years. Owing to the pandemic, the commencement
of the construction work was delayed but certain phases of the
construction were completed as of 31 December 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group reported
a revenue of HK$236,148,000 (2020: HK$80,120,000) and an
operating loss of HK$22,553,000 (2020: an operating loss of
HK$79,441,000) from this segment.

Provision for Impairment Loss of Property, Plant and Equipment,
Right-of-Use Assets, Financial Assets and Investment in an
Associated Company classified as Assets Held-for-Sale

As mentioned in the preceding paragraph on TFF, its businesses
were greatly affected by the pandemic in South Africa. The
pandemic caused a lot of unpredictable side effects to South
Africa’s economy, which included change in logistic chain pattern,
reduction in freight rate and other social problems such as increase
in hijacking and robbery. All these resulted in under-utilisation of
warehousing, reduction in profit margins and increase in operational
costs such as diesel costs and insurance premium. As a result,
management of the Group carried out another impairment test over
TFF’s non-current assets in view of the fact that (i) the impact of the
pandemic towards its business operation in South Africa will sustain
for a much longer period than we initially expect; and (ii) the impact
of COVID-19 has yet come to the peak. By reference to the cash
flow projections prepared by management of the Group, impairment
provisions have been set aside against its right-of-use assets and
intangible assets amounting to HK$10,342,000 and HK$2,029,000,
respectively.

Provision for impairment losses was made against non-performing
aircraft amounting to HK$5,389,000 during the year ended 31
December 2021. Such provision was charged against the carrying
amount of one aircraft so as to reflect its recoverable amount as
at 31 December 2021. The respective aircraft was reclassified to
assets held-for-sale as at 31 December 2021 with net carrying
amount of HK$7,133,000, as the Group intended to dispose of it.
The recoverable amount of the aircraft is measured at fair value
less costs of disposal which was determined with reference to price
quotation offered by an independent potential buyer.

Frontier Services Group Limited ¢ £ iz 755 B A R A A
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Owing to the pandemic, certain customers of the Group’s logistics,
aviation and infrastructure businesses were affected, which resulted
in higher credit risks being encountered by the Group. For the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Group set aside impairment provision
of HK$30,866,000 against trade and other receivables.

In 2020, the Group made an impairment provision of HK$8,693,000
against its 47% equity interests in an associated company called
Xinyang Liliang Security Consulting Company Limited (“ISDC”) by
reference to the agreed selling price of RMB8,500,000 (equivalent to
HK$10,396,000) as stated in an equity repurchase agreement dated
8 December 2020 (the “ISDC Agreement”) entered into between
the Group and one of the existing equity holder of ISDC (the “ISDC
Buyer”). As at 31 December 2020, the Group has reclassified its
equity interests in ISDC as well as the loan to ISDC as assets held-
for-sale. During the year, the ISDC Buyer did not fulfill its obligations
and responsibilities. Further impairment provision of HK$10,396,000
was set aside by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.
The Group has engaged a lawyer in China to file a claim on those
losses suffered by the Group against the ISDC Buyer. Subsequent
to 31 December 2021, the claim against the ISDC Buyer has been
handled by the court in China but no final decision has been made
by the court.

PROSPECTS

Almost two years since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, the
global economy started to rebound in 2021. Unfortunately, the
rebound seems to be uneven across countries and industries
because many countries and industries are still being affected
by the resurgences of the pandemic. Although more and more
people are being vaccinated, restrictions on travelling, lockdowns
and social distancing are still in place. The carrying out of normal
business activities that we can have prior to the outbreak of the
COVID-19 pandemic are still being restricted or constrained.
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COVID-19 related uncertainties remained throughout 2021. During
2021, the Group stayed focus on its core business development
including securing more sizeable security projects overseas, the
launching of EPC contract with a government body in Laos, the
successful transformation of our Kenya based aviation arm from
initially just concentrating on VIP chartering into air ambulance and
medevac operator as well as the growth in business volume of our
logistic arm in Shanghai, China.

Together with those synergies brought in through the acquisition of
100% interests in DeWe Security Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands, and its subsidiaries (the “Acquisition”) and
the recent appointment of new Group CEQO, the Group’s commitment
and determination towards security business has become more
obvious. In the coming future, the Group will continuously build its
security profile by making good use of the Acquisition and the new
CEQO’s experience and expertise in the security industry. Winning
more sizeable projects both locally and overseas are expected
because of our solid credentials and expertise knowledge in the
security industry.

With overseas projects start to resume, the Group can take
advantage of those footprints that it has already built and can further
consolidate those resources and security force to penetrate more
into those markets that we have not stepped in.

Demands for immediate medical support will keep on growing. With
the healthcare sector being acquired through the Acquisition, the
Group can take advantage of this synergy during the COVID-19
pandemic in Hong Kong and overseas. Together with our strong
associations with United Nations and other global organisations, our
aviation segment will continue to grow and is expected to generate
a relatively stable income to the Group.

At present, most of the industries are still struggling and the outlook
is subject to considerable uncertainty. Nevertheless, the Group still
believes that there are business opportunities for us to grasp. Our
recent success in Laos will enable the Group to have security and
infrastructure footprints there. We believe that the Group will have
much more successful cases to deliver in the years to come.

At the same time, management of the Group will continue to
closely monitor the Group’s business development, implement any
necessary measures and adapt to any required changes whenever
necessary to tackle any difficulties during the COVID-19 pandemic.
With greater population size being vaccinated and effective controls
to prevent any serious outbreaks of the virus, it is expected that
those being infected can be substantially reduced. Although
setbacks and uncertainties are still surrounding us, we remain
confident that the Group can attain more vigorous growth in terms of
revenue and operating performance in the near future.
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The Group believes that with the continued support from
shareholders and financial creditors together with our firm
commitment towards our mission and vision, the new management
team, and the continued implementation of certain cost-saving
measures, the Group will become stronger and thrive in these
challenging times.

EMPLOYEES

The Group has developed its human resources policies and
procedures based on performance and merit. The Group ensures
that the pay level of its employees is competitive and employees
are rewarded on a performance-related basis within the general
framework of the Group’s salary and bonus systems. The Group
provides on-the-job training to its employees in addition to retirement
benefit schemes and medical insurance. Employees are offered
discretionary year-end bonus based on individual merit.

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible directors and employees
of the Group to recognise their contribution to the success of the
Group. The Company has not granted any share options under its
share option scheme during the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: Nil).

The Company also operates a share award scheme to recognise the
contributions by certain employees and persons to the Group and to
provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group. The Company has
not granted any share under its share award scheme during the year
ended 31 December 2021. (2020: Nil).

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 December
2021 was 1,837 (2020: 1,125).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2021, the Group recorded total assets of
HK$1,173,473,000 (2020: HK$939,918,000) which were financed
by liabilities of HK$668,323,000 (2020: HK$313,234,000), non-
controlling interests of HK$120,511,000 (2020: HK$118,018,000) and
shareholders’ equity of HK$384,639,000 (2020: HK$508,666,000).
The Group’s net asset value per share (excluding non-controlling
interests) as at 31 December 2021 amounted to HK$0.16 (2020:
HK$0.22) per share.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s available cash and bank
balances were HK$267,431,000 (2020: HK$318,681,000) with a
total borrowings of HK$194,279,000 (2020: HK$18,443,000). The
Group’s total borrowings mainly represented bank loans amounting
to HK$21,439,000 (2020: HK$18,443,000) and convertible bonds
amounting to HK$172,840,000 (2020: Nil). As at 31 December 2021,
the Group’s borrowings were mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), Renminibi (‘RMB”) and South Africa Rand (“ZAR”).
The repayment terms of the Group’s borrowings are ranging from 1
to 4 years (31 December 2020: 1 to 4 years). The Group, therefore,
managed to maintain a surplus net cash and bank position as at 31
December 2021 and 2020.
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As at 31 December 2021, the gearing ratio (ratio of the sum of RZEZ—F+-A=+—H ' EXBELX
total borrowings excluding lease liabilities to the total assets) was (B (TeiRlEaf) BEERA LX)
approximately 16.6% (2020: 2.0%). HE16.6% (ZZT_FF : 2.0%) °

In May 2018, net proceeds of HK$830,567,000 were raised through B ARRBRAZE - N\NFREAZBZBEBR

a subscription of shares under general mandate, as detailed in the ([ZBERDFEE RZZE—A\FHA  &Q
Company’s circular dated 2 May 2018 (the “Circular”). Subsequent AIRE—MEERERNDMESMSRIBFH
to the subscription and the Company’'s announcement dated 24 830,567,000 7T - RREEBEE ARG R
March 2020 in relation to the change of intended use of proceeds ECEF AT HEARERRESTEABERK
from the subscription, the intended use of net proceeds and actual HEBETRAREL A SR HEE-T-—F+=A
usage up to 31 December 2021 are set out below: = +—HASREFEZ2BTEARRERARE
PR
Intended
use of net
proceeds Actual
Intended after the use of net Unutilised
use of net change Unutilised proceeds net proceeds
proceeds set announced net proceeds upto as at
out in the on 24 March as at 31 December 31 December
Circular 2020 1 January 2021 2021 2021
R-8-%% EZ
ZRAME ZA=TER RZ%=-% i b 3 R=B=-%
fiERE MiEB&Z -f-B  tZR=t-8  fZR=t-H
FE FERETE ZRBA ZFERE ZRBA
¥ RERR fERERE  FE ERAZ fERERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tt T T T
Setting up businesses in Myanmar, Laos and kg #RRRERRUER
Cambodia 130,000 130,000 64,075 114,270 15,730
Setting up businesses in Pakistan and Xinjiang, EEERARERERER
China 120,800 20,800 7720 20,800 -
Expansion of businesses in Africa and Middle Fast &M RhEEE L% 70,767 170,767 25,807 170,767 -
General working capital for the Group's existing TEEREER - REEES
business 288,000 288,000 - 288,000 -
Working capital for establishment of new offices H-E-RHERINHER LE
along Belt and Road regions 2 41,000 41,000 - 41,000 -
Repayment of the Group's indebtedness EETEEER 180,000 180,000 - 180,000 -
Total 4 830,567 830,567 97,602 814,837 15,730
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The outbreak of COVID-19 has affected and disrupted certain
business activities of the Group. The intended use of the unutilised
net proceeds are expected to be fully utilised by 30 June 2022.
The expected timeline for the intended use of the unutilised net
proceeds, which is subject to further adjustments if required, is
based on the best estimation of the Company taking into account,
among others, the prevailing and future market conditions and
business developments and needs.

On 22 October 2021, the Company completed the issuance
of convertible bonds with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$210,000,000 to five different subscribers, which are convertible
into 210,000,000 shares of the Company at a conversion price of
HK$1.00 per share upon full conversion. Pursuant to the terms of
the convertible bonds, they bear interest at a coupon rate of 2.5%
per annum and are due for repayment on 21 October 2023. Interest
attached to the convertible bonds are payable to the bond holders
on the maturity date. The Company has the rights to extend the
maturity date of the convertible bonds for an additional one year
pursuant to the terms of the convertible bonds. Further details in
relation to the issuance of convertible bonds were set out in Note
26(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

The aggregate amount of the net proceeds received from the
convertible bonds have been applied as to HK$150,000,000 for the
settlement of the remaining consideration of the Acquisition and as
to HK$60,000,000 as the Group’s general working capital. Up to 31
December 2021, HK$150,000,000 and HK$5,000,000 were utilised
for settlement of remaining consideration of the Acquisition and for
the Group’s general working capital, respectively. The remaining
unutilised portion of the net proceeds from the convertible bonds
are expected to be utilised according to the intended use by 31
December 2022.

Treasury Policies

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies and has tight
controls over its cash management. The Group’s cash and bank
balances are held mainly in HK$, RMB, United States dollars (“US$”)
and Kenyan Shillings (“KES”). Other than the bank deposits pledged
for the Group’s bank borrowings, surplus cash is generally placed
on term deposits and investments depending on the Group’s funding
requirements.
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Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and Related Hedges

The Group currently operates mainly in Africa, South East Asia,
Europe and Mainland China including Hong Kong.

For operations in Africa, most of the transactions are denominated
in US$, KES and ZAR. The exchange rates of KES and ZAR against
HK$ have decreased by 2.9% and decreased by 7.4% respectively
during the year ended 31 December 2021. No financial instrument
was used for hedging purposes for the year due to the prohibitive
cost of available hedging opportunities. The Group is closely
monitoring the currency exchange risk of KES and ZAR and will
consider the use of financial instrument for hedging purposes, if
necessary.

For operations in South East Asia, majority of the transactions are
denominated in US$ while only some of the operating expenses
are denominated in the respective local currency such as Burmese
Kyat (“MMK”), Cambodian Riel (*“KHR”), Bangladeshi Taka (“BDT")
and Lao Kip (“LAK”). The Group manages its currency exchange
risk of the above currencies by closely monitoring the fluctuation in
exchange rates on MMK, KHR, BDT and LAK.

For operations in Mainland China, most of the transactions are
denominated in RMB. The conversion of RMB into foreign currencies
is subject to the rules and regulations of the foreign exchange
controls promulgated by the Chinese government. No financial
instrument was used for hedging purposes for the year. The Group is
closely monitoring the currency exchange risk of RMB and is looking
for any opportunities to mitigate the currency exchange risk of RMB.

For operations in Hong Kong, most of the transactions are
denominated in HK$ and US$. The exchange rate of US$ against
HKS$ is relatively stable, and the related currency exchange risk is
considered minimal.
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Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Associates

Acquisition of 100% equity interests in DeWe Security Limited
(“DeWe Security”)

On 22 October 2021, the Group completed the Acquisition from
DeWe Security Limited (61%) and South Pacific Resources
Investment Limited (39%), both companies are beneficially owned
by Mr. Li Xiaopeng at a consideration of HK$500,000,000. The
initial consideration for the Acquisition is in the form of cash of
HK$200,000,000 (the “Initial Consideration”) and the remaining is
in the form of shares as deferred consideration of HK$300,000,000,
which is payable by three instalments at an issue price of HK$1.30
per share after the achievement of the targeted profit by the
targeted group attached to the Acquisition (the “Targeted Group”)
for the next three consecutive relevant period or year. The principal
businesses of the Targeted Group are the provision of security and
guarding services and healthcare and rescue services in Hong
Kong and overseas. The Acquisition will significantly improve the
Group’s security business in Hong Kong with a steady source of
income and cash inflow. Also, the Acquisition of the healthcare and
rescue services represented a unique opportunity for the Group to
expand its foothold in the medical and healthcare sector. The Initial
Consideration for the Acquisition was satisfied as to HK$50,000,000
by the Group’s internal resources and as to the remaining
consideration of HK$150,000,000 by the proceeds from the issuance
of convertible bonds. Further details in relation to the Acquisition
and the issuance of convertible bonds were set out in the Company'’s
announcements dated 23 September 2021 and 8 October 2021
as well as in Notes 26(b) and 34(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associates during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

Charges on Assets

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had certain trade receivables
of HK$27,526,000 (2020: HK$34,012,000) were pledged to banks as
securities for banking facilities.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets and Capital
Expenditure Commitments
As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any concrete

future plans for material investments or capital assets and material
capital expenditure commitments.
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However, the Group always seeks for new investment opportunities
in order to broaden the revenue base, improve the Group’s
profitability and enhance shareholders’ value in long term.

Contingent Liabilities

Save as disclosed under the heading “Charges on Assets”, the
Group does not have material contingent liability as at 31 December
2021.

Subsequent Events

Due to the fifth wave of outbreak of COVID-19 in Hong Kong since
early 2022, the relevant precautionary and control measures have
become stringent. Management expected the resumption of its
cross-border healthcare business as planned would delay and
its business in Hong Kong might be subject to a certain extent of
disruption. This would result in deterioration in the performance of
business held by certain subsidiaries in Hong Kong, in particular,
the cross-border healthcare business of the Group. In preparing
these consolidated financial statements, the Group tested goodwill
for impairment and the recoverable amount of the relevant CGUs
exceeded its carrying amount, thus no provision for impairment was
made in relation to those subsidiaries in Hong Kong. In performing
this assessment, the Group estimated the present value of future
cash flows of the CGUs based on the conditions as at 31 December
2021. In the goodwill impairment test to be performed in 2022,
COVID-19 outbreak and its impact on the present value of estimated
future cash flows of the CGUs will be considered. Up to the date
on which these consolidated financial statements were authorised
for issue, the Group is still in the process of assessing the impacts
of the COVID-19 on the performance of the relevant CGUs and is
currently unable to estimate the quantitative impacts to the Group.
Management will closely and continuously monitor the situation and
assess the financial impact to the Group.

On 20 January 2022, Mr. Li Xiaopeng (“Mr. Li") was appointed as
an executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company.
On the same date, 23,400,000 share options were granted to Mr. Li,
details of which were disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 20 January 2022.

Except for as disclosed above, there are no material subsequent
events undertaken by the Company or by the Group after 31
December 2021 and up to the date of this annual report.
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INTRODUCTION

Frontier Services Group Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries as the “Group”) is firmly committed to the overall
standards of corporate governance and has always recognised
the importance of accountability, transparency and protection of
shareholders’ interest in general. The Company has adopted the
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its own corporate
governance policy, subject to amendments from time to time.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CG CODE

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board of
Directors (the “Board”) of the Company has reviewed the Group’s
corporate governance practices and is satisfied that the Company
has complied with the code provisions of the CG Code from time to
time.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

At the date of this annual report, the Board of the Company
comprises 12 directors, including 5 non-executive directors (Mr.
Chang Zhenming (Chairman), Mr. Fei Yiping, Mr. Chan Kai Kong,
Mr. Dorian Barak and Mr. Zhang Yukuan), 3 executive directors
(Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson (Deputy Chairman) Mr. Luo Ning
(Deputy Chairman, Mr. Li Xiopeng (Chief Executive Officer), and 4
independent non-executive directors (Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry, Mr.
Cui Liguo, Mr. Hooi Hing Lee and Dr. Chan Wing Mui, Helen).

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
separate and are exercised by different individuals. One of the
independent non-executive directors is a professional accountant,
which is in compliance with the requirement of the Listing Rules.
There are also 4 board committees under the Board, which are the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Risk Committee.

The key responsibilities of the Board include, among other things,
formulating the Group’s overall strategies, setting management
targets, regulating and reviewing internal controls, formulating the
Company’s corporate governance policy, supervising management’s
performance while the day-to-day operations and management of
the Group are delegated by the Board to management, and ensuring
adequacy of resources, qualifications, experience and training
programs and budget of the financial staff.
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In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the directors for the time being
or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation,
provided that every director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years.

Each of the independent non-executive directors and the non-
executive directors are appointed for a specific term and are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s
annual general meeting in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws
and the Listing Rules. To determine the non-executive directors’
independence, assessments are carried out upon appointment,
annually and at any other time where the circumstances warrant
reconsideration by the Nomination Committee. The Company has
received from each of the independent non-executive directors an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Board determined that all the independent non-
executive directors meet the requirements for independence as set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Every newly appointed director will be given an induction so as to
ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the Group’s
business and of his/her duties and responsibilities under the Listing
Rules and the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements.
The directors may request the Company to provide independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense to discharge his/her
duties to the Company. Directors’ training is an ongoing process.
During the year, the Company had provided to the directors regular
updates and presentations on changes and developments to the
Group’s business and to the legislative regulatory environments
in which the Group operates. All directors are also encouraged
to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expense. All
directors are required to provide the Company with their record of
training they received during the year ended 31 December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board has
reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management. The Board has
also reviewed and ensured compliance of the relevant legal and
regulatory requirements, the code of conducts, the CG Code and
the disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements and ensuring that the financial statements are
prepared as to give a true and fair view and on a going concern
basis in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable
financial reporting standards.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises 3 independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry (Chairman),
Mr. Cui Liguo and Mr. Hooi Hing Lee. Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry is a
chartered accountant in England and Wales and is a fellow member
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and
an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are in line with the
Code and are posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee
is required, among other things, to oversee the relationship with
the independent auditor, to review the Group’s interim and annual
consolidated financial statements, to monitor compliance with
statutory and listing requirements, to ensure adequacy of resources,
qualifications, experience and training programs and budget of the
financial staff, and to engage independent legal or other advisers if
necessary to perform investigations, and to review the scope, extent
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control system, and to review the Group’s financial and accounting
policies.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee,
among other matters, reviewed reports from and met with the
independent auditor regarding the audit on annual consolidated
financial statements and discussed the risk management and
internal control of the Group. The Audit Committee also reviewed
the scope, extent and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems. Further information is disclosed in the
section titled “RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL".

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises 4 directors, namely
Cui Liguo (Chairman), Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson, Mr. Yap Fat
Suan, Henry, and Mr. Hooi Hing Lee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been
determined with reference to the CG Code and are posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Under its terms
of reference, the Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying
potential directors and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors of the Company. Potential
new directors are selected on the basis of their qualifications, skills
and experience which the Nomination Committee considers will
make a positive contribution to the performance of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee is also responsible for the review of the
Board’s diversity policy, considering factors including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service
of board members, and review the measurable objectives that the
Board has set for implementing the Board’s diversity policy, and
monitor the progress on achieving the measurable objectives.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises 4 directors,
namely Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry (Chairman), Mr. Ko Chun Shun,
Johnson, Cui Liguo and Mr. Hooi Hing Lee. The Remuneration
Committee meets for the determination of the remuneration
packages of Directors and senior management of the Group. In
addition, the Remuneration Committee also meets as and when
required to consider remuneration related matters such as making
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s policy and structure
for the remuneration of Directors and senior management.

Under its term of reference, the Remuneration Committee assists
the Board in achieving its objective of attracting, retaining and
motivating people of the highest caliber and experience needed to
shape and execute strategies across the Group’s operations. The
Committee also assists the Group in the administration of the fair
and transparent procedure for setting policies on the remuneration
of Directors and senior management of the Group. The written terms
of reference are posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
determined with reference to the CG Code. Under the terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee, the responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee include, inter alia, assisting the Company
in the administration of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policies, making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
directors and senior management, and ensuring that no director
or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the work performed by
the Remuneration Committee includes, inter alia, the review of the
Group’s remuneration policy for its executive directors and senior
management and their levels of remuneration.
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Risk Committee

The Risk Committee currently comprises 3 directors, namely Mr. Yap
Fat Suan, Henry, Mr. Cui Liguo and Mr. Hooi Hing Lee.

Under the terms of reference, the Risk Committee is required,
among other things, to assist and advise the Board in fulfilling its
oversight responsibilities with regard to the Group’s risk appetite,
risk principles and other risk-related issues including corporate
actions and sanction risks management, etc., to consider major
investigation findings on risk management matters as delegated by
the Board or on its own initiative and management response to these
findings, to approve the Group’s risk policies and risk tolerances, to
oversee and advise the Board on the current risk exposures of the
Group and advise on the Group’s future risk strategy, to consider
emerging risks relating to the Group’s business and strategies to
ensure that appropriate arrangements are in place to control and
mitigate the risks effectively, to review risk reports and breaches of
risk tolerances and policies, to review and assess the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk control/mitigation tools including, but not limited
to, the enterprise risk management programme, the sanctions risks
management systems, and the Group’s contingency plans, and to
take charge of the internal control measures and to ensure that they
are in place in order to minimise the Group’s exposure to sanction
risks and ensure that the Group has not been involved in any
incidents of non-compliance of sanction laws and regulations.

Discussions of risks are further detailed on pages 69 to 71 under
section headed “Principal Risks and Uncertainties”.

BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Company sets out below the nomination procedures and the
process and criteria contained in the Nomination Policy adopted by
the Board in March 2019.

Nomination Procedures and Process

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate.
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The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of
the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of candidates
from members of the Board if any, for consideration by the
Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. The Nomination
Committee may also put forward candidates who are not nominated
by members of the Board.

For filling a casual vacancy or appointing an additional
member to the Board, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval.

For proposing candidates to stand for election at a general
meeting, the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to
the Board for its consideration and recommendation.

A circular will be sent to the shareholders of the Company
to provide them with the name, brief biography, proposed
remuneration, (where an independent non-executive Director
is to be nominated) independency and other information of the
proposing candidate in accordance with the requirements of
the applicable laws, rules and regulations including those of
the Listing Rules.

A shareholder can serve a written notice to the Company
for the attention of the Company Secretary of his or her
intention to propose a certain person for election as a Director.
This written notice, together with (i) the information of the
candidate as required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2)
of the Listing Rules and such other information as may be
considered relevant to his or her proposed election; and (ii)
the written consent by that person to the publication of his or
her personal data provided pursuant to (i) immediately above,
by the Company in its corporation communication documents
in compliance with the Listing Rules or as may be required by
the Stock Exchange at the principal place of business in Hong
Kong of the Company for a period of no earlier than the day
after the despatch of the notice of the meeting and ending no
later than 7 days prior to the date of the general meeting.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at
any general meeting.
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Criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee

Business experience: The candidate should have significant
experience from a senior role in an area of business, public
affairs or academia, relevant to the Company. Awareness of
the Group’s focusing industry would be an advantage but not
a requirement in all cases.

Public board experience: The candidate should have relevant
expertise and experience earned as a Board member of a
reputable listed company or from a senior position in his or her
industry, public affairs or academia.

Diversity: The candidate should contribute to the Board
being a diverse body, with diversity reflecting gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, qualifications, skills and length of service. Given
the current composition of the Board, a female candidate
would be an advantage but not a requirement.

Standing: The candidate should be of the highest ethical
character and have a strong reputation and standing, both
personally and professionally, in his or her fields.

Time commitment: Each Board member must have sufficient
time available for the proper performance of his or her duties.
Directors should be sufficiently free of other commitments to
be able to devote the time needed to prepare for meetings
and participate in induction, training, appraisal and other
Board associated activities.

Independence: For the candidate who is proposed as an
independent non-executive director, he or she must satisfy all
the independence requirements as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. He or she must always be aware of threats to his
or her independency and avoid any conflict of interest with the
Company. He or she must be able to represent and act in the
best interest of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. To ensure that the existing policy continues to be
implemented smoothly in practice, the Company shall undertake
regular reviews and reassess this policy having regard to the
regulatory requirements, good corporate governance practice and
the expectations of the Shareholders and other stakeholders of the
Company. The Company will propose amendments to the Board for
approval.

Having reviewed the Diversity Policy (as defined below), the
nomination policy and the Board’s composition, the Nomination
Committee is satisfied that the requirements set out in the Diversity
Policy had been met.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board had adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
The Company considered diversity of board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
All board appointments are based on merit and contribution, and
candidates are considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Nomination
Committee reviews the Diversity Policy on a regular basis and
discusses any revisions that may be required, and recommends any
such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT MEETINGS

The attendance records of each director at the various meetings of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out
as below:

EEEZTLEE

EFEERMEEFEZLEBR( SRl
BER])  ZBEBIEBREESZ T2t -
ARRZREEFEREZTLE @2 BZEH
i BRERETRARMER  Fik - XERHFES
= BELR KB MRERBEE - LER
EExgRBEZTl  MEEESZERBEVENR
BR BREBGAEEEEA  UREEZESE
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HE - AwmedREEAER]  YAEESEH
EAZEFER] - WHEFESERRIE -
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BE-_ZT-—F+-_A=+—HItEE KEZ
HEARRARS NG HZDEETNT

Attended/Eligible to Attend

BiHE/AERLRE
Annual Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination Risk
general Board committee committee committee committee
meeting meetings meetings meetings meetings meeting
&Y g EnZEE HMzEE REZEE RERZEE
BEAE a3 a3 e a3 g3
Number of meetings SRENE 1 9 3 3 4 1
Non-Executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. Chang Zhenming BRELE 1 8/9 nfa TiEA nfa TiEA nfa TiEA nla TiEfA
Mr. Fei Yiping BlaTi4 1 8/9 nfa TEA nfa TEA nfa TER nfa TER
Mr. Chan Kai Kong BEREE (R -FE-—F
(appointed on 28 February 2021) ZH=1/|FEEF) 1 8/8 nfa MEHR nfa MEMR nfa MER nfa MR
Mr. Dorian Barak Dorian Barak 74 (£
(appointed on 19 April 2021) ZE--FNHTARES
) 1 414 nfa TiEA nfa TEA nfa TEA nfa TEA
Mr. Zhang Yukuan REERAE(R-F-—F
(appointed on 21 October 2021) +H-+—HEZIE) nja TiEA nja TEA nfa TiEA nfa TEA nla TEA nla TiEfA
Executive Directors HTEE
Mr. Ko Chun Shun Johnson BREIELE 1 99 nfa N E 33 414 nja TiEA
Mr. Luo Ning FERA 1 9/9 nfa MER nfa MER nfa TER nfa MER
Dr. Hua Dongyi ER-BL (R -F--% nla TR
(resigned on 10 March 2021) ZH+AEF) 202 nfa ~EA nfa NEA nfa TEA nfa MEA
Mr. Erik D.Prince Erik D. Prince B4 (X=F=— na TR
(resigned on 13 April 2021) FRFT=AFR) 114 nfa T M 0/t 0/2 nfa T
Independent Non-Executive Directors ~ BU##775%
Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry Eupns 1 99 303 303 4/4 1
Mr. Cui Liguo ERFERE 1 99 3/3 3/3 4/4 il
Mr. Hooi Hing Lee STEAEE 1 9/9 2/2 n n n
Dr. Chan Wing Mui, Helen Rkt (R-F-—F
(appointed on 21 October 2021) +H=+—BEZH) nfa TEfA nfa TEfA nja TEfA nfa TEfA nja TEfA nfa TEfA
Dr. Harold O. Demuren Harold 0. Demuren £ (K=
(retired on 15 May 2021) E-—FRF1AAEF) nfa TEfA 5/6 il 02 03 nfa TR
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules to regulate the directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry by the
Company, all directors have confirmed that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code regarding directors’
securities transactions throughout the year ended 31 December

2021.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. During
the year ended 31 December 2021, all directors have participated in

continuous professional development as shown below:

Executive Directors
Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson Reading relevant materials in relation

to listing rules update and corporate

governance

Mr. Luo Ning Reading relevant materials in relation

to listing rules update and corporate

governance

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chang Zhenming Reading relevant materials in relation

to listing rules update and corporate

governance

Mr. Fei Yiping Reading relevant materials in relation

to listing rules update and corporate

governance

Mr. Chan Kai Kong Reading relevant materials in relation

to listing rules update and corporate

governance

Mr. Dorian Barak Reading relevant materials in relation

to listing rules update and corporate

governance

Mr. Zhang Yukuan Reading relevant materials in relation

to listing rules update and corporate

governance
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry Reading relevant materials in relation
to listing rules update and corporate
governance

Reading relevant materials in relation
to listing rules update and corporate
governance

Reading relevant materials in relation
to listing rules update and corporate
governance

Reading relevant materials in relation
to listing rules update and corporate
governance

Mr. Cui Liguo

Mr. Hooi Hing Lee

Dr. Chan Wing Mui, Helen

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers as its statutory
auditor for the year ended 31 December 2021. The statement by the
independent auditor of the Company and the Group regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Company
and the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on
pages 84 to 94 of this annual report.

The remuneration in respect of services provided by
PricewaterhouseCoopers to the Group in 2021 is summarised as
follows:

¢

BYKAGTEE

EHE BIEA L TRBIS A
REEAZABER

EFIE A BIEA L TRRIS A
REEAZABER

SRR BIMEA L TRRIR A
ROEEAZABER

B ki £ BIEA L TR RIS A
ROEEEZABER

BE A€

HE-_Z-—F+-RA=+—RHIFE  FxR2H
RIBERRCE SN EIEA AEEE BN
RRRRANEE 2 BIZBENR K FH AR A
RASEEMEHRRZ FRETERAFERRNFRE
84 BE 94 B 2 B BN E

R-BZ—% ERERBCEGTENEBARA
AEEEHRE 2 MESBAnT

HK$000

T

Audit services BN 3,037
Non-audit services EEZRY

Fee for acquisition completion review services WHEEETXNBEZRE 2 ER 1,163

4,200

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company does not engage an external service provider as
its Company Secretary. Mr. Chan Kam Kwan, Jason, being the
Company Secretary of the Company, has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
December 2021.

AAME
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Responsibilities

The Board has the overall responsibility for setting forth proper risk
management culture and risk appetite for the Group, evaluating and
determining the level of risk that the Group should take and monitor
regularly, and demonstrating openness, integrity and accountability
to stakeholders in the decision-making process. The Board, through
the Audit Committee and the Risk Committee, has also devoted to
maintain sound and effective risk management and internal control
systems in order to safeguard shareholders’ interest and protect the
Company’s assets, to achieve business objectives and to ensure
compliance with relevant legislation and regulations. The Board is
also committed to oversee and review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems on an ongoing basis.

The Group’s management continues to allocate resources for the
design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems. The Group established the risk
management and internal control systems with aims to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatements or losses caused by judgment in
decision making process, human error, fraud or other irregularities.

Internal Audit Function

During the year, the Company has engaged an external consultant
to facilitate the Group in maintaining an internal audit function. With
reference to the scope and duties and responsibilities as stipulated
in the Internal Audit Manual of the Group, the external consultant
has carried out the review under the reporting protocol of the Group.
The external consultant has assisted the Audit Committee and
the Risk Committee in carrying out an independent review of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company, and has assisted management
of the Company in reporting the status of its review to the Audit
Committee on an annual basis.

Risk Management and Control Framework

Risk Management Policy has been established and reviewed
annually to set forth the risk management framework and to maintain
a consistent basis for the identification, analysis, evaluation,
treatment, monitoring and reporting of risks at all levels across the
Group to support the achievement of the Group’s overall strategic
objectives.
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The Group has adopted the enterprise risk management framework,
which involves identifying risks and opportunities that are relevant
to the Group’s objectives and organisational structure, evaluating
those using appropriate qualitative and quantitative techniques,
and formulating risk management plans that are consistent with the
Group’s risk appetite. The Group has chosen both top-down and
bottom-up approaches in relation to risk management and internal
control. It involves collating and appraising bottom-up input from the
management of business segments, and senior management of the
Group, with refinements and adjustments through top-down input
from the Board in an iterative manner.

The Group has also carried out an annual risk assessment for the
year to identify respective strategic risks, operational risks, financial
risks and compliance risks of its major business segments. Based
on the result of the risk assessment and following a risk-based audit
approach, the Company has devised a three-year audit plan that
prioritised the significance of the risks identified into annual audit
project with a view to assisting the Board, the Audit Committee and
the Risk Committee in assessing the efficiency of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

Annual Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

During the year, the Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed
and evaluated the risk assessment report presented by the
management, reviewed and discussed the internal control review
report according to the approved three-year audit plan submitted by
the external consultant. Based on the reviews, the Board considered
that (i) the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
were effective and adequate; and (ii) the Group had complied
satisfactorily with the requirements of the CG Code in respect of risk
management and internal control systems for the year.

Procedures and Internal Controls for Handling and Dissemination
of Inside Information

The Company maintains a framework for handling and dissemination
of inside information for compliance with “Part XIVA — Disclosure
of Inside Information” of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.
The framework set forth the procedures and internal controls for
the purpose of maintaining inside information in a private and
confidential manner until such information is disclosed properly. The
procedures and internal controls include identification, collection,
maintenance and reporting of inside information.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
RIGHTS

The Board recognises the importance of effective communication
with the shareholders and investors. The Company communicates
with the shareholders and investors through various channels
including investors’ conferences, TV interviews, press releases, and
publication of interim and annual reports, announcements, circulars
and other corporate communications and publications available on
the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the
Company.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
direct communication between the Board and the shareholders.
The Company encourages the participation of the shareholders
through annual general meetings and other general meetings where
the shareholders meet and exchange views with the Board, and to
exercise their right to vote at meetings. The Company shall arrange
notices of meetings and circulars containing details on proposed
resolutions to be sent to the shareholders. At general meetings,
separate resolutions are proposed on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual directors.

The Board always ensures that shareholders’ and investors’ views
are heard and understood, and welcomes their questions and
concerns relating to the Group’s management and governance. The
Company’s website provides email address and telephone number
to enable the shareholders to make any enquiries and concerns to
the Board. Shareholders may also at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board by addressing to the Chief Executive
Officer by post or by email. The contact details are set out in the
Corporate Information section of this annual report.

Subject to Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the
“Act”) and Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws of the Company, shareholders
holding in aggregate not less than 10% of the paid-up capital of the
Company have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company, to request a special general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition, and such meeting shall be held within
three months after the deposit of such requisition. Any number of
shareholders representing not less than 5% of the total voting rights
of the Company on the date of the requisition or not less than 100
shareholders of the Company are entitled to put forward a proposal
for consideration at a general meeting of the Company. Shareholders
should follow the requirements and procedures as set out in Section
79 of the Act for putting forward such proposal at a general meeting.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTION DOCUMENTS

There were no material changes in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

This is the sixth Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
Report (the “ESG Report” or “Report”) of Frontier Services Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”). The Report summarises the ESG performance of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year”).

The Report covers the key operations of the Group, including
logistics and aviation. The Report is compiled in accordance with
the ESG Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) under
Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

While promoting the growth of our business, the board of directors
(the “Board”) of the Company recognises the importance of
integrating the concept of sustainability into the business operations
and create long-term value for all stakeholders.

In order to incorporating sustainable development into the business
operations, the Group has established a top-down ESG management
framework with well-defined duties and responsibilities which
assists the Board to oversee and monitor the ESG performance of
the Group. The Board has delegated ESG-related responsibilities
to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is responsible for
evaluating and determining our ESG related risks, and ensuring
that appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal
control systems are in place. Furthermore, the Board and the
Audit Committee have delegated the day-to-day management
responsibility of ESG-related issues to the senior management.
In accordance with the direction from the Board and the Audit
Committee, the senior management carries out ESG-related
work, including conducting material assessment, developing and
implementing ESG management policies, preparing ESG report, etc.

The ESG-related goals and targets are set by the senior management
and are reviewed and adjusted by the Audit Committee. Meetings
between the Audit Committee and the senior management are
hosted regularly to understand and discuss the progress made
towards achieving the goals and targets and reviewing the overall
ESG performance of the Group. The Audit Committee will report the
overall ESG performance of the Group to the Board annually.

Looking forward, with the assistance of the Audit Committee and
the senior management, the Board is dedicated to strengthen the
ESG management system to further enhance the Group’s ESG
performance, thereby creating sustainable value for stakeholders
while pursuing business development.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The Group has applied the principles of “Materiality”, “Quantitative”,
“Balance”and “Consistency” in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide in the preparation of the ESG Report. Details of application of
these reporting principles are illustrated below:

Materiality: The Group has engaged stakeholders in the process
of identifying, prioritising and determining important ESG issues
that reflect the Group’s significant impacts on the economy,
environment and society. More details can be found in the
section “"STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT” and “MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT”.

Quantitative: The Group has disclosed information on the standards,
methodologies, assumptions and calculation tools used, and source
of conversion factors used when presenting the environmental and
social key performance indicators (“KPls”).

Balance: The Group has prepared this Report in a truthful and
accurate manner and strives to present a fair disclosures in all
aspects of the Group’s ESG performance.

Consistency: To facilitate the comparison of ESG performance
between years, the Group has adopted consistent reporting and
calculation methodologies, and stated any changes in the relevant
sections.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

The Group analyses and monitors the regulatory frameworks
applicable to the Group and prepares and updates internal policies,
including Environmental Policy, whenever necessary. The Board
oversees the Group’s management and internal controls on an
ongoing basis. The Group keeps abreast of the latest regulatory
developments and provide relevant trainings for relevant personnel.
In addition to preventive measures, the Group also ensures there
are monitoring and measures to enable regulatory compliance. With
these mechanisms, the Group is not aware of any material non-
compliance with relevant local laws and regulations related to areas
such as environmental protection, employment and labour practices
and operating practices during the year.
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REPORTING BOUNDARY

The Group are principally engaged in the provision aviation,
logistics, security, insurance and infrastructure related services, and
the provision of online financial market information. In recent years,
although shift has been made to security segment, the Group’s
aviation and logistic business remains the main contributor of the
Group’s revenue. Therefore, unless otherwise stated, this Report
focuses on the operations of Transit Freight Forwarding (Pty) Ltd
(“TFF”) a South African based warehouse and logistics company
and Phoenix Aviation Limited (“PAL”), a Kenyan aviation company,
those two principal subsidiaries of the aviation and logistic business
segment collectively contributed a substantial portion of the Group’s
revenue. The reporting boundaries of this Report is consistent
with the same report for the year ended 31 December 2020. In
the future, the Group will continue to strengthen the information
collection system in order to expand the scope and enhance the
comprehensiveness of disclosures on ESG performance.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group believes that creating long-term value for stakeholders
is important to sustain its business success. We value honest, open
and regular dialogue with our stakeholders. As a company with
services spanning across several continents, the Group strives to
engage and gain trust and support from its various stakeholders.
These include employees, customers, suppliers, investors,
governmental authorities and the wider community as a whole. In
this regard, the management actively communicate with these key
internal and external stakeholders to understand their concerns
and expectations. The Group engages its stakeholders on a regular
basis, through various channels, such as conferences, interviews
and surveys, with a view to understanding their expectation in
ESG matters. The engagement of the stakeholders facilitates the
materiality assessment process, ensuring our focus areas align with
the Group’s sustainable strategies and stakeholder expectations.
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Stakeholder
Groups

Engagement Method

Internal key stakeholders

Employee

Employee Satisfaction
Survey

Employee Performance
Appraisal

Training Workshops
Meetings and Discussions

External key stakeholders

Customers

Suppliers

Investors

Governmental
Authorities

Community

Daily Operations
Meetings and Conference
Customer Feedback
Forms

Customer Hotline

Daily Operations
Supplier Inspection
Annual Evaluation
Financial announcements
HKEX Filings

Investor Calls and
Briefings

Annual General Meetings

Compliance Reporting
Consultation Papers
Rules and Regulations
Charitable Donation
Volunteer Activities

Key ESG Concerns

Remuneration and Benefit
Health and Safety
Rights of Employee

Quality of Services
Corporate Reputation
Protection of Data Privacy

Corporate Reputation

Long-term Relationship

Financial Performance
Sustainable Development

Compliance
Corporate Governance

Social Contribution
Environmental Protection
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In order to identify and consider what ESG-related issues may
be material to the Group, the Group has performed materiality
assessment with stakeholders. The following is the process of
materiality assessment:

Step 1: Identification of ESG-related issues

The issues were identified based on the ESG subject areas under
the ESG Reporting Guide, the business characteristics of the Group
and the ESG reports of the industry peers.

Step 2: Prioritising the ESG-related issues

The senior management took into account the materiality to
stakeholders and materiality to business in evaluating and
prioritising the issues. The feedback collected from the stakeholder
engagement process was fully considered for ranking the issues.

Step 3: Determination of material ESG-related issues

The top five issues were identified as material issues of the Group
and was discussed and confirmed by the Board.

During the Year, as a result of the materiality assessment, we
have prioritised climate change, occupational health and safety,
employee training and development, service quality and safety,
and community investment as key ESG issues. The Group will pay
more attention to the above areas and focus on strengthening the
discussion of material issues, in order to respond to the concerns
of stakeholders. Key initiatives and activities are summarised in the
following sections.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
Emission

The Group is committed to operating in a sustainable manner
through mitigating emissions, improving energy efficiency and
reducing its impacts on the environment.

Our leadership has been committed to sustainability, recognising
it is a strategic imperative for our business and embedding it in
our corporate values. Our primary aim is to manage sustainability
risks through appropriate policies, standards, and systems. It
also enables us to identify and pursue potential sustainability
opportunities.
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The Group recognises that pollution prevention and resource
conservation are key to combating climate change, and thus
effectively integrates these concepts into its business decision
making.

The Group strictly abides by local rules and regulations on
environmental protection. For example, the Group’s aviation business
in Kenya follows the policies approved by National Environment
Management Authority, a local government agency responsible
for implementing environmental policy, logistics business in South
Africa adopts its internal policy for compliance. The applicable rules
and regulation include the National Environmental Management Act:
Air Quality Act 39, Environmental Management and Co-ordination
(Air Quality) Regulations, 2014, National Greenhouse Gas Emissions
Reporting Regulations, Climate Change Act (2016), etc

The emissions of the Group were primarily generated from the
vehicle use for operations and the combustion of fuels in its business
operations. Enhancing fuel efficiency is a key focus of the Group’s
environmental protection efforts and technology plays a key part in
driving the Group’s sustainable development. In the Group’s ground
logistics business, the operational teams arrange the transportation
so as to maximise the utilisation of vehicles and save the fuel
consumption. Moreover, drag-reducing devices were installed on
trucks to improve fuel efficiency and reduce greenhouse gas (“GHG”)
emissions. During the Year, the total GHG emissions was higher
than that of in 2020 slightly. It was primarily due to the increase in
number of flying hours for flights used for medical evacuation or
air ambulance services in Kenya under the COVID-19 pandemic
and the recovery from operation of ground logistics business in
South Africa during the post pandemic era. Nonetheless, the Group
successfully maintained the same level of emissions intensity.

The Group is committed to reduce the emissions intensity level
through enhancing fuel efficiency. The Group are going to acquire
eco-friendly vehicles to minimise the usage of energy resource.
Furthermore, the Group’s logistic business has initiated a project
to implement a transport management system which will assist the
operational teams further on route and vehicle optimistation, as well
as enhancing energy efficiency.
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Responsible waste management practices are adopted in the
Group’s processes. For instance, within the Group’s aviation
business, where hazardous wastes such as used oils and medical
waste are generated from, waste collection system has been
implemented. Used oil from aircraft servicing and maintenance is
siphoned into drums for storage and collected by qualified vendors.
Medical waste is discarded into labelled, leakproof and puncture
resistant containers before the waste is collected by disposal agent
approved by local authority. Furthermore, the Group encourages
proper waste segregation and storage in designated receptacles
on its premises to facilitate material recovery and biological
treatment. The Group places emphasis on implementation of
environmental protection measure, to ensure effective and efficient
waste segregation, disposal and management of both hazardous
or non-hazardous wastes. Our employees share responsibilities
for waste management in our business operations with reference
to the established environmental protection measure and waste
management approaches. The Group strives to prevent any
environmental pollution events from waste through proper collection,
storage and disposal of waste. Meanwhile, both hazardous and
non-hazardous waste level are closely monitored by the Group to
observe opportunities for waste reduction in the future.

Use of Resources

The Group takes proactive measures to minimise the environmental
impact arising from its operations. Previously, the Group’s aviation
business relocated its full power engine runs to a designated area
located on the southern end of Wilson Airport in Kenya, far from the
neighbouring community and sensitive natural habitats. This helps
to reduce the impact of air and noise pollution arising from aircraft
test runs and vehicle movements. When replacing fleet vehicles,
the Group takes fuel efficiency into account in its decision making
process. Fleet vehicles are constantly monitored for excessive fuel
usage. Repair and maintenance on the fleet vehicles and forklifts
are performed by approved manufacturer technicians to ensure
its mechanical parts are functioned so as to prevent unnecessary
energy consumption or emissions. The vehicles are installed with
telematics monitoring driver behavior. If anything becomes apparent
the drivers will be made aware and remedial action taken. Where
necessary, drivers are trained to drive the vehicles in the most fuel
efficient ways by observing practices with regard to tyre pressures,
harsh braking and acceleration, as well as driver behaviour.
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During the year, the total energy consumption of the Group, which
were primarily arisen from direct energy use for the vehicles and
flights, increased by approximately 20% as compared with that of
in 2020. The increase in energy consumption was mainly due to the
growing demand of ground logistics and aviation services. In the
meantime, electricity used by the Group in 2021 was dramatically
lower than that in 2020. The 43% drop was principally attributed to
the closing down of several idling warehouses.

All employees are responsible and accountable for promoting and
implementing environmentally responsible operations.

The Group has worked to raise staff awareness of environmental
management by implementing sustainable practices at workplace.
We promote green office and operation environment to minimise
the adverse environmental impacts of the Group. The employees of
the Group have attempted to reduce the consumption of electricity,
paper and water resources. For example, to avoid energy wastage,
to turn off idle electrical appliances, etc.. The Group also used more
energy efficient LED lighting and air conditioners when carrying
out renovations of the offices and warehouses. To lower paper
consumption, double-sided printing, recycling of used paper and
use of electronic documentation are strongly encouraged. Dedicated
bins have been set up at the Group’s offices to facilitate waste
separation and recycling. Waste paper from the offices is delivered
to an approved paper recycler.

Despite of the logistics and aviation business are not highly intensive
in usage of water, the Group strives to conserve the precious water
resources. For instance, a high pressure washer system is used
for washing the trucks in the Group’s logistic business in South
Africa, which minimises the water consumption. Majority of the water
consumption depends on customer demands, hence, we target to
maintain the water consumption intensity level. To control the water
consumption, the Group regularly maintains and repairs the water
facilities to ensure that leaking pipes are regularly replaced or
repaired and installs auto lock taps to avoid over usage. The Group
obtains water from the municipal supplies and therefore, there is no
issues in sourcing water for its operations.

Due to the nature of aviation and logistics business, the operations
of the Group involve very little use of packaging material only.
Nevertheless, the Group has maintained strict control over the use of
packaging and prevent excess consumption. Any used packaging
materials will be reused or recycled if possible.
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Environment and Natural Resources

The Group strives to drive the environmental performance of its
logistics solutions to another level through continuous monitoring
and improvement. Regular reviews are carried out on a timely
basis to evaluate and explore alternative eco-friendly measures
and practices. Going forward, it is part of the Group’s strategy to
increase strategic investment in energy-efficient technologies, such
as sourcing for greener fuels and aircraft as appropriate.

Climate Change

The Group understands that climate change is a global issue that
affects everyone around the world. We are aware of the impacts of
climate change on the sustainable development of our business
operations. The Group carried out an analysis to understand the
potential risk to its business in the course of climate change. More
frequent extreme weather conditions may lead to disruption to
transportation and thus our ground logistics and aviation services.
This would in turn poses adverse effects on schedule of flights and
loads, a knock-on effect on services performance and customer
satisfaction. The increase in vulnerability of extreme weather also
brings threat to the safety of the drivers, crews and passengers.

In response to the climate change, the Group has closely monitor
the weather conditions prior to and throughout the provision of
services. Furthermore, emergency response training are offered to
the frontline workers, including the drivers and pilots, in order to
provide guidance to our employees in response to extreme weather
arose, which allows us to limit the potential damages.

The Group will continue to monitor the potential risks of climate
change and its impacts on the Group’s operations, and establish
and implement preventive and emergency measures accordingly.
Moreover, the Group will continue its efforts to control energy
consumption and carbon emissions.

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
Employment

The Group believes that people are the foundation of its business
growth. The Group’s human resources policies and procedures
cover key aspects such as compensation, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, welfare and other benefits.

It is paramount for the Group to attract qualified talent both internally
and externally to support business ambitions.
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The Group’s remuneration mechanism is performance-based and
competitive. Eligible employees are entitled to other benefits in
addition to basic salary, such as medical insurance and retirement
funds. The remuneration packages are regularly reviewed to keep
up with the market.

The Group is committed to providing employees with an inclusive
workplace that embraces and promotes diversity and equal
opportunity. The Group has zero tolerance of harassment and
discrimination in any form. Employees are hired and selected
based on their merits regardless of their race, colour, age, religious
belief, gender and national origin. Specifically, the Group’s aviation
business adopted a “Fair and Just Culture Policy” to ensure that
all personnel are treated fairly. The Group also strives to establish
harmonious labour relationships. In the Group’s ground logistics
business where the majority of Group employees are employed,
grievance procedures are enforced to make sure that the concerns
of the employees are heard and addressed in an equitable and
fair manner. The Group’s logistics business in South Africa is a
Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment (BBBEE) compliant
for years, of which it is a racially inclusive initiative imposed by the
government of South Africa, and such compliant demonstrates that
the Group’s has put its firm commitments towards racial equity.

In the event of misconducts that warrant dismissal, the Group strictly
observes the disciplinary code to ensure necessary steps and
procedures are followed. The code sets out our principles for acting
responsibly in the course of achieving our commercial success. The
hearings are chaired by independent labour consultants who would
also provide recommendations to the disciplinary actions made, and
employees have the right to appeal the outcome of the disciplinary
hearing.

In the logistics business in South Africa, employees’ rights on
remuneration, working hours, leave entitlement, etc. are strictly
complied with the Labour Relation Act and Basic Condition of
Employment Act. During the year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with employment-related laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group.
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Health and Safety

Occupational health and safety (“OHS”) is the Group’s top priority
for its business operations under the strict national rules and
regulations in logistics and aviation business, such as Occupational
Health and Safety Act in South Africa and Kenya. All our operations
must be carried out in a manner that safeguards the health and
safety of all employees, customers, contractors and the wider
community. The Group adopts proper procedures at the workplace
to identify, mitigate and monitor health and safety risks. Hazard
assessments and safety monitoring are also carried out frequently,
and results are followed up in a timely manner to drive continuous
improvement. Proper personal protective equipment and first aid
training are provided to employees. The Group protects the safety
of its people and assets by undertaking rigorous fire prevention
measures, organising safety awareness and accident investigation
workshops, as well as providing firefighting training. Fire and
evacuation drills, fire hydrant flow and pressure tests are conducted
periodically. Risk administration and compliance officers were hired
to proactively identify risks and implement preventive measures for
the Group.

The Group’s aviation business is certified by the Department of
Occupational Safety and Health Services under the Ministry of
Health of the Republic of Kenya in recognition of its achievements
in upholding workplace safety. Our continued success is inherently
linked with providing a safe working environment for all Group
employees. To succeed in this, we have developed a corporate
safety culture and adopted a risk-driven approach in identifying
and minimising the impact of hazards on our operations. Within
the Group’s logistics business, toolbox talks covering topics such
as safety, hazards, health and equipment operations are held
with frontline workers on a daily basis. A third-party consultant
was engaged to carry out regular thermal tests on the distribution
boards to prevent fire hazards in the physical properties. In addition
to the Group’s aviation business, personal protective equipment
are provided to pilots and medical staff for protection against
coronavirus while they are performing the aeromedical transfers
missions. An isolation chambers maybe used depending on the
infectious risk, especially when highly infectious patients such as
COVID-19 patients was taken to the hospital. Extensive training
that was supported, directed and advised by senior EU virologist
specialist or leaded by Aeromedical Specialist Medical staff was
offered to our employees in aviation business to equip them with
professional knowledge and skill during the COVID-19.
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The Group is committed to protecting the health and safety of
all individuals affected by its activities, including its employees,
contractors and the public. The Group ensures that every individual
employee works in a safe and healthy environment.

The outbreak of COVID-19 since early 2020 has brought severe
threat to the health and safety of all individuals. As a logistics
and aviation services provider, the nature of our works inevitably
means that our employees are exposed to high infection risk.
Hence, regular testing for COVID-19 was arranged to employees.
For those employees were tested with high infection risk, they
should screen out and should be quarantined in the early stage.
In addition, COVID-19 policy is established with the objective to
provide guidelines about prevention of the inflection. The Group
has been implementing various preventative measures in workplace
to safeguard the health and safety of the employees. These
measures include: employees must wear masks properly at work,
arranging body temperature screening at the main entrance, and
regular cleaning and disinfection of the workplace to maintain good
environmental hygiene, etc. The Group will continuous monitor the
development of the epidemic and strengthen the precautionary
measures if necessary.

Employees are encouraged and supported to maintain a healthy
work-life balance. In addition to abiding by all standard aviation
safety regulations, the Group’s flight operations have enhanced
policies around pre-flight rest and duty hours to further minimise
OHS-related risks caused by fatigue.

The Group will review the safety of the workplace on an ongoing
basis.

Development and Training

The Group believes that talent development is integral to sustaining
its competitive advantage and organic growth. Training programmes
are set up at business level to support daily job functions. Subsidies
of training or education are provided to the staff for their contribution
to the Group after self-development. For instance, the Group
places high priority to enhance skills of its ground logistics staff,
particularly on operating warehouse equipment. Furthermore, highly
customised training courses are prepared for pilots and engineers
within the Group’s aviation business, in particular the training in
safety management system and aviation security to enhance their
awareness of safety and security. In order to facilitate employees’
professional growth and career progression, the Group also provides
support and assistance for staff to attend external training courses
that are relevant to their areas of expertise.
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A skills development committee has been established within the
Group’s logistics business to plan and organise development and
training for employees. In addition, management personnel of the
Group’s logistic arm attended training on safety and security to
prepare them for the challenges of managing safety and security
during their works.

The Group’s remuneration mechanism is performance based and
competitive. In addition, the Group provides other benefits to
employees including various training programmes.

To stay competitive, we invest in different ways to acquire the best
talent in the market by reviewing and streamlining our recruitment
process to make us more efficient in attracting and hiring new talent,
developing different customised selection and assessment tools to
help us acquire the most suitable talent in the market.

The Group will continue to evaluate the training needs of its
employees and to offer the employees with appropriate and suitable
training according to their job position and nature. The Group will
continue to intensify and promote staff training programs by offering
comprehensive training opportunity, it could help to reserve talent
for corporate development.

Labour Standards

The Group strives to adhere to applicable local and international
labour standards, including Basic Condition of Employment Act in
logistics business in South Africa and Employment Act in aviation
business in Kenya, and strictly prohibits the use of child or forced
labour in its operations. We have developed systematic approval
and selection measures to prevent ourselves from illegally hiring
child labour and ensure that the employment is comply with
relevant laws and regulations. New employees should present their
legitimate proof of age to meet the requirements of local minimum
age and to prevent employment of child labour. The Group will
not retain employees’ passport, national identity cards and travel
documents as a condition of continued employment. Subject to the
conditions set for the in employment contract, employees are free to
terminate their employment relationship with the Group. The Group
has a set of grievance procedures to provide staff with a channel to
confidentially escalate complaints and concerns, including report on
child and forced labour. The Group’s suppliers and contractors are
expected to attain the same standard in their labour practices.
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The Group’s logistics business in South Africa has been a member
of Supplier Ethical Data Exchange (SEDEX) since 2018. SEDEX
Members Ethical Trade Audits (SMETA) were conducted on an
ongoing basis to assess the business’s performance around labour
rights, health and safety, the environment and business ethics. In
addition, the labour practices of logistics business in South Africa
are continuously monitored by the National Bargaining Council
for the Road Freight and Logistics Industry and the South African
Department of Employment & Labour.

The Group has no tolerance attitude towards child and forced
labour. In case of any violation of laws and regulations related to
labour standards, the Group will immediate investigate the causes of
the problem and examined ways to prevent similar occurrence in the
future. The Group is committed to protect the rights and interests of
employees and maintain trustful relationship with employees.

OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

The Group values relationships with its suppliers. The development
of the Group’s business depends on the support of suppliers
and partners. In particular the Group’s logistics business has
strategically partner with multiple transport suppliers in South Africa
region to jointly maintain the quality of services and operational
capacity. Therefore, the Group attaches importance to quality of
products and services and continuity of supply.

To maintain our service quality and standard as well as the business
integrity, the Group has developed a scrupulous and rigorous
process for supplier screening and monitoring. Before corporation
with the new suppliers, the Group must conducts supplier
assessment which based on several criteria, including products and/
or services quality, products and/or services safety, as well as their
environmental and social practices. Business licenses, qualification
certificates, production safety permits and other management
system certifications will be collected during the supplier
selection process to ensure that they comply with relevant social
and environmental laws and regulations. In the Group’s aviation
business, all aeronautical parts suppliers shall be recognised by
the Civil Aviation Airworthiness Authority of the country of domicile
and audited by the Head of Quality to meet its procurement
requirement. To encourage the suppliers to contribute to sustainable
development, the Group will give priority to suppliers who supply
products or services while promoting sustainable development.
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The Group will closely monitor the performance of its suppliers to
ensure it is consistent with its commitment regularly and adhere to
the quality and standard of the Group with the aid of annual supplier
assessment. The cooperation with suppliers will terminate if the
environmental and social standards of suppliers is not in line with
the Group’s policy.

The Group is aware of the importance in managing environmental
and social risks of our supplier chain. The Group works closely
with its suppliers and service providers to support and optimise its
complete logistic solutions. The Group has embedded environmental
and social consideration in the procurement process and supplier
communication. The Group aspires to exert a positive influence over
its suppliers to promote the awareness of sustainability and manage
risks within its supply chain, including environmental, social and
governance best practices. The Group will continue to monitor its
supply chain regarding the environmental and social standards.

Product Responsibility

Since its establishment, the Group has focused on helping its
customers to operate more securely and efficiently in frontier
markets. The Group emphasises service quality and reliability to
differentiate itself in the market and help its clients focus on meeting
their project milestones on time and within budget.

The Group’s aviation business in Kenya implemented a safety,
quality and security management system as guided by International
Civil Aviation Organisation and Kenya Civil Aviation Authority, with
a wide scope of provision of aviation and logistics services, such
as worldwide charter flights and medical air ambulance charter. In
addition, the Group has been certified and approved by European
Union Aviation Safety Agency (EASA) as a Third Country Operator
(TCO) in recognition of the safety performance of the Group’s
aviation business. During the Year, the Group’s aviation business
became a European Aero-Medical Institute accredited provider,
which stands for high quality, safety and excellence in aero-medical
transportation. To maintain the reliability of its aviation services,
the Group conducts forecasts on capacity, demand patterns and
customer requirements to address potential bottlenecks caused
by hangar space, associated logistics and custom procedures.
The Group’s aviation business maintains a 24-hour operations
control center to plan, execute and monitor every flights. Before the
dispatch of aircraft, the flight operation department and maintenance
team are responsible to perform safety and quality checks to
ensure the flight meets the international standard and industry
best practice. With the finely engineered fleet of aircraft equipped
with the latest technology and experienced and knowledgeable
operations and maintenance teams, the Group delivers quality and
consistent air travel solution to the clients.
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The Group is committed to providing high-quality services to
customers. The Group’s logistics business prides itself on high
services levels by timely delivery with low damage rate. In addition,
we are particularly concerned with the safety in handling, storage
and transport of food products. In the Group’s ground logistics
business in South Africa, trucks with refrigerator unit are specifically
used for transfer of refrigerated or freezer products and temperature
are frequently checked during the transportation to ensure the
products are delivered and arrived at its destination at the correct
temperature and in good condition. Perishable Products Export
Control Board (PPECB) carried out annual inspection to confirm
the food safety system of our logistics business in compliance with
food hygiene and safety standards in South Africa. To maintain
quality and consistent logistical solutions to the clients, each load is
diligently planned, coordinated and closely monitored by experience
operator team.

The Group is an integrated security, logistics, insurance and
infrastructure services’ provider, product recall procedures is not
applicable to the Group’s business.

Furthermore, a complaint handling mechanism is in place to
address customers’ concerns. Complaints are properly documented
upon receipt and subsequently followed up in a timely and efficient
manner. Once complaints are verified, compensation is provided
to customers in accordance with established procedures and with
reference to prior cases. During the Year, the Group did not receive
any substantive product or service related complaints.

The Group respects intellectual property rights of all stakeholders.
The Group’s standard employment contracts contain provision on
intellectual property rights and confidentiality. In addition. The Group
uses authorised and copyrighted products only and the behavior of
downloading or installing any forged or copied programs, software
or materials is strictly prohibited to protect intellectual property
rights’ owners.

The Group values data privacy. Confidentiality agreement
have been signed by employees upon employment to restrict
confidentiality behavior. Collected personal data is only accessible
by authorised personnel and is handled in a confidential manner.
To prevent leakage of personal data, computer system is regularly
updated and is installed with firewall and antivirus software to
avoid possible hackers’ activities. The Group complies with the
applicable data protection laws and regulations. For instance, the
Group’s logistics business in South Africa strictly complies with the
requirements of the Protection of Personal Information Act. Personal
information collected from stakeholders, including employees,
customers, suppliers, etc., is protected against unlawful collection,
retention, dissemination and use of personal information under the
requirements of the act.
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Anti-corruption

The Group operates across multiple countries and regions,
especially in world’s emerging markets. However, corruption is
often found in less developed countries and fast-growing markets.
Therefore, the Group attaches great importance to uphold ethical
corporate culture in the workplace.

The Group maintains a high standard of anti-corruption measures
and have zero-tolerance for any form of bribery, corruption or fraud.
Upon employment, all employees are introduced to the specific
requirements related to the corruption policies in the company in
order to mitigate the relevant risks to the business. Despite the
Group did not arrange anti-corruption training for its directors and
staff during the Year, the Group and all members of the Group
has paid great attention to uphold high standards of integrity and
business ethics, strictly follow the guidelines as stipulated in the
corruption policies and abide the laws and regulations concerning
business ethics. For example, the Group’s aviation business in
Kenya strictly complies with the requirements of the UK Anti-Bribery
and Corruption Act and the Kenya Anti-Corruption and Economic
Crimes Act, and makes an effort to keep up to any changes in
regulations. During the Year, the Group and its employees were
not involved in any legal cases of non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud, or money
laundering.

In addition, a whistle-blowing procedure is established with the
objective to provide a confidential channel for employees to report
on suspected irregularities. This policy also aims to encourage our
people to come forward and report suspected wrongdoing and to
provide necessary guidance and assurance to anyone who reports
suspected wrongdoing. Employees and other relevant parties can
raise their concerns to the Audit Committee by email. Once a report
is made, investigations will then conduct to verify the complaints
and for appropriate follow-up action. Every reported case will be
handled consistently, promptly and confidentially according to
established procedures. In the past, the Group’s logistics business
in South Africa has worked with Whistle Blowers, an independent
company which provides ethics hotline services, for employees to
safely report any whistle-blowing matters, and no single comment or
claim was lodged.
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group is committed to supporting development in the
communities where it operates by working closely with a number
of local and overseas charities and organisations. In nurturing the
corporate culture to practice social welfare and participation, we
aim to embrace our corporate social responsibilities as part of the
Group'’s strategic development. In recent years, we have engaged in
various community activities, including but not limited to:

o participating in epidemic preventive and control works such
as rendering air ambulance services and delivery of medical
equipment and consumables across countries;

o donating rapid antigen tests (RAT) kits, masks and other anti-
epidemic supplies to various non-profit organisations namely
the New People’s Party, The Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises
Association, Greater Bay Area Youth Development Association
Rotary Club and Yan Chai Hospital Mrs. Tsang Wang
Neighbourhood Elderly Centre to support the communities in
fighting the epidemic;

o supporting and participating in educational fieldtrips to
promote children’s awareness in conserving wildlife under
Carolina for Kibera’s Child Outreach Programme in Nairobi,
Kenya;

o cooperating with Support Teacher Empowerment Trust by
providing training to teachers and equipping them with
necessary knowledge and skills to support and educate the
disadvantaged youths;

o working with Phakamani Trust, a local non-profit organisation
aiming to empower rural young women, to combat poverty and
unemployment in South Africa;

o transporting donated food to various charitable organisations
such as churches and children homes free of charge;

o maintaining close contacts with local schools and organising
visits to the Group’s premises to provide an introduction on
aviation to the students. This helps to broaden their horizon
and equip them for their future career with more knowledge on
different industries; and

o supporting relief works for incidents by natural disasters, such
as flooding in Somalia and forest fires in Tanzania.
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The Group also encourages all its employees to actively participate
in volunteer works. When selecting charitable organisations to
support, the Group would evaluate their visions and backgrounds.
Charities with unclear financial position and operations are not
considered so as to ensure community investment goes to the needy.
Striving to promote social integration and improve the wellbeing of
members in the communities where it operates, the Group targets
to support underprivileged groups, especially children and youth.
During the Year, the Group donated approximately HK$74,000 to the
community. The Group also supported child and youth centre in its
caring works for abandoned and unwanted babies. The Group will
continue to make contribution to the communities in order to fulfil its
social responsibility.
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ENVIRONMENTAL KEY PERFORMANCE REFAREREE

INDICATORS

The table below shows the environmental KPIs of the key operations
of the Group in two services namely (a) logistics business in South

TREIAEER (a) EIFMARET K (b) BER
MERBEMARBH 2 T 22 EZRRMRE

54

Africa and (b) aviation business in Kenya. IR ©
Environmental KPIs Unit 2021 2020
REBEBENER B —B-—F —EEF
Nitrogen Oxides emissions (NO,) tonne 22.34 20.72
—ERBENE T8
Sulphur Oxides emissions (SO,) tonne 0.03 0.03
—&EtmBEE M8
Particulate matter emissions (PM) tonne 1.61 1.49
BRIEMETENE M8
Total greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions tonne CO,e 8,436.40 7,391.99
RERBENNE =Y {78713 (LT
Scope 1 - Direct emissions and removals tonne CO,e 8,015.97 6,629.71
HE1 — BEFERSORSR =N {78712 LU T
Scope 2 - Energy indirect emissions tonne CO,e 420.43 762.28
#HE2 — BLIRMEE N =N {47873 (LT
Total GHG emissions intensity by revenue tonne CO,e 0.01 0.01
R RERBRENERE =N {47873 (LT
Total hazardous waste produced tonne 2.00 1.83
FEEZEEEEYRS T8
Total non-hazardous waste produced tonne 239.84 213.19
FEAZBESEZYRS 7
Total energy consumption kWh 33,816,110.56 28,424,100.13
BEREFES TR
Total direct energy consumption kWh 33,255,080.49 27,433,719.13
HEEREES TR
Diesel oil kWh 19,973,868.99 18,269,760.54
s TRE
Gasoline/Petrol kWh 15,254.21 8,636.65
i TH#H
Kerosene kWh 13,265,957.29 9,165,321.94
B3 FRE
Total direct energy consumption intensity by revenue kWh/HKD’000 revenue 43.98 45.34
N2 B RERET R TRE W THET
Total indirect energy consumption kWh 561,030.07 980,381.00
Mg REES TR EF
Purchased electricity kWh 561,030.07 980,381.00
ERES FRLEF
Total indirect energy consumption intensity by kWh/HKD’000 revenue
revenue 0.74 1.62
R aEst 2 B REREERE TRE W TET
Water consumption m?3 82,213.00 59,572.00
FKE 377K
Water consumption intensity by revenue m3/HKD’000 revenue 0.1 0.10
N st 2 RERE SHK W FET
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SOCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS HERRENIEE

The table below shows the social KPIs of the key operations of the TREHNEEER (a) EIEMRER X (b) BELR
Group in two services namely (a) logistics business in South Africa MEEBEMBRBF 2 EELE M SHRE
and (b) aviation business in Kenya. IR ©

Social KPIs Unit 2021 2020
HERRENER B —E-—f ZERTF
Total workforce person 239 252
BEBH %

Total workforce by gender

RIERNS D 2 BREBRH

Female person 53 57
gk %
Male person 186 195
Bt %

Total workforce by employment type

RERBRE N ZEBAH

Full-time person 237 232
£ %
Non full-time person 2 20
IR &

Total workforce by age group
RFRARNE D 2 EBEH

21-35 person 68 75
21 E 355 &
36-50 person 135 143
36 .ZE 50 5% %
Over 50 person 36 34
50 BRIA & %

Total workforce by geographical region

minEE D 2 BB AK

South Africa person 151 156
EES &
Kenya person 88 96
BIEE #
Employee turnover rate % 1 22
EE AL E

Employee turnover rate by gender
RIERED 2 ERERALLE

Female % 5 15
7
Male % 13 24
5l
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Social KPIs Unit 2021 2020
HEREAEMER B —B--F i

Employee turnover rate age group
RERENE D ZEEMALLE

21-35 % 13 36
21 mE 35

36-50 % 12 13
36 mZE 507

Over 50 % 8 15
50 5% bA £

Employee turnover rate by geographical region

BB D 2 REMKLE

South Africa % 16 30
EZES
Kenya % 2 2
BRE:
Number of work-related fatalities person 0 1
(2019: 0)
THEAERASE T A = (20194 : 0)
Work-related fatalities rate % 0 0.31
(2019: 0)
TR T X (20194 : 0)
Number of lost days due to work injuries day 59 N/A*
TIEMBUER A =]
Percentage of employees trained % 6 18

XiIEEBES L
Percentage of employees trained by gender

RUEMNB N ZXIEEB DL

Female % 13 2
M
Male % 87 98*
S

Trained percentage by employee category

RETHEREN Z2XIIEEBSLL

Senior management % 7 N/A#
BREEAB
Middle management % 20 N/A#
FEEEAB
Frontline staff % 73 N/A#
Ri#RE T
Average training hours completed per employee hour 0.58 1.41
BEREETATINZ FRE /N
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Social KPIs Unit 2021 2020
HEHEAENER B —B--F e

Average training hours completed per employee by

gender

ZMRE Dz BEEETKRIIZ FHARH
Female hours 0.48 0.04
i N
Male hours 0.60 1.77
S N

Average training hours by employee category
RETERED 22 FIIRE

Senior management % 0.30 N/A#
SRERABR TEmA*
Middle management % 1.00 N/A#
FEEEAR T
Frontline staff % 0.53 N/A#
A ET T

Total number of suppliers supplier 532 N/A#

HEREY ] B

Number of suppliers by geographical region

RitEE D2 HEFHAE
South Africa supplier 440 N/A#
A 3F HIER B
Kenya supplier 70 N/A*
=Kt HIER B
Zimbabwe supplier 7 N/A#
EEME ] TEmA*
United States supplier 6 N/A*
ESE e TEmA*
Other Regions supplier 9 N/A*
E b= HIER TEmA*

. Restated based on new data and calculation. * R BIE R EIAED -

# KPIs in 2020 are not available as they are new disclosure requirement # HRBEBZE - ZE-_—F+-_A=+—HILFERL

with effect from the year ended 31 December 2021. ERZHWBEER MR ST ENLERE

BRI -
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chang Zhenming, aged 65, was appointed as a non-executive
director and the Chairman of the Company on 6 December 2018.
Mr. Chang holds a master degree in business administration and
has a broad range of experience in banking, finance and securities
business. Mr. Chang was formerly the chairman and an executive
director of CITIC Limited (stock code: 267), the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). CITIC Limited is an indirect
substantial shareholder of the Company holding approximately
25.91% issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
annual report. Mr. Chang was also the chairman of CITIC Group
Corporation and CITIC Corporation Limited, and was formerly the
vice chairman and president of China Construction Bank Corporation
(stock code: 939 (H share); 601939 (A share)), the non-executive
director and deputy chairman of Cathay Pacific Airways Limited
(stock code: 293), the non-executive director and the chairman of
the board of China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited (stock code:
998 (H share); 601998 (A share)), the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and/or the Shanghai Stock
Exchange. He was also formerly a non-executive director of China
CITIC Bank International Limited and the chairman of CITIC Hong
Kong (Holdings) Limited.
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Mr. Fei Yiping, aged 58, was appointed as a non-executive director
on 24 March 2020. Mr. Fei is a director and the chief financial
officer of CITIC Pacific Limited (“CITIC Pacific”, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CITIC Limited). He is also the deputy general manager
of financial control department of CITIC Limited, a director and the
chief financial officer of CITIC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited, a vice
chairman and president of CITIC Pacific China Holdings Limited,
a director and general manager of Rainbow Wisdom Investments
Limited (a subsidiary of CITIC Group Corporation (“CITIC Group”)),
a non-executive director of CITIC Telecom International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1883), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, a non-executive director of Dah
Chong Hong Holdings Limited, the shares of which were withdrawn
from listing on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and a director
of Companhia de Telecomunicagdes de Macau, S.A.R.L. He is also
a director of certain member companies of CITIC Pacific involved
in special steel, property and energy and a director of certain
member companies of CITIC Limited involved in iron ore mining,
property and its interests in McDonald’s Mainland China and Hong
Kong businesses (including, inter alia, Grand Foods Holdings
Limited), and also the chairman of the audit, compliance and risk
management committees of Grand Foods Holdings Limited. Mr. Fei
is a graduate from Beijing Science and Technology University and
received a Master in Business Administration from the University of
Edinburgh in the United Kingdom. He is a FCPA of CPA Australia
and has over 23 years experience in accounting and financial
management. He has been with CITIC Group since 1991. Between
2001 and 2008, he first acted as treasurer and director of CitiSteel
USA, Inc. and then acted as a vice president of CITIC USA Holdings,
Inc. and chief representative of CITIC Group in New York. When he
returned to China in 2008, he became a deputy director general of
the finance department of CITIC Group.

Mr. Chan Kai Kong, aged 53, was appointed as a non-executive
director on 28 February 2021. Mr. Chan is the Chief Financial
Officer and a Senior Managing Director of CITIC Capital Holdings
Limited, a global alternative investment management and advisory
company. He heads up various businesses in Principal Investments
and is also a partner of Trustar Capital, the private equity business
of CITIC Capital. Prior to joining the firm, he was an investment
professional at the Government of Singapore Investment Corporation
and the International Finance Corporation responsible for both
direct investments and fund investments in Asia. He previously
worked for Deloitte and had corporate finance experience with both
listed companies and merchant bank. Mr. Chan received a M.Sc.
in Finance from the London Business School and a BBA from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong.

BRFEE 585 RZE-_ZTEF=A=-+NW
BEZERIFNTES - BXRERTRERZEEAR
ARI([HRERE] ATREFPERNHERRRZ
2EMBRAR) CEEREFUBE - B AR
EAEROERARZVBER I BLE -
FE(BEEEE)ERAAZESRUBHBE -
FERE(FE)REBRAFZAEERRL
#HUEREERQAR (FRAAEEEERAA
(THhEEE]) ZHBAR) 2 EEFRBLIE - F
EEBREASEEGR A A (HRMD A ER
ET o BRARSE  1883) ZIHMITES - KETT
SEAERAR(EROERBEEBRAERZ £
L) ZHERTESRPIEAEARARIZE
F o RMAPEREE TP RIFH - BihEKie
BFHEEKEARZES  FEPERHERAA
ETHRPRERE  EHNEBEBQARLREREE
BHRBENMEESEREEXNE AR (B (K
B 4E) Grand Foods Holdings Limited) 2 &
% LA K Grand Foods Holdings Limited 2 85T
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ERREEARREEAERERAG ZEFEH
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Mr. Dorian Barak, aged 48, was appointed as a non-executive
director on 19 April 2021. Mr. Barak is a veteran private equity
investor and fund manager specializing in emerging markets.
He serves on the boards of companies active in the technology
and natural resources sectors in China, the Middle East, Europe
and Africa. Over the past two decades, Mr. Barak has filled key
investment and executive positions in the US, Israel and Europe.
He was an independent non-executive director and an executive
director of Yunfeng Financial Group Limited (formerly known as
Reorient Group Limited) (stock code: 376) and KuangChi Science
Limited (stock code: 439), respectively, both of the companies’
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”), Head of Global Strategy and M&A at Hapoalim,
Israel’s leading financial group; an M&A Attorney with the Skadden
Arps firm in New York; and a Consultant with the Boston Consulting
Group (BCG) in Chicago; and is an independent non-executive
director of Zwipe AS (ZWIPE.ST). Mr. Barak was awarded a Juris
Doctor by Yale University, a master degree from Oxford University,
and a BA from UCLA.

Mr. Zhang Yukuan, aged 57, was appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company on 21 October 2021. Mr. Zhang used
to work as assistant salesman of China International Economic
Consulting Corporation, and staff, senior staff, and section director
staff of the Comprehensive Planning Department of CITIC Limited
(a substantial shareholder of the Company). From April 2004, he
served as senior project manager of the Management Division Il of
the Strategy and Planning Department. In January 2016, he became
senior project manager of the Corporate Operations Management
Division | under the Department of Strategic Development. From
April 2016, Mr. Zhang was promoted as Senior Executive of the
Corporate Operations Management Division | under the Department
of Strategic Development. In January 2019, he became Senior
Executive of the 4th Management Division under the Department
of Strategic Development. Mr. Zhang holds a bachelor’s degree in
economics from Jilin University, China.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson, aged 70, has been an executive
director of the Company since 1998 and a Deputy Chairman of
the Company since January 2014. He is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company and is a committee member of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Ko is an executive director of BC Technology Group
Limited (stock code: 863), which is listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ko has extensive experience in direct
investment, merger and acquisition, TMT (Technology, Media and
Telecom) and financial service.

Mr. Luo Ning, aged 63, has been an executive director of the
Company since October 2006 and a Deputy Chairman of the Board
of the Company since January 2014. Mr. Luo was a director of
Baiyin Nonferrous Group Co., Ltd. (stock code: 601212.ss), the
shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange in PRC.
Mr. Luo was also an executive director and a non-executive director
of CITIC Telecom International Holdings Limited (“CITIC Telecom”)
(stock code: 01883) from 26 April 2014 to 27 May 2019 and Lajin
Entertainment Network Group Limited (“Lajin”) (stock code: 8172)
from 23 November 2015 to 21 June 2019, respectively. Both the
shares of CITIC Telecom and Lajin are listed on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Luo was the chairman of CITIC Guoan
Information Industry Company Limited (stock code: 000839.sz),
the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). Mr. Luo has extensive
experience in telecommunication business and holds a Bachelor
Degree in Communication Speciality from The Wuhan People’s
Liberation Army Institute of Communication Command in the PRC.

Mr. Li Xiaopeng, aged 53, was appointed as an executive director
and the chief executive officer of the Company on 20 January 2022.
Mr. Li has 30 years of security, management, legal and investment
related experience, which covers many industries including security,
culture, investment and trade, and is the founder of DeWe Security
Service Group. He has worked in the Beijing Public Security Bureau,
Ministry of Public Security, Organising Committee for the Olympic
Games, Liaison Office of the Central People’'s Government in
Hong Kong and Macau. Mr. Li graduated from Department of Law,
Chinese People’s Public Security University and the Central Party
School of the CPC with a bachelor degree in law and a postgraduate
degree in administrative management respectively, and has taken
senior management courses at the University of lllinois at Urbana-
Champaign.

HITES
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry, aged 76, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since 2004. He is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee
of the Company, and a committee member of the Nomination
Committee and the Risk Committee of the Company. Mr. Yap holds
a Master Degree in Business Administration from the University of
Strathclyde, Glasgow, in the United Kingdom. He is a fellow member
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He has extensive experience in finance and accounting. He retired
as the managing director of Johnson Matthey Hong Kong Limited
in June 2007 and prior to that appointment he was the general
manager of Sun Hung Kai Development (China) Limited. He is also
an independent non-executive director of Concord New Energy
Group Limited (stock code: 182), which is listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, and Brockman Mining Limited, which is
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 159)
and the Australian Securities Exchange (stock code: BCK).

Mr. Cui Liguo, aged 52, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since June 2020. He is also
the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company, and a
member of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and
the risk committee of the Company. Mr. Cui is currently a founding
partner of Guantao Law Firm and the chairman of its management
committee. Mr. Cui has over 25 years of experience in legal sector,
and holds a position of independent non-executive director in
several companies, such as, CNNC International Limited (stock
code: 2302) and APT Satellite Holdings Limited (stock code: 1045),
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, China Coal Xinji Energy Co., Ltd.
(stock code: 601918) and Joincare Pharmaceutical Group Industry
Co., Ltd. (stock code: 600380), the shares of which are listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange in China, Essence Securities Co., Ltd.
and Beijing Life Insurance Co., Ltd.. Mr. Cui was an independent
non-executive director of China National Software & Service Co.,
Ltd. (stock code: 600536) until 11 May 2020, the shares of which
are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange in China. He is also a
member of the Finance & Securities Committee of All China Lawyers
Association. Mr. Cui graduated from the China University of Political
Science and Law with a bachelor degree in laws. He also holds a
master degree in laws from the same university.
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Mr. Hooi Hing Lee, aged 55, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on 28 October 2020. Mr. Hooi is also a
member of each of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Hooi has
over 30 years of experience in the finance industry. Mr. Hooi was
employed by National Australia Bank Limited in a variety of roles in
Australia and Hong Kong from January 1988 to June 2006 with his
last position as the head of corporate banking, North Asia. He also
served as a chief operating officer in Cushman & Wakefield Capital
Asia Limited from July 2006 to October 2008. For the period between
5 March 2008 to 6 October 2008, Mr. Hooi was a responsible officer
for regulated activities Type 1 (dealing in securities) and Type 6
(advising on corporate finance) of Cushman & Wakefield Capital
Asia (HK) Limited. He also served as a Country Chief Risk Officer of
Standard Chartered Bank (Taiwan) Limited from August 2010 to June
2013 respectively. In the year of 2013, Mr. Hooi founded a private
equity company, pH Capital Limited, where he currently acts as the
director.

Dr. Chan Wing Mui Helen, aged 63, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director on 21 October 2021. Dr. Chan
had worked in the Immigration Department of the Hong Kong
Government for 28 years and retired as an Assistant Director.
Immigration and IT experience aside, Dr. Chan has vast knowledge
in various fields acquired through a wide range of academic
endeavours. Graduating from the University of Hong Kong with a
Bachelor degree in Pure Science, Dr. Chan subsequently obtained
a Post-graduate Diploma in Management Studies and four Master
degrees in Information Systems Management, E-commerce,
Buddhism and Chinese Culture from various universities in Hong
Kong. She was conferred a doctoral degree in Chinese Criminal
Law in the Renmin University at Beijing. Dr. Chan received the
Immigration Distinguished Service Medal and the Chief Executive’s
Commendation for Public Service in 2008 and 2009 respectively for
her outstanding performances in the Immigration Department and
for public services. Dr. Chan is now serving as the Honorary Chief
Executive Officer of the Promoting Happiness Index Foundation,
the director of Salon Media Lab and Education Research Institute
in the Greater Bay Area and was also a member of the Community
Investment and Inclusion Fund committee of the Labour and Welfare
Bureau and a visiting lecturer in Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
Dr. Chan is currently an independent non-executive director of
Hailiang International Holdings Ltd (stock code: 2336), the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Hu Ping, aged 58, was appointed as the general manager of the
Middle East and North Africa region of the Group in June 2019. In
March 2021, he was appointed as the Acting Chief Executive Officer
of the Company and concurrently as the chairman of Kenya Phoenix
Aviation Limited, a principal subsidiary of the Group located in
Kenya. Dr. Hu has been re-designated from Acting Chief Executive
Officer to Chief Operating Officer of the Company since January
2022. From 1983 to 2013, he worked in the Institute of Geophysical
and Geochemical Exploration, Chinese Academy of Geological
Sciences, Ministry of Land and Resources, and successively served
as the director of the market development department, the general
manager of Hong Kong Engineering Geophysical Prospecting
Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the institute, and the deputy director of
the research institute. In April 2013, he served as Deputy General
Manager of CITIC Construction Co., Ltd., General Manager of
Energy and Mining Business Department and General Manager of
Africa Region. Since July 2019, he has been employed as a member
of the Advisory Committee of Overseas Geological Work Experts
of China Geological Survey. Dr. Hu graduated from the Department
of Geophysical Exploration of Chengdu Institute of Geology with a
bachelor’'s degree in 1983, and obtained a doctorate degree in Earth
Exploration and Information Technology (Engineering) from China
University of Geosciences (Beijing) in June 2005. Dr. Hu has nearly
40 years of experience in geophysical exploration of energy and
mineral resources, international engineering market development
and implementation management of large-scale engineering
projects.

Mr. Leung King Yu, Wilson, aged 49, has been the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company since July 2018, and he also acts as a
director for various subsidiaries in the Group. Mr. Leung has more
than 26 years of auditing, financial, accounting and advisory related
experience of which he spent 10 years working in Mainland China.
Prior to joining the Group, he worked at the audit and assurance
department of Ernst & Young, an international accounting firm, for
more than 17 years. He retired from the partnership at Ernst & Young
in September 2012. Afterwards, Mr. Leung worked as the Chief
Financial Officer for two other main board listed companies. His
experience covers a wide variety of industries including automotive,
telecommunication, property development, oil transportation,
logistic and manufacturing. He had extensive experience in merger
and acquisitions, initial public offerings, fund raising exercises
and group restructuring. Mr. Leung graduated from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. Uldarico Ard Peregrino Jr., aged 52, is the Chief Security Officer
of the Group and a director of various subsidiaries of the Company.
He has advised the corporate and national security level programs
in the industry since 1994, and has managed complex, global
integrated security and logistics programs in various capacities
over the past 20 years. Mr. Peregrino began his career as a United
States Marine. After completing his seven-plus years of service,
Mr. Peregrino entered the International Corporate Security industry,
quickly progressing to managing large VIP security operations
and developing critical training for close protection teams. He also
served as a local law enforcement officer where he was awarded
two “Valor Awards”. Among other certifications, Mr. Peregrino holds
one of the most respected Aviation Security Certification, the AVSEC
PMC certified by ICAO. He has published papers on many security
topics and has participated in the international arena as a featured
speaker for the corporate security industry and law enforcement.

Mr. Liu Zhigang, aged 49, has been the Head of the Southern
Africa Region and the Country Manager of the Democratic Republic
of the Congo (the “DRC”) for the Company since July 2018. Mr.
Liu is responsible for overseeing the Company’s business and
operations in Kenya, South Sudan, Uganda, Tanzania, Mozambique
and the DRC. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Liu served as
vice president and director of Weihai International Economic and
Technical Cooperation Co., Ltd. and the chairman of Zhengwei
Company in the DRC. Mr. Liu has extensive working experience
in handling overseas projects including project bidding, project
management and localized management and he is familiar with the
financing and business model for projects along the Belt and Road
Initiative. Mr. Liu has been working for more than ten years in the
DRC. He is familiar with the business environment in Africa and has
a good reputation among local political and business strategists.
Mr. Liu graduated from Qingdao University with a Bachelor of
Science degree and had studied at Central University of Finance
and Economics. Mr. Liu has also equipped with extensive financial
background.
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Mr. Su Bin, aged 42, is the Head of Group Insurance division,
focusing on the risk management and insurance solutions business
of the Group. Mr. Su has more than 16 years working experience
in risk management and insurance industry, offering tailor-made
insurance programs and integrated risk solutions for clients like
overseas projects and multinational enterprises. Before joining the
Group, he worked in line of Construction & Energy of JLT Insurance
Broker Co., which was a Jardine Matheson associate company. His
clients included many types like power generation, infrastructure, oil
and gas, renewable energy etc. in high-risk areas such as Southeast
Asia, Central Asia, Africa and South America. Mr. Su worked as
Assistant General Manager of the Captive Insurance Department of
Generali China, and Assistant General Manager of P&C Technical
Department of Jiangtai Insurance Broker Co. once before. He holds
Master Degree of Insurance (Central University of Finance and
Economics), Bachelor Degree of Economics (Beijing Commercial
College), ANZIIF (Fellow) CIP, and is a registered broker of China
Insurance Regulatory Commission.

Mr. Lv Chaohai, aged 58, used to be the Head of Northwest
Region. He was later appointed as the general manger of Frontier
Logistics (Shanghai) Co., Ltd, responsible to oversee the overall
logistics business. Prior to working with the Company, Mr. Lv was
vice president of Xinjiang Production and Construction Corporations
and the chairman of its international company, having extensive
overseas working experience in project operation, equipment
procurement as well as localisation, security, training, education and
employment of Chinese and foreign labor. Mr. Lv is a graduate of
Xi'an Jiaotong University and a certificate holder of senior engineer
and construction engineer.
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Ms. Cui Jiming, aged 56, is the Global Human Resources Director
of the Group, overseeing and operating human resources matters
across all of the offices and subsidiaries in Asia, Middle East and
Africa, creating and implementing human resource strategy of the
Group to transform the strategic objectives into the common goals
and actions of all employees. Previously, Ms. Cui served as Deputy
General Manager of CITIC construction Technology Center (Planning
& Design Institution), responsible for administration management,
human resources management, security management, social
responsibility management of Angola KK Housing Project, RED
Social Housing Project, Agricultural Development and Construction
Project, Geological Survey and other projects. Ms. Cui is a graduate
of Lanzhou Jiaotong University, holding a bachelor’s degree in
Industrial and Civil Construction and a master’s degree in Economic
Management, and a certificate holder of Senior Engineer, Senior
Project Manager and Corporate Trainer.

Mr. Wang Pengxu, aged 37, joined the Group in 2018 and is
presently the General Manager of Southwest Region and Country
Manager of Bangladesh. Mr. Wang previously worked as general
manager of CITIC Construction Beijing office, assistant general
manager and investment director of CITIC Endi Water Technology.
Mr. Wang graduated from Tsinghua University with a master’s degree
in water conservancy engineering, He also received a master’s
degree in finance from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business,
and holds the certificate of senior economist.
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The directors submit their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of Frontier Services Group Limited (the
“Company”) are investment holding and management. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 16
to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the performance of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) for the year by operating segments is set out in Note 5
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 95.

DIVIDENDS

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company does not
recommend the payment of any dividend (2020: Nil) for the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group as required by Schedule 5 to
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are set out in the Chairman’s
Statement and the Management Discussion and Analysis of this
annual report. The review forms part of the Report of the Directors.

Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
are provided in the paragraph below.

Detailed discussions on the Group’s environmental policies,
relationships with its key stakeholders, and compliance with relevant
laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group
are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of
this annual report. The discussions form part of the Report of the
Directors.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group is exposed to various risks, including factors that are
unique to the Group and the markets in which it operates, in addition
to those risks that are shared by most other businesses. The Group
has implemented a risk management and internal control framework
to identify current and foreseeable risks at different levels of the
Group in order to monitor and mitigate their adverse impacts.

The following discussion highlights the risks that are believed
to be most germane to the Group at this time. Any or all of the
Group’s business, financial status, operations, personnel, and
outlook may be adversely or, potentially, materially affected by the
identified risks. The scope of the risks influencing the Group may
exceed those presented herein, so the following is not intended
to be comprehensive. Rather, the list of risks may include in the
future unknown matters that ultimately have an impact, material or
otherwise, on the Group.

Geopolitical Environment — The Group’s core business is the
provision of logistics, security, insurance and infrastructure services
to customers operating across the Belt and Road region from South
East Asia to Africa. The Group’s target geographies include many
of the world’s emerging markets. However, the orderly transition
of elected leadership, especially within less developed countries,
has been challenged at times, creating localised political risk.
In addition, regional pockets of terrorism, often directed toward
governments and related agencies, can compound the geopolitical
risk inherent. Therefore, diversification, across end-markets,
service capabilities and operating locations, is the cornerstone of
the Group’s process to mitigate geopolitical risk. Like the military
coup happened in Myanmar in 2020, this resulted in many foreign
investors cancelled or aborted their investments there. Prolonged
delay on projects are expected. This will indirectly affect the
development of the Group’s businesses there. Fortunately, the
Group’s investment in Myanmar is very minimum.

Economic Environment — The Group employs a strategy of
diversification to hedge against cyclical downturns in geographic
regions and specific end-markets. Nevertheless, the Group’s
regional markets, writ large, have been and will continue to be
affected by commodity prices and balance-of-trade issues.

Compliance — Similar to the intrinsic geopolitical risk arising from
operating in Africa, corruption is found in fast-growing markets. The
Group rigorously adheres to all applicable anti-bribery statues of
various jurisdictions and offers a thorough anti-corruption training
program to all of its staff members to reduce the risk of corruption to
the business.
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Aviation — The Group has invested considerable resources into the
development of its aviation capabilities. The global aviation market
carries numerous inherent risks, from the safe operation of aircraft
to the evolution of local regulatory policies. The Group follows all
policies and procedures to ensure that its aviation operations are
fully compliant with the relevant civil aviation authority and that it
operates its fleet in the safest and most reliable manner.

Competition — The Group has endeavoured to be the first business
to bring a complete logistics, security, insurance and infrastructure
service solution to Belt and Road markets. Within its primary aviation
and logistics segment — air and ground - the Group faces strong
competition from existing vendors specialising in one or more of the
Group’s lines of service. The Group continually adapts its tactical
response to the ever-changing competitive landscape across its
target markets. Combining security services with logistics, aviation,
insurance and infrastructure offerings is a huge market differentiator.

Global Operations — The Group, headquartered in Hong Kong, now
conducts operations in three continents, Asia, Africa and Europe. As
a result, considerable ongoing coordination is required to manage
the business in the most effective manner across multiple time zones
and numerous geographies.

Financial — The Group operates across multiple jurisdictions and
conducts business in multiple foreign currencies. As such, the
Group is exposed to foreign exchange risks and even exchange
control. The Group monitors its cash position and overall near-and
medium-term liquidity on a weekly basis, and makes all necessary
adjustments to ensure that the business has a functioning capital
structure.

Strategy — The Group is fully committed to its strategic development
of an integrated logistics, security, insurance and infrastructure
service offering. The execution of this vision requires great
coordination among the Group’s operating businesses, in addition
to the cooperation of other potential partners. Further, the fulfillment
of the Group’s strategy may require the addition of new geographic
or service capabilities, either through greenfield investment or
corporate acquisition. While the Group proactively plans for these
potential requirements, there are no assurances that the required
investment opportunities will exist in the future.

Personnel — The Group’s success is ultimately determined by its
dedicated staff, and the ability to grow the business is predicated
on the Group’s ability to recruit, train, and retain highly qualified
personnel who share a passion for the corporate vision. The loss
of any key staff member or a failure to attract new personnel could
have a negative and potentially material effect on the Group and its
prospects.
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Highly Regulated Business — The Group is subject to a number
of national and local regulatory bodies by virtue of its global
operations. Failure to comply with any one of the applicable
regulatory regimes could have an adverse impact on the Group’s
operation. Consequently, the Group expends substantial resources
ensuring its businesses operate in a fully compliant manner, often
with the assistance of third-party service providers who specialise in
such matters.

Sanction Risks — The Group is subject to sanction risks imposed by
various bodies by virtue of its global business in frontier markets.
These sanction risks might impose restrictions to the Group’s
business and might have an adverse impact on the Group’s
operation. The Group has put in place various measures, including
but not limited to seeking external legal counsel’s advice and the
establishment of risk committee, to ensure these sanction risks
would not have a material impact on the Group’s operation. The Risk
Committee of the Company had also adopted a sanction policy and
terms of reference.

In 2021, the world economy had been hampered by outbreak of
Covid-19 pandemic and there was no exception to the Group’s
operation worldwide, except for the aviation business in Kenya, the
security business in Africa and the EPC project in Laos, which had
reported a significant improvement in revenue and operating result.
Other than that, the Group had been relatively sluggish or even
came to a standstill in pursuing and/or developing its projects in
Cambodia, Myanmar and Bangladesh during 2021. Nevertheless,
the Group will continue to monitor and assess its operations and/or
business activities in the countries where the Group may expose to
sanction risks.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND SHARE
AWARD

Details of the movements in the share capital, share options and
share award of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2021 are set out in Notes 28, 29 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

RESERVES

The Company’s distributable reserves as at 31 December
2021, which solely comprised contributed surplus, amounted to
HK$558,899,000 (2020: HK$558,899,000). Details of the movements
in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year
are set out in Note 32 and Note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.
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DONATIONS

Charitable and other donation made by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to HK$74,000 (2020:
HK$318,000).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”),
pursuant to which the Company may distribute dividends to the
shareholders of the Company by way of cash or shares. Any
distribution of dividends shall be in accordance with the Hong Kong
Laws, the bye-laws of the Company, the Bermuda Companies Act
1981 (as amended from time to time) and any other applicable laws,
rules and regulations.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to
the absolute discretion of the Board, and any declaration of dividend
will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders. In proposing any
dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account, inter alia:

o the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

o shareholders’ interests;

o retained earnings, distributable reserves and contributed
surplus of the Company and each of the other members of the
Group;

o the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity

and financial covenants to which the Group is subject;

o possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends or other covenants
on the Group’s financial ratios that may be imposed by the

Group’s financial creditors;

o the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

o liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend;
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o taxation considerations;

. statutory and regulatory restrictions;
o general business conditions and strategies;
o general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s

business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company; and

. other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is
no assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any
specific periods.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities, non-
controlling interests and shareholders’ equity of the Group for the
last five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements, is set out on page 232 of the Annual Report.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws or there is no restriction against such rights under the laws
of Bermuda.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company has not redeemed any of its listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2021. Neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2021 and up to the date of this report are:

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chang Zhenming (“Mr. Chang”)
Mr. Fei Yiping (“Mr. Fei”)
Mr. Chan Kai Kong (“Mr. Chan”)
(appointed on 28 February 2021)
Mr. Dorian Barak (“Mr. Barak”)
(appointed on 19 April 2021)
Mr. Zhang Yukuan (“Mr. Zhang”)
(appointed on 21 October 2021)
Mr. Zhang Yichen (resigned on 28 February 2021)

Executive Directors

Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson (“Mr. Ko”)
Mr. Luo Ning (“Mr. Luo”)
Mr. Li Xiaopeng (“Mr. Li")
(appointed on 20 January 2022)
Dr. Hua Dongyi (resigned on 10 March 2021)
Mr. Erik D. Prince
(resigned on 13 April 2021)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry (“Mr. Yap”)

Mr. Cui Liguo (“Mr. Cui”)

Mr. Hooi Hing Lee (“Mr. Hooi")

Dr. Chan Wing Mui, Helen (“Dr. Chan”)
(appointed on 21 October 2021)

Dr. Harold O. Demuren (retired on 15 May 2021)

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Luo, Mr. Li, Mr. Fei,
Mr. Zhang, Mr. Yap and Dr. Chan will retire by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from all independent non-executive directors and considers them
to be independent. Under the terms of their appointment, the
independent non-executive directors are appointed for a specific
term and are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the
Company'’s Bye-laws.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws and subject to the statues,
every director shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all costs, charges, expenses, losses and liabilities which
he may sustain or incur in the execution of his office or otherwise
in relation thereto. The Company has taken out and maintained
insurance against the liability and costs associated with defending
any proceedings which may be brought against the directors of the
Company. The level of coverage is reviewed annually.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company completed the issuance of convertible bonds
on 22 October 2021 with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$210,000,000 to five different subscribers, which are convertible
into 210,000,000 shares of the Company at a conversion price of
HK$1.00 per share upon full conversion. Details of the Company’s
convertible bonds during the year are set out in Note 26(b) to the
consolidation financial statements.

Save as disclosed above and other than the share option scheme
and the share award scheme of the Company as set out in Notes 29
and 30 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively and the
preference shares issued by DVN (Group) Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as set out in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will
or may result in the Company issuing shares entered into by the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2021 or subsisted as
at 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions are set out in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements. The related party transactions set
out in Note 37(a) to the consolidated financial statements constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However, these
transactions are fully exempt from any disclosure requirements as
the aggregate amount of these transactions is below the de minimis
threshold under Rule 14A.76(1).

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended
31 December 2021.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 58 to 67 of the
Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

At 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the
directors in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or
its associated corporations, as defined in Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) and as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”), were as follows:
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Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company REQATDABROREBRO ZFR
Number of
underlying
shares held
Number of ordinary shares held gyl % of the
FEERER#E RO#E issued share
Personal Family Corporate Personal capital of the
Name of director interests interests interests Total interests Grand total Company
ERARE BT
EEp4R BAAER E4T AR R o B AR FoHY BRABD
Mr. Ko - 2,040,816 268,776,719 270,817,535 - 270,817,535 11.55%
BLE (Note (i) (Note (ii))
(Hiz) (Wi (i)
Mr. Barak - 250,000 - 250,000 - 250,000 0.01%
Barak %4 (Note (iii)
(Hiez (i)
Notes: et -
0) These shares were held by the spouse of Mr. Ko. (i) ZERDBESEEZRBIFE ©

(i) This represents:

(a) the deemed interests of Mr. Ko in the 48,276,719 ordinary shares
of the Company held by First Gain International Limited under
the SFO by virtue of his interests in First Gain International
Limited;

(b) the deemed interests of Mr. Ko in the 175,500,000 ordinary
shares of the Company held by Rich Hill Capital Limited under
the SFO by virtue of his interests in Rich Hill Capital Limited; and

(c) the deemed interests of Mr. Ko in the 45,000,000 ordinary shares
of the Company held by Greater Harmony Limited under the SFO
by virtue of his interests in Greater Harmony Limited.

(i)~ These shares were held by the spouse of Mr. Barak.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2021, none of the
directors had any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations which had been recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

(i)  ZEFIE -

(a) WBEFHFEHAEHKEN  ARSTERFirst
Gain International Limited 2 #x§ + e 1R
& A First Gain International Limited #F
B2 48,276, 719 AN R BB 2 %

(b) BEFBHFRBEGEN R EER
Rich Hill Capital Limited = # 2§ » # #
5% {E #E 5 Rich Hill Capital Limited## 8 2
175,500,000 IR AR B iR 2 a0 &

(c) BEBHRERBMEKDH BRBEER
Greater Harmony Limited 2 #2 » I8
{E ¥ 7 Greater Harmony Limited # & ~
45,000,000 A A2 &) % @A 2 #E A o

(i) ZFMKA h Barak e £ 2 RBRE °

BEXHREEN KRB —E+-A=+—
B - A AR A A A A2 IR £
SARRIR (9 R A A R AR IR 4 T 158
352 (ETFE 2 B2 s ske - AR
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed in the section titled “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS” above
and in the share options disclosed in Note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the
Company granted to any director or their respective spouse or
minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

At 31 December 2021, other than the interests and short positions of
the directors or chief executive of the Company as disclosed in the
section titled “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS” above, the following interests of 5%
or more of the issued share capital of the Company were recorded
in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

E=WERG 2ER

B EX [EERA R R SHAEFREEE RN & HE
BBy 2 HEm MR R | — B TR EE RAR A TS
MR 29FIRE 2 BIRESN  EAEELRE
F5 B ZEEBRF T BN F R
ERTAEBALRGROMER 2 - THE
TTREAERIZ BN o AR RE (T E R B IR
B2 AR BEESARGEMNE M
EEZ RSN o

FERRRHEMALTRARD 2R

RZEZ—F+-A=+—H BLEX[&EF®
AR B SR AREOEE R MARR R 2 s K
KR —HPRBZARTEEREIRITRA
BZREZIXRIN BREARRZRES AR
WGP 336 EFEZ R E LML HEAR
A BEITRARE% A L2 m 2 T ERRRE
B AL :

Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company REQXTRAREBERGZHE
Number of Number of
underlying underlying
Number of ordinary shares held shares held  shares held
gl gzl
FEEERY A RHHE ROHE
% of the
Direct Through Direct Through issued share
beneficially controlled Beneficially controlled capital of
Name owned corporations Total owned corporations  Grand total the Company
BRLE
BRITRE
£ ERRENEE BBXELT ax EHREEER EBBXELF ast ARl
Easy Flow Investments Limited 607,592,607 - 607,592,607 - - 607,592,607 25.91%
BHRERRAT
CITIC Investment (HK) Limited - 607,592,607 607,592,607 - - 607,592,607 25.91%
MEREEE (BB)ARAA (Note (i)
(W ()
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Name

1

CITIC Corporation Limited
hEPERRAR

CITIC Limited
PEFERDERAA

CITIC Group Corporation
hEPEEEERAT

CITIC Capital MB Investment Limited

CITIC GL Limited

CITIC Capital Holdings Limited
MEERERERAT

Trinity Gate Limited

Timeness Vision Limited

Teng Rongsong
BRI

Rich Hill Capital Limited

Number of ordinary shares held

Number of Number of
underlying underlying
shares held  shares held

Fris e Fri e

FsEEREE gk 4= R &8
Direct Through Direct Through
beneficially controlled Beneficially controlled
owned corporations Total owned corporations
EREREF BAZEAT & EREZER BEIELT
- 607,592,607 607,592,607 - -

(Note (ii))

(W(iy)
- 607,592,607 607,592,607 - -

(Note (i)

(et (i)
- 607,592,607 607,592,607 - -

(Note (iv))

(Wit ()
94,920,000 - 94,920,000 - 100,000,000
- - - 100,000,000 -

(Note (v))
(Hzm)
- 94,920,000 94,920,000 - 100,000,000
(Note (vi)) (Note vi)
(B ) Bz )

175,399,571 - 175,399,571 - -
- 175399571 175,399,571 - -

(Note (vii)

(Bst (i)
- 175399571 175,399,571 - -

(Note (viii))

(HiE (viij)
175,500,000 - 175,500,000 - -

Grand total

it

607,592,607

607,592,607

607,592,607

194,920,000

100,000,000

194,920,000

175,399,671

175,399,671

175,399,671

175,500,000
(Note (ix)
(Wit (ix)

Annual Report 2021 %

% of the
issued share
capital of
the Company
HERE
BRTRE
BAk

25.91%

25.91%

25.91%

8.31%

4.26%

8.31%

7.48%

7.48%

7.48%

7.48%
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Number of Number of
underlying underlying
Number of ordinary shares held shares held  shares held
gl gzl
fisEERY A gk 4= gk 4=
% of the
Direct Through Direct Through issued share
beneficially controlled Beneficially controlled capital of
Name owned corporations Total owned corporations  Grand total the Company
EARR
BRIRAE
B HERGHA BBILNR #x ERERES EBILNN @zt ERa
Taiping Trustees Limited 160,000,000 - 160,000,000 - - 160,000,000 6.82%
AFERBRAT
Taiping Financial Holdings Company Limited - 160,000,000 160,000,000 - - 160,000,000 6.82%
ATERERERAR (Note (x))
(Wit (y)
China Taiping Insurance Holdings Company Limited - 160,000,000 160,000,000 - - 160,000,000 6.82%
PEATRBERERAF (Note (xi))
(Wi (x)
Mr. Li - - - 230,769,228 - 230,769,228 9.84%
Tk (Note (x))
(Wtx)
Notes: Biat -

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

CITIC Investment (HK) Limited is deemed to be interested in the
607,592,607 ordinary shares of the Company held by Easy Flow
Investments Limited under the SFO by virtue of its interests in Easy
Flow Investments Limited.

CITIC Corporation Limited is deemed to be interested in the
607,592,607 ordinary shares of the Company held by Easy Flow
Investments Limited under the SFO by virtue of its interests in CITIC
Investment (HK) Limited.

CITIC Limited is deemed to be interested in the 607,592,607 ordinary
shares of the Company held by Easy Flow Investments Limited under
the SFO by virtue of its interests in CITIC Corporation Limited.

CITIC Group Corporation is deemed to be interested in the 607,592,607
ordinary shares of the Company held by Easy Flow Investments Limited
under the SFO by virtue of its interests in CITIC Limited. Mr. Luo Ning,
a deputy chairman and an executive director of the Company, is an
employee of CITIC Group Corporation.
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(v)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

()

(i)

(x)

CITIC Capital MB Investment Limited is deemed to be interested in the
100,000,000 underlying ordinary shares of the Company held by CC GL
Limited under the SFO by virtue of its interests in CC GL Limited.

CITIC Capital Holdings Limited has control over CITIC Capital MB
Investment Limited, which in turn has direct and indirect controls of
94,920,000 ordinary shares and 100,000,000 underlying ordinary
shares of the Company, respectively. CITIC Capital Holdings Limited is
deemed to be interested in the ordinary shares and underlying ordinary
shares of the Company under the SFO by virtue of its interests in CITIC
Capital MB Investment Limited.

Timeness Vision Limited is deemed to be interested in the 175,399,571
ordinary shares of the Company held by Trinity Gate Limited under the
SFO by virtue of its interests in Trinity Gate Limited.

Mr. Teng Rongsong is deemed to be interested in the 175,399,571
ordinary shares held by Trinity Gate Limited by virtue of its interests in
Timeness Vision Limited.

Mr. Ko is deemed to be interested in the 175,500,000 shares of the
Company held by Rich Hill Capital Limited under the SFO by virtue of
his interests in Rich Hill Capital Limited. Such interest forms a part of
the corporate interests in the ordinary shares of the Company interested
by Mr. Ko as set out in the section titled “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS” above. Mr. Ko is a
director of Rich Hill Capital Limited.

Taiping Financial Holdings Company Limited is deemed to be
interested in the 160,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company held
by Taiping Trustees Limited under the SFO by virtue of its interests in
Taiping Trustees Limited.

China Taiping Insurance Holdings Company Limited is deemed to be
interested in the 160,000,000 ordinary shares held by Taiping Trustees
Limited by virtue of its interests in Taiping Financial Holdings Company
Limited.

These interests are the deferred consideration shares of up to
230,769,228 new shares of the Company which shall be issued to
Mr. Li subject to the fulfiiment of certain conditions, details of which
are disclosed in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
Subsequent to 31 December 2021, Mr. Li was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company on 20 January 2022.

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

BIEEH KB EKH - BH RCITIC Capital
MB Investment Limited#¥ 75 CC GL Limited 2 #&
% MU R EHE B CC GL Limited# B 2 AR 7
100,000,000 % A8 R#E & ik < s ©

FEEARERAR AR ZEGCITIC Capital MB
Investment Limited * M CITIC Capital MB
Investment Limited Il 5 Bl & & & B #12 §1 AR A &)
94,920,000 % & 3@ A% & 100,000,000 fix 18 @ &% i@
i o RIEZBHRBEED - BRPEERERER
AF)$F A CITIC Capital MB Investment Limited 2

R B A AR E B KA E B

BIEFE S K E KA - & R Timeness Vision
Limited 4 £ Trinity Gate Limited 2 # 2§ #&
¥ 18 1F % B Trinity Gate Limited3% & 2 &K 2 7
175,399,571 R E @R 2 # 4w o

A A A SR A 35 Timeness Vision Limited 2 1
I AR ERE A Trinity Gate Limited 58 2 AR
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BIEFH R EEGEH - B & 5% % ARich Hill
Capital Limited 2 # % + # 1% 18 & # A& Rich Hill
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M2 ZERREX EX [ EFRARANE
IEESEER G RIEERG 2= RKE | —8R
I BAERBARRE BB ARIERZ — I
13 » 44 A Rich Hill Capital Limited 2 &% -
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ZHERS
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, no other person
(other than the directors or chief executive of the Company whose
interests are set out in the section titled “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS”
above) had registered an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company that was required to be recorded
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 33% (2020: 37%) of the total sales
for the year ended 31 December 2021 and sales to the largest
customer included therein amounted to approximately 8% (2020:
13%). Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 20% (2020: 15%) of the total purchases for the
year ended 31 December 2021 and purchases from the largest
supplier included therein amounted to approximately 9% (2020: 4%).

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors,
own 5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its directors, the directors confirmed that the
Company has maintained at least 25% public float during the year
as required under the Listing Rules.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group did not
have any material events occurred other than those disclosed in
Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR = E R

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by OB EHMEEZEATHHRE
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer EmEiR  YHEERBBENARREERER
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general FRGERET -

meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board REREEE

Ko Chun Shun, Johnson = iRIE

Director EFE

Hong Kong, 30 March 2022 5% ZTZZF=A=+H
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF FRONTIER SERVICES GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Frontier Services Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 95 to 231, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. The key
audit matters identified in our audit are related to purchase price
allocation and contingent consideration for the acquisition of DeWe
Security Limited and its subsidiaries and impairment assessment of
intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of the Aviation and Logistics Business segment.
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Key Audit Matter

Purchase price allocation and contingent
consideration for the acquisition of DeWe
Security Limited and its subsidiaries

Refer to Note 4 (Critical accounting estimates
and judgments), Note 15 (Goodwill and
other intangibles) and Note 34 (Business
combination and disposal of subsidiaries) to
the consolidated financial statements

On 22 October 2021, the Group completed
the acquisition of 100% equity interest in
DeWe Security Limited and its subsidiaries
(together, the “DeWe Group”), a group of
entities principally engaged in the provision of
security and guarding services and healthcare
services (the “Acquisition”). Management
has engaged an independent qualified
valuer to assist them in identifying intangible
assets and to perform the valuations of the
identified assets and liabilities of the acquired
companies at the acquisition date and, based
on which, management performed a purchase
price allocation exercise for the Acquisition,
which resulted in recognition of intangible
assets of HK$80,831,000, mainly representing
the identified customer relationship and order
backlog. Goodwill of HK$238,525,000, being
the excess of considerations transferred
over the fair value of identified net assets
acquired, and contingent consideration of
HK$135,055,000, being the amount calculated
with reference to the probability-adjusted
profit of the target group of companies, were
recognised.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

Our procedures in relation to the accounting
for the Acquisition included the following:

We obtained an understanding of the
management’s internal control on the
preparation of cash flow projection and
assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and level of other
inherent risk factors such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud.

We assessed the competency, objectivity and
independence of the external valuer engaged
by management.

We obtained the valuation report in relation
to the purchase price allocation and the
contingent consideration for the Acquisition,
and engaged our in-house valuation experts
to assess the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies adopted by management and
the reasonableness of discount rates used by
management.

We challenged and assessed the
reasonableness of the key assumptions
in determining the fair value of identified
intangible assets and the contingent
consideration including various scenarios of
achievement of net profit targets, based on
historical performance and approved budget,
with the involvement of our inhouse valuation
experts.

We evaluated the reasonableness of the
sensitivity analysis performed by management
on the key assumptions to understand the
impact of reasonable changes in assumptions
on the identified intangible assets and
contingent consideration.
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Key Audit Matter

Significant judgments and estimates were
involved in the fair value assessment of the
identified intangible assets and contingent
consideration arising from the Acquisition.
These significant judgments and estimates
include the adoption of appropriate valuation
methodologies and the use of key assumptions
in the valuation (mainly annual revenue growth
rate, discount rates, attrition rate of customer
relationship, expected useful lives of order
backlog and probability of various scenarios
of achievement of net profit targets used for
the calculation of contingent consideration),
which are subject to high degree of estimation
uncertainty.

We focused on the purchase price
allocation for the Acquisition and contingent
consideration because the estimation of
fair value of intangible assets identified and
contingent consideration is subject to high
degree of estimation uncertainty. The inherent
risk in relation to the assessment is considered
significant due to significant judgments
involved in assumptions used in the valuation
model.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

We checked the mathematical accuracy
of the calculations of the fair value of the
identified intangible assets and contingent
consideration.

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
related to the Acquisition in the context of the
applicable financial reporting framework.

We also considered whether the judgments
made in selecting the methods, assumptions
used in the cash flow forecasts would give rise
to indicators of possible management bias.

Based on the procedures performed, we
considered that the estimation of fair value
of intangible assets identified and contingent
consideration in relation to the Acquisition was
supported by the available evidence.
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Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets of the Aviation and
Logistics Business segment (“AL Business
Segment”)

Refer to Note 4 (Critical accounting estimates
and judgments), Note 13 (Property, plant
and equipment), Note 14 (Leases) and Note
15 (Gooawill and other intangibles) to the
consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s AL
Business Segment owned intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets before impairment amounted
to HK$5,306,000, HK$49,710,000 and
HK$100,719,000, respectively. These assets
require an impairment assessment if an
impairment indicator is identified.

The AL Business Segment has been loss
making since 2013 and recorded an operating
loss of HK$46,704,000 for the year ended
31 December 2021. This represented an
impairment indicator for the relevant intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets.

Management performed an impairment
assessment in respect of the intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of each AL Business Segment related
CGU using the value-in-use method which
involved significant judgment in determining
the assumptions used in the calculations. The
key assumptions include:

U gross margin percentage
g annual revenue growth rate;
U terminal growth rate; and

. discount rate.

B ZBERE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

Our procedures in relation to management's
impairment assessment of intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of the AL Business Segment included
the following:

We obtained an understanding of the
management’s internal control and impairment
assessment process of intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of
other inherent risk factors such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud.

We evaluated and challenged the composition
of management's future cash flow forecasts
used in their value-in-use calculations, and the
process by which they were prepared.

We compared the current year actual results
with the amounts included in the prior year
cash flow forecast to consider the quality of
management's forecasting, and we checked
that management had considered the current
year actual results in the preparation of
this year's forecasts. We also inquired of
management to understand the reasons for the
deviation of the actual results for the current
year from prior year forecast, comparing the
explanations to our market knowledge and
expectations, and checked that the relevant
factors had been taken into account in this
year's forecasts.
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Key Audit Matter

In relation to the impairment assessment
of intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets in each AL
Business Segment related CGU, management
determined the recoverable amounts as the
higher of value-in-use and fair value less
costs of disposal, which was calculated by
benchmarking against the price quotation of a
comparable model in the second-hand market
or price quotation provided by independent
buyer. The fair value less costs of disposal
of intangible assets was considered not
measurable.

A provision for impairment of HK$2,029,000,
HK$5,389,000 and HK$10,342,000 was
made for the intangible assets, property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets,
respectively, for the year ended 31 December
2021, in which the recoverable amounts of
these assets were determined as the higher
of value-in-use and fair value less costs of
disposal.

We focused on the impairment assessment
of intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of the AL
Business Segment because the estimation of
recoverable amounts of the CGUs is subject
to high degree of estimation uncertainty. The
inherent risk in relation to the impairment
assessment is considered significant due to
significant judgments involved in assumptions
used in the calculation of value-in-use as well
as the judgment required to identify suitable
market comparable data to determine the fair
value less costs of disposal of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

The procedures we performed over
management’s key assumptions used in the
cash flow forecasts included:

. comparing gross margin percentage
and annual revenue growth rate to
historical actual figures;

. benchmarking the terminal growth
rate against industry forecasts; and

. benchmarking the discount rate
against our research on the discount
rate for comparable companies.

We evaluated sensitivity analysis performed
by management around the key assumptions
by calculating the degree to which these
assumptions would need to change to trigger
further material impairment. We determined
that the calculation was most sensitive to the
gross margin percentage annual revenue
growth rate, terminal growth rate and discount
rate assumptions, and we discussed and
challenged management’s view on the
likelihood of such a change in the growth rates
and discount rate.

In relation to the fair value less costs of
disposal of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, we checked, on a
sample basis, the market price quotations for
comparable property, plant and equipment
or the price quotations from potential buyer
of certain dismantled parts identified by
management to the relevant source. We
also compared, on a sample basis, the key
specifications, including the model, year of
manufacture, equipment and modifications
of the comparable property, plant and
equipment with those owned by the Group to
assess the suitability of the comparison. We
also performed our own internet search, on
a sample basis, on the fair value less costs
of disposal of similar property, plant and
equipment.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
related to the impairment assessment
of intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets in the
context of the applicable financial reporting
framework.

We also considered whether the judgments
made in selecting the methods, assumptions
used in the calculation of value-in-use and
market comparable data used to determine the
fair value less costs of disposal of intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets would give rise to
indicators of possible management bias.

Based on the procedures performed, we
considered that the impairment assessment
of intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of the AL
Business Segment was appropriate and the
methods, assumptions used in the calculation
of value-in-use and market comparable data
used in the impairment assessment were
supported by available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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/ The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Kong Ling Yin, Raymond.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

e W R

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-F-_-—F+-A=1+—"HLHFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
et FET FET
Revenue from contracts with customers REZFEA 42 WA 6 756,123 605,246
Cost of direct materials and job expenses BE#EM A E B K TIEF X (248,400) (152,467)
Cost of aircraft management services — R#&E 1% RSB AN - (81,520)
Data costs HUE KA (6,073) (5,907)
Employee benefit expenses EERFAHAX 7 (242,431) (238,984)
Sub-contracting charges NEER (197,948) (166,942)
Rental expenses HeEH 10 (12,562) (12,692)
Repair and maintenance costs HERRSER (14,223) (21,694)
Depreciation and amortisation ree ey 10, 13, 14 & 15 (49,684) (53,569)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARZER 34(b) - (486)
Other operating expenses HithEiEEA 10 (67,048) (72,105)
Other income and other gains, net E YA R E A 5 F 5 10 8,335 4,263
Provision for impairment of property, ME  MBEREREUARE
plant and equipment and right-of- BREEZRERE
use assets 13 & 14 (15,731) -
Provision for impairment of other HEh R E E 2 B ERE
intangibles 16 (2,029) -
Impairment losses on financial assets & & E 2 FEEE 21822 (30,866) (14,266)
Operating loss LEEE (122,537) (211,123)
Interest income B WA 2,033 3,702
Finance costs & KA 8 (15,231) (19,485)
Share of profits/(losses) of associates fE/EEE AT N —HA &
and a joint venture, net ARlwA(E8) 38 17 3,344 (2,478)
Provision for impairment of asset held- F{EHEEE 7 MERE
for-sale 31 (10,396) -
Provision for impairment of interest in A —ME#t & AR 2w 2
an associate AR 17 - (8,693)
Loss before income tax & P15 %5 mil 5 18 (142,787) (238,077)
Income tax (expense)/credit FIE# (AR e 9 (14,392) 9,491
LOSS FOR THE YEAR EEEE 10 (157,179) (228,586)
Attributable to: LA FEAh
Equity holders of the Company RAGIREREA 32 (159,699) (228,029)
Non-controlling interests eI 2,520 (557)
(157,179) (228,586)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE EATREFEAELE
TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE BREE
COMPANY
Basic and diluted loss per share FREAREEER 11 (6.81) cents (9.72) cents




merZHEWaER

or the year ended 31 December 2021
(B E - —F+-_HA=1T—HItFE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2021 2020
—E=-—F —TTF
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FET
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEEBS (157,179) (228,586)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hib 2 (FE)
ltems that have been reclassified or may be BEEFHENAREREFHE
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss EE=CIER
Foreign exchange differences P& X Z=%8 (4,598) 3,275
Release of exchange reserve upon & B B N ) B 185 [B] B 3,
disposal of subsidiaries ] - 1,591
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the FEEME2E (EB) k=
year, net of tax (Br#i12) (4,598) 4,866
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE FETEEBEAE
YEAR (161,777) (223,720)
Attributable to: AT PG :
Equity holders of the Company RATREREA (164,310) (223,141)
Non-controlling interests FEEAR 2,533 (579)
(161,777) (223,720)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI &

As at 31 December 2021
RZZE=——F+=-A=+—H

2021 2020
—E=-—-F —TTF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FET FBT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - MBS RE 13 54,032 75,929
Right-of-use assets FRAREE 14 139,674 144,421
Goodwill and other intangibles HENEMERLEE 15 319,985 7,646
Interests in associates AN /NEC] v e 17(a) 44,373 39,401
Interest in a joint venture NN YNCIp 17(d) - 983
Deferred income tax assets BIEFTSMEE 18 6,245 17,635
Non-current prepayments JEBNHATE S 3R 19 45,760 54,917
Financial assets at fair value through R AR EEBEBEHM T E
other comprehensive income W Rz e mMEE 5 4
Total non-current assets FRBEERE 610,074 340,936
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 20 4,724 3,216
Trade and bills receivables B 5 W GRIA & Uk ZE ik 21 195,586 155,460
Prepayments, deposits and other TR e REMmEY
receivables E Q=] 22 75,466 110,485
Contract assets BHEE 6(b) 11,957 =
Tax receivables & U F T8 1,102 1,041
Cash and cash equivalents RENBESEED 23 267,431 318,681
556,266 588,883
Assets held-for-sale FIEHEBE 31 7,133 10,099
Total current assets mENEEREAE 563,399 598,982
Total assets BEHE 1,173,473 939,918
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEME
Trade payables B 5N HRIB 24 69,646 60,223
Other payables and accruals HibfE AR EER 25 119,316 91,012
Contract liabilities GREE 6(b) 34,158 4,725
Borrowings B3 26 21,439 18,443
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 30,821 54,584
Tax payables FEA B TE 6,875 103
Total current liabilities mEB B ERTE 282,255 229,090
Net current assets MBEEFE 281,144 369,892




, CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
iR M AR &

s at 31 December 2021
RN —F+=-A=+—H

2020
—E=-—F —TTF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HiaF FET FET
Total assets less current liabilities BEABRTBSERE 891,218 710,828
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEME
Lease liabilities HE&aE 14 34,407 51,436
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFBHEE 18 43,766 32,708
Contingent consideration payable FERT S ARIE 34(a) 135,055 =
Borrowings B 26 172,840 -
Total non-current liabilities ERBBEESE 386,068 84,144
Total liabilities BEERE 668,323 313,234
Net assets EEFE 505,150 626,684
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to the Company’s  ANA Gk B A FE(G 1
equity holders =
Share capital &N 28 234,482 234,482
Reserves i 32 150,157 274,184
384,639 508,666
Non-controlling interests FEE AR A 2 33 120,511 118,018
Total equity B 505,150 626,684
The consolidated financial statements on pages 95 to 231 were FOSEEF 231 ENGRAUERREREETEZRN
approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2022 and were TR FZA=1+A#ER UIRREFEEE -

signed on its behalf.

Ko Chun Shun, Johnson Luo Ning
= i IE E=
Director Director

EZE EF




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEZRBER

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE T —#+-_A=+—HItFEE

Attributable to equity holders of the

Company
RARERRFAAEN
Non-
Share controlling Total
capital Reserves Total interests equity
(L& G mE EERER ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
T FET & FET FET
At 1 January 2020 R-ZZE-ZH—-H—H 234,482 484,256 718,738 124,875 843,613
Loss for the year FEEE = (228,029) (228,029) (557) (228,586)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hit2EE ~ (FiE)
Foreign exchange differences BN E5E - 3,297 3,297 (22) 3,275
Release of exchange reserve upon & Bt B 2 7] A5 # O i,
disposal of subsidiaries &M (M7 34(b))
(Note 34(b)) - 1,591 1,591 - 1,591
Other comprehensive income/(loss) & &t 2wz, (&
for the year, net of tax 18) (BR#E) = 4,888 4,888 (22) 4,866
Total comprehensive loss for the FEEABELHE
year - (223,141) (223,141) (579) (223,720)
Transactions with equity holders HEHERIEEAZRS
Share-based compensation LARR D 215 2 Fo B - 6,106 6,106 = 6,106
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBRAR
(Notes 32(v) and 34(b)) (HfE32(v) F134(b)) = 6,963 6,963 = 6,963
Capital injection from non- KE—RWB A RIFEIER
controlling interest of a BmrTE
subsidiary - - - 45 45
Derecognition of non-controlling HEM B A R B EUHRE
interests upon disposal of RIEERAE = (52
subsidiaries (Note 34(b)) 34(b)) = = - (6,323) (6,323)
- 13,069 13,069 (6,278) 6,791
R-B=2F
At 31 December 2020 +=A=+—H 234,482 274,184 508,666 118,018 626,684




; CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

N
mEeEREEH X
or the year ended 31 December 2021
BB —F+-_A=+—RHIFE

Attributable to equity holders of the
Company

AT EEEE AEML
Non-
Share controlling Total
capital Reserves Total interests equity
i 7% e It FERER R
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FHET FET

At 1 January 2021 R=-B=—%—H—H 234,482 274,184 508,666 118,018 626,684
Loss for the year FEEE - (159,699) (159,699) 2,520 (157,179)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Eft2EUkz  (BE)
Foreign exchange differences fE N =% - (4,611) (4,611) 13 (4,598)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income & H 2 H (EiE) /

for the year, net of tax Wiz (BREEE) - (4,611) (4,611) 13 (4,598)
Total comprehensive loss for the FEXHABELRE

year - (164,310)  (164,310) 2,533 (161,777)
Transactions with equity holders EEEREFEEAZRS
Issue of convertible bonds BT RRESR

(Note 26(b)) (Bf:£26(b)) - 40,283 40,283 - 40,283
Acquisition of non-controlling WE—RHE T2

interests of a subsidiary JEIE R RS - - - (40) (40)

- 40,283 40,283 (40) 40,243
R-ZB=—F

At 31 December 2021 +=BA=+—H 234,482 150,157 384,639 120,511 505,150




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE_Z-_—F+-_A=t+—HIEE

2021 2020
—E-—f —ERTF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
et FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RELETEHZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Cash used in operations CEMACES 35 (17,720) (158,774)
Income tax paid EETEH (4,604) (333)
Net cash used in operating activities — &&EEFMA 2 H 4 FE (22,324) (159,107)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RERETH2HERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and BB  HEREE
equipment 13 (12,497) (14,801)
Purchase of aircraft equipment for PR E LB B R
aircraft under lease arrangement B (1,113) -
Prepayment for purchase of property, FEEWE KB KR
plant and equipment and payment BNRBERREE L
for purchase of land-use-rights 15 AR 3K 19 (20,684) =
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME « BEBRERE
plant and equipment S 30E 35(i) 7,116 356
Proceeds from disposal of assets HERIEHEEEMGSHE
held-for-sale - 6,182
Proceeds from disposal of & T A B B
subsidiaries, net of cash and HUEBRN R KReE
cash equivalents derecognised at EBYMERE
disposal 34(b) - 1,634
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash WEMB AR - {1k KEE
and cash equivalents recognised at RZBERIBEEEY
acquisition 34(a) (171,213) -
Loan to an associate AR & D EREER - (2,926)
Capital contribution to associates and A& AR R—KA & AT
a joint venture rE 17 17) (2,236)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due FEWEE L AT N — KL
from associates and a joint venture RAFERD /() 2,706 (847)
Increase in amount due to an FERT— B A R IEE M
associate - 38,804
Interest received B U FI & 2,033 12,997
Proceeds from disposal of other HEHEMEREEMBSRKE
intangible 1,000 -
Net cash (used in)/generated from REES () Bz
investing activities R&FE (192,669) 39,163




; CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
R EBRERER

or the year ended 31 December 2021
T F+ZA=t+—HILEFE

2021 2020
—E-—f —ERTF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
HtaF FET FHEIL
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REBMETHZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest paid [SAREESE (15,231) (18,720)
Proceeds from issue of convertible BITA R RERFESHIE
bonds 26(b) 210,000 -
Decrease in pledged bank deposits BEERRTEITRD - 105,768
Decrease in restricted cash XRAHIR R - 7,090
Capital contribution from non- —RMB R AR ER 2
controlling interest of a subsidiary FE 33 - 45
Acquisition of non-controlling interest  WE—FRWBA
of a subsidiary FEFE R &3 (40) -
Repayment of other loan BEEMER 26(c) - (134)
Net drawdown of bank loans and bank 12ERITERRFTRZE
advances of discounted bills RITBFFE 26(c) 3,643 14,421
Repayment of principal elements of EEMERRZ AL IR
lease liabilities 26(c) (37,574) (26,668)
Net cash generated from financing ME TSRS FE
activities 160,798 81,802
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH B2 RBELZEBYN 2R
EQUIVALENTS B (54,195) (38,142)
Cash and cash equivalents at FRNzRERRAEEEY
beginning of the year 318,681 353,503
Exchange differences fE N =88 2,945 3,320
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S# BEERELZEY
END OF THE YEAR 23 267,431 318,681




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Frontier Services Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The address of its
principal place of business is Suite 3902, 39th Floor, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong.
The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of aviation, logistics,
security, insurance and infrastructure related services, and the
provision of online financial market information. The Company
is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (HK$’000), unless otherwise stated.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved
for issue by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the
Company on 30 March 2022.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), a collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). These consolidated
financial statements comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
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, NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

’/ 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTBRREE#RE)

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (continued) 21 mPEEE)
The consolidated financial statements have been RGBTSR B IR B LR AN KA AR
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for (i) certain g2 EORANEBEIENE TS
financial assets and liabilities, which are carried at BEERBBER()VZAABERD
fair value and (ii) the assets held-for-sale which are ENAFTENIFIELEEERI -
measured at fair value less costs to sell. The preparation REREBRBMBRELEN ZERE
of the consolidated financial statements in conformity M REREEFERAE TERS G
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical B R EEREECREALASES
accounting estimates. It also requires management AT ZBEPIEL HIE - P RAE
to exercise its judgment in the process of applying EHEZHE N BE ol - X
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving R R E AR A M B mEmE B
a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas BEEBRNE4RHE -

where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note

4.
Impact of new, amended and revised HKFRSs Fral - 15T RAEIEGT BB BEHRE
EEZRE
In the current year, the Group has adopted all the AEBEREAFERR=ZZE=—F
following amendments to standards for the first time for — A —BARBE B & RN
the accounting period beginning on 1 January 2021: TAHEERZ18E] :
Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent BEMBREES HEEREER
Concession £16R 2185 EBRRERE
Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark BESHEAER - FEREE
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, Reform - Phase 2 BB BRE%ER YE—F2H
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16 F4% - BEYK
WERZBE TS -
BB B RS %R
FORREBIE
WEED|F 1657 2 E7]
The adoption of these amendments does not have any RN Z SIS ] BB I %5 @ 5 £ R
material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial TresraE@E8gEz=—_2=—F
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021. T A=+ BULEFEEZHEANE

BRENEMERTE




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 TEEHBXRBEA)
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of Preparation (continued) 21 mEEEE)
Impact of new, amended and revised HKFRSs Hal - AT REIETE BB HRE
(continued) EEZHE(E)

TOIFET RARE TR C 8 -
HARARANEER-_FT=_—F—A—
BRmzertHEER ML ERER

The following new and amended standards have been
issued, but are not effective for the Group’s accounting
period beginning on 1 January 2021 and have not been

adopted early:

Amendments to HKFRS 3
BB WERERE 358 21E5]

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

BEMBHRELEAE 10K REES
FTAERIZE 28 57 2 18T

HKFRS 17 and Amendments to
HKFRS 17

BAEMBHEERE 7R RE BN
BMERERNE 17 5% 21E5]

Amendments to HKAS 1

BEGIERFE 1R 2EFT

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

BRGEAE 1R REEMBRE
HREBHREE 2% 2B

Amendments to HKAS 8
BB LR E 8 2 BE]

Amendments to HKAS 12

EEGFEANFE 1258 2 BT

®am -

Reference to the Conceptual Framework
BESER 2 1Rt

Sales or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

BREEREBENANEERRICEZEE
HESFE

Insurance Contracts

REBREH

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current

HEESBEAREAIFRE

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

B BUR 2 R

Definition of Accounting Estimates
BRI 2 EE

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities

Arising from a Single Transaction
HE -—CPELACEERABBRRBZRLERIA

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after

RO BH#A

N2 EBERZ
SRBEXR

1 January 2022
- _F—HA—H

To be determined

N

FEE

1 January 2023

—T-=%—A—H

1 January 2023

—T-=%—A—H

1 January 2023

—T-=%—A—H

1 January 2023

—T-=%—A—H

1 January 2023

—T=-=%—A—H
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of Preparation (continued)

Impact of new, amended and revised HKFRSs

(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16

EREGFEAFE 165K 2EFT

Amendments to HKAS 37
EBRIERISE T R

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020 Cycle

BEREPBREEN —_Z-NFE_F
“EERHZ FESGE

Amendments to Accounting
Guideline 5
BEHESIE 5 R 2 ER]

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

BERBESH(ZF-FF)

The Group will adopt the above new or revised
standards as and when they become effective.
Management has performed preliminary assessment
and does not anticipate any significant impact on the
Group'’s financial position and results of operations upon

adopting these standards.

, NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

21 REEE(E)

el - AT REECITE B BRE
ERZHE (F)

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use
M - e REE  ERERSAI 2 ATSRIE

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
BEMEH — BITEaR2HA

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 16
and HKAS 41

BEMBMELNE 15 - BB RELER
FOW ABMBHRELAE 165K RES
FEHAERIE 41 5% 2 18R]

Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combinations (Revised)
HEEZEHE G2 &g E (BIEET)

Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause

MBHRRk 25 — BRAHESERERERER
ZERERZHHE

TEETBRBE @)

Effective for
accounting

periods beginning

on or after
RUTHH#
RZEERZ
BB ER

1 January 2022
—E--F—HA—H

1 January 2022
T _f—HA—H

1 January 2022

—T--_%—A—H

1 January 2022

—T--_%—A—H

1 January 2023

—T-=%—A—H

REBERR Ll 33T sk B 3T 2R
EREHRAZSEL - ERECHE
TME G BFRMRAZEER
TEHAKB BRI R EEE

EEECAEAYE -

B



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of Consolidation and Equity Accounting

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity where the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group
(Note 2.3).

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between Group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in
the consolidated income statement, statement
of comprehensive income, statement of changes
in equity and statement of financial position
respectively.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting (see (c) below),
after initially being recognised at cost.

2

TEETHBRBME (@)

2.2

RERERARERERE

(a)

(b)

B A A
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of Consolidation and Equity Accounting
(continued)

(c)

(@)

Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements”,
investments in joint arrangements are classified
as either joint operations or joint ventures. The
classification depends on the contractual rights
and obligations of each investor, rather than the
legal structure of the joint arrangement.

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using
the equity method (see (d) below), after initially
being recognised at cost in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the
investee in the consolidated income statement,
and the Group’s share of movements in other
comprehensive income of the investee in other
comprehensive income. Dividends received or
receivable from associates are recognised as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds
its interest in the entity, including any other
unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
equity-accounted investees have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.
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e PR R M

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2

23

Principles of Consolidation and Equity Accounting
(continued)

(d)

(e)

Equity method (continued)

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in accordance
with the policy described in Note 2.10.

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group.
A change in ownership interest results in an
adjustment between the carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect
their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any consideration
paid or received is recognised in a separate
reserve within equity attributable to owners of the
Company.

Business Combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless of
whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary comprises the:

fair values of the assets transferred

liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business

equity interests issued by the Group

fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, and

fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Business Combinations (continued)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises
any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the:

o consideration transferred,

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

o acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less
than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the
business acquired, the difference is recognised directly
in the consolidated income statement as a bargain
purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which
a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either
as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as
a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4

2.5

2.6

Separate Financial Statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker of the Group. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors
of the Company that makes strategic decisions.

Foreign Currency Translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the group entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s
functional currency and the Group’s presentation
currency.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign Currency Translation (continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the consolidated
income statement within “finance costs”. All other
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated income statement within “other
operating expenses”.

Foreign exchange differences on non-monetary
financial assets, such as equities classified
as financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), are included in
other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the end of each reporting
period;

(i)  Income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rate (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign Currency Translation (continued)

(c)

(@)

Group companies (continued)

(iiiy ~ All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Foreign exchange differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a
joint venture that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all
of the foreign exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the equity holders of the Company are recognised
in the consolidated income statement.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the proportionate share of accumulated foreign
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in
the consolidated income statement. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s
ownership interest in associates or joint ventures
that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control), the proportionate share
of the accumulated foreign exchange differences
is reclassified to the consolidated income

statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.7

Property, Plant and Equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation and impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the
consolidated income statement during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, which
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, is provided at the following annual rates:

Over the shorter of the
term of the lease (45
years commencing
2004) and the estimated

Leasehold improvements

useful life
Hangars 40 years
Aircraft and aviation 10 to 20 years
equipment
Plant, machinery and 2.6 to 10 years
tooling
Trucks, trailers and 5to 12.5 years
containers
Motor vehicles 5to 5.5 years
Office equipment 3 to 8 years
Furniture and fixtures 4 to 8 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount if
the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.10).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and
equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds
with the carrying amount and are recognised within
“other income and other gains, net” in the consolidated
income statement.

Intangibles

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in
intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it is
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might
be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of
an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating
to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the
purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made
to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the
business combination in which the goodwill arose. The
units or groups of units are identified at the lowest level
at which goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes.

Other intangibles with finite useful lives are carried
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Other intangibles with
indefinite useful lives are not amortised.

Amortisation of other intangibles, which is calculated
using straight-line method to allocate their costs over
their estimated useful lives, is provided at the following
basis:

Operating certificates and
trademark

Non-compete agreements

Customer relationship

Order backlog

Telemed application
software

Over the estimated useful
lives of 9 — 15 years

Over the non-compete
periods of 4 — 6 years

Over the estimated useful
lives of 7 years

Over the estimated useful
lives of 3 — 6 years

Over the estimated useful
lives of 3 years
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

2.9

2.10

Intangibles (continued)

Management reviews the expected useful live at the end
of each reporting period based on the estimated period
over which future economic benefits will be received
by the Group and takes into account the level of future
competition, the risk of technological or functional
obsolescence of the assets, and the expected changes
in the market.

Other intangibles are derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of
other intangibles are measured at the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the assets and are recognised with “other income and
other gains, net” in the consolidated income statement
in the period when the assets are derecognised.

Non-Current Prepayments

Prepayments for engine overhaul and maintenance costs
of aircraft are recorded as non-current prepayments as
management has discretion over when these costs have
to be incurred and it is not expected to be utilised within
twelve months.

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets, and Interests in
Subsidiaries and Associates

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite
useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’'s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
the end of each reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets, and Interests in

2.11

Subsidiaries and Associates (continued)

Impairment testing of the interests in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

The Group determines at the end of each reporting
period whether the interest in the associate is impaired.
If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable
amount of the associate and its carrying amount and
recognises the amount in the consolidated income
statement.

Non-Current Assets Held-for-Sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale when
their carrying amount is to be recovered principally
through a sale transaction and a sale is considered
highly probable. The non-current assets are stated at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or
subsequent write-down of the asset to fair value less
costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent
increase in fair value less costs to sell of an asset,
but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss
previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously
recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current
asset is recognised at the date of derecognition.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are
presented separately from the other assets in the
consolidated statement of financial position. Non-current
assets are not depreciated or amortised while they are
classified as held for sale.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Financial Assets

(a)

(b)

(c)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) or through profit or loss),
and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in the consolidated
income statement or OCI. For investments in
equity instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at
fair value through other comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Recognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date — the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVPL are expensed in the consolidated income
statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Financial Assets (continued)

(c) Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies
its debt instruments at amortised cost and FVOCI.

Amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets
is included in “interest income” using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in the consolidated income
statement and presented in “other income
and other gains, net” together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in
the consolidated income statement.
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POLICIES (continued)

2
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2.12 Financial Assets (continued)

(c) Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

(i) Fair value through other comprehensive
income

Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognised in the consolidated
income statement. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified
from equity to the consolidated income
statement and recognised in “other income
and other gains, net”. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
“interest income” using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in “other income and
other gains, net” and impairment expenses
are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated income statement.

Equity instrumernts

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in OCI,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair
value gains and losses to the consolidated
income statement following the derecognition of
the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in the consolidated
income statement as “other income and other
gains, net” when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Financial Assets (continued)

(c)

(d)

Measurement (continued)
Equity instruments (continued)

Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI
are not reported separately from other changes in
fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables, see
Notes 3.1(b) and 21 for further details.

2.13 Financial Liabilities

(a)

(b)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. The Group’s financial liabilities
include trade payables, other payables and
accruals, borrowings and other financial liabilities.

Recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All financial liabilities are
recognised initially at fair value, in the case of a
financial liability not at fair value through profit
or loss, less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial liability.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13

2.14

2.15

Financial Liabilities (continued)
(c) Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged,
cancelled or expired.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced
by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and the recognition of a
new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amount is recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position
where the Group currently has a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts, and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. The Group has also
entered into arrangements that do not meet the criteria
for offsetting but still allow for the related amounts to be
set off in certain circumstances, such as bankruptcy or
the termination of a contract.

Inventories

Inventories, mainly represent spare parts, consumables
for aircraft maintenance and healthcare consumables
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost of spare parts and consumables for aircraft
maintenance is determined using the weighted average
cost method and the cost of healthcare consumables
is determined using the first-in first-out method. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16

217

2.18

Trade, Bills and Other Receivables

Trade and bills receivables are amounts due from
customers for merchandise sold or services performed
in the ordinary course of business. Trade, bills and other
receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. They are classified as current assets,
except for those with maturities greater than twelve
months after the reporting period are classified as non-
current assets.

Trade, bills and other receivables are recognised initially
at the amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing components,
when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds
the trade, bills and other receivables with the objective
to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. See Notes 21 and 22
for further information about the Group’s accounting
for trade, bills and other receivables and Notes 2.12
and 3.1(b) for a description of the Group’s impairment
policies.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks
and other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less.

Share Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19

2.20

Trade and Other Payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are
unsecured and are usually paid within thirty days of
recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as
current liabilities unless payment is not due within twelve
months after the reporting period. They are recognised
initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any differences between
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income
statement over the period of the borrowings, using the
effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

The fair value of the liability portion of a convertible
bond is determined using a market interest rate for
an equivalent non-convertible bond. This amount is
recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until
extinguished on conversion or maturity of the bonds. The
remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion
option. This is recognised and included in shareholders’
equity, net of income tax effects.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in
the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of a financial
liability that has been extinguished or transferred to
another party and the consideration paid, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss as finance costs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.20

2.21

2.22

Borrowings (continued)

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
period.

Borrowing Costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are
recognised in the consolidated income statement in the
period in which they are incurred.

Current and Deferred Income Tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company and its subsidiaries and associates operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation and considers whether it is probable that a
taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment.
The Group measures its tax balances either based on
the most likely amount or the expected value, depending
on which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Current and Deferred Income Tax (continued)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the company is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances
relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets
and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Employee Benefits

(a)

(b)

Pension obligations

The Group participates in several defined
contribution plans, under which the Group pays
fixed contributions into separate entities. The
Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions
are recognised as employee benefit expense when
they are due and are reduced by contributions
forfeited by those employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset
to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in
future payments is available.

Share-based compensation

Share-based compensation benefits are provided
to employees via the Group’s employee option
plan.

The fair value of options granted under the
Group’s share option scheme is recognised as an
employee benefits expense with a corresponding
increase in equity. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted:

- including any market performance
conditions (eg the entity’s share price)

- excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions
(eg profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period), and

- including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (eg the requirement for
employees to save or hold shares for a
specific period of time).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Employee Benefits (continued)

(b)

(c)

Share-based compensation (continued)

The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
At the end of each period, the entity revises
its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to vest based on the non-market vesting
and service conditions. It recognises the impact of
the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

If the Group cancels or settles a grant of equity
instruments during the vesting period, the Group
should treat this as an acceleration of vesting and
recognise immediately the amount that otherwise
would have been recognised for services received
over the remainder of the vesting period.

The Company’s grant of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of the subsidiaries
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution.
The fair value of employee services received,
measured by reference to the grant date fair
value, is recognised over the vesting period as
an increase to interests in subsidiaries, with a
corresponding credit to the Company’s equity.

Share award scheme

The fair value of the share awards granted to
employees or directors is recognised as an
expense with a corresponding increase in credit to
share-based compensation reserve. The fair value
is measured with reference to the Company’s
share price at grant date taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the share awards
are granted. Where the vesting conditions are met
before becoming unconditionally entitled to the
share awards, the total estimated fair value of the

share awards is spread over the vesting period,
taking into account the probability that the share
awards will be vested.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Employee Benefits (continued)

(c)

(@)

(e)

Share award scheme (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share
awards which are expected to be vested is
reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years
is charged/credited to the consolidated income
statement for the year of the review.

Upon vesting, the amount recognised as an
expense is credited to shares held for share award
scheme and debited to share-based compensation
reserve.

When the share award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it were vested on the date of cancellation, and
any expense not yet recognised for the award is
recognised immediately.

Employee leave entitlement and long service
payment

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service payment are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service payment as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the reporting date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses, based on performance and takes
into consideration the profit attributable to the
Company’s shareholders. The Group recognises
a provision where contractually obliged or
where there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Employee Benefits (continued)
(f)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before the
normal retirement date, or whenever an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits at the earlier of the following dates:
(a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits; and (b) when the Group
recognises costs for a restructuring that is within
the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment
of termination benefits. In the case of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the
number of employees expected to accept the offer.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the
end of the reporting period are discounted to their
present value.

2.24 Provisions and Contingent Liabilities
(a) Provision

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with
respect to any one item included in the same class
of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
the pre-tax expenditures expected to be required
to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEEHERBE#)
POLICIES (continued)
2.24 Provisions and Contingent Liabilities (continued) 224 BELIREE(E)
(b) Contingent liabilities (b) EHAERE

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that SABEENEEABTEGM
arises from past events and whose existence EEZUREET MBBET
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non- BB B —HFIA LW IEFREAR
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events SEEHSEERN 2 TEERAR
not wholly within the control of the Group. It can EWEEET HREEFE
also be a present obligation arising from past SABENERBEESHME
events that is not recognised because it is not HZ7BEEE ARTRETE
probable that outflow of economic resources will EREKEERIETEEE
be required or the amount of obligation cannot be AR EETEMABER -

measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is IABEDTTHER  HEGREE
disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial S BWMEMTARE - WE
statements. When a change in the probability of TR 2 TR B 0 LA
an outflow occurs so that an outflow is probable, it BEREHER BIBER AR
will then be recognised as a provision. 1 o
2.25 Revenue Recognition 2.25 WARER
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the WAZAREBRAEEERHEEE
consideration received or receivable for the sales of EmkiBmE KBERREZR
goods and services in the ordinary course of the Group’s AREEFE WABRTANKRILE
activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax and MRITNAHEE RSB 2 HE ©

discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue, when it is probable EARKEENRAERATRE
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity B UARFME TXFlAER 2%
and when specific criteria have been met for each of EB2FEBRER - AEEK®ER
the Group’s activities as described below. The Group WA REEBARBEEZBIER
bases its estimates of return on historical results, taking EIREFTZKE  TeERREFE
into consideration the type of customer, the type of Al XBERIREEZEZ AEE
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement. S e

Where the contracts include multiple performance WENBRZEENEL RHE
obligations, the transaction price will be allocated to BEEREBEEITRESREAER
each performance obligation based on the stand-alone FeoWMZEESEIAEESR - A
selling prices. Where these are not directly observable, ERTEHARARINAE ZEITIEE o

they are estimated based on expected cost-plus margin.

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of WAEE M R ZEHIEER G
the good or service is transferred to the customer. EPE#ER - BURRE QRER K
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws EHRERARED - &Mk R E
that apply to the contract, control of the good or service il 42 ] LA A2 B8 BF P Sk 1 3 8 Ry A Bh

may be transferred over time or at a point in time. iz o
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Revenue Recognition (continued)

Control of the good or service is transferred over time if
the Group’s performance:

provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the goods or service. Specific criteria where
revenue is recognised are described below.

(a)

Rendering of services

Service fee income in relation to the provision of
aviation and logistics services, freight forwarding,
ground logistics and warehousing services,
security services, infrastructure services,
medical healthcare services is recognised in
the accounting period in which the services are
rendered.

Aircraft maintenance services is recognised over
the period of the service contract as the customer
receives and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group’s performance as the Group performs.
The Group has a right to invoice with reference
to its services provided to the customer at a pre-
determined rate as stated in the contract. The
Group usually issues invoices to its customers
on a monthly basis with a 30-90 days credit term.
The Group’s billings to its customers are invoiced
at amounts that correspond with the value of the
Group’s performance completed to date based on
the pre-determined rates as stated in the service
contracts and the Group applies the practical
expedient to simplify disclosure regarding
remaining performance obligations.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Revenue Recognition (continued)

(a)

Rendering of services (continued)

The infrastructure construction services are
arranged under fixed-price contracts. Revenue
from providing services is recognised in the
accounting period in which the services are
rendered based on the actual service provided
to the end of the reporting period as a proportion
of the total services to be provided because
the customer receives and uses the benefits
simultaneously. This is determined based on the
percentage of completion to the status of the
entire project. The customer pays the fixed amount
based on a payment schedule. If the services
rendered by the Group exceed the payment, a
contract asset is recognised. If the payments
exceed the services rendered, a contract liability
is recognised.

Service fee income in relation to the provision of
financial market information is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the period of the service
contract.

Payment for aviation and logistics services, freight
forwarding, ground logistics and warehousing
services, aircraft maintenance services, security
and infrastructure services are not due from the
customers until the services are completed, with a
30-90 days credit term.

For financial market information services,
the customer pays the fixed amount at the
commencement of service contract. Some
payments for aircraft management services
would also be made by customers before the
commencement of services. A contract liability
is recognised for payments which exceed the
services rendered.

Except for the infrastructure construction services,
the Group does not expect to have significant
contracts where the period between the transfer
of the promised goods or services to the customer
and payment by the customer exceeds one year.
As a consequence, the Group does not adjust
any of the transaction prices for the time value of
money.
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’/ 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESHBEMESE)
POLICIES (continued)
2.26 Leases 2.26 HE

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group has elected not to separate
lease and non-lease components and instead accounts
for these as a single lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payment that are based on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability, if any.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ZESHBEMESE)

POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Leases (continued) 2.26 HE (&)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third
party financing was received, and makes adjustments
specific to the lease. If a readily observable amortising
loan rate is available to the individual lessee (through
recent financing or market data) which has a similar
payment profile to the lease, then the group entities use
that rate as a starting point to determine the incremental
borrowing rate.

Lease payments are allocated between principal
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the
consolidated income statement over the lease period so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs; and

o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all
leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-
line basis as an expense in the consolidated income
statement. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise
office equipment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Leases (continued)

2.27

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is

a lessor is recognised in other income on a straight-line

basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in

obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying

amount of the underlying asset and recognised as

expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease

income. The respective leased assets are included in

the consolidated statement of financial position based

on their nature.

Related Parties

A person or entity is considered to be related to the
Group if:

(a)

a person or a close member of that person’s family
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; (ii)
has significant influence over the Group; or (iii) is
a member of the key management personnel of
the Group;

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group, which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member;

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); or

a person identified in (a) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity or of a parent
of the entity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.28

2.29

2.30

Interest Income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of
the loss allowance).

Government Grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions. Government grants relating to costs
are deferred and recognised in the consolidated income
statement over the period necessary to match them with
the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Earnings Per Share
(i)  Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

o the profit attributable to owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares

o by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary
shares issued during the year and excluding
treasury shares.

(iij)  Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures
used in the determination of basic earnings per
share to take into account:

° the after-income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares, and

° the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial Risk Factors

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks
which result from its operating, investing and financing
activities. Management periodically analyses and
reviews measures to manage the Group’s exposure
to market risk (including foreign currency risk and
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. Generally, the Group employs a
conservative strategy regarding its risk management
and has not used any derivatives or other instruments
for hedging purposes.

At 31 December 2021, the Group’s financial instruments
mainly consisted of trade and bills receivables, deposits
and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
borrowings, lease liabilities, trade payables and other
payables and accruals, and financial assets at FVOCI.

(a) Market risk
(1)  Forelgn currency risk

The Group currently operates mainly in Hong
Kong, Kenya, South Africa, Lao People’s
Democratic Republic (“Laos”), Democratic
Republic of Congo (“DRC”), Nigeria and
Mainland China.

For operations in Hong Kong, most of the
transactions are denominated in HK$ and
United States dollars (“US$").

3

, NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

MERREE
31 HMBERER

REBAXEZRERRBEEE KE
LERERBEL KRR - B
BEBROM RgTEmE REER
SEZzTHAR (BFINERR KF
EREEQNAEEMNERR) R
RakrBEeRR AEE—K
REREERART KK L&
EREMITESEM T REH P2
A o

RZE-_—F+=-_A=+—H' ' &
SEZERMIATEREESREK
HEREREE  Ze REAMEIR
HE- -BekBeEEY BEXN
HEBE BHEMNZIE - HtfE
NZBEREABRAUREAREE
AAHMEEREZ SRHEE -

(a) HHER
(i)  SMNEE R

AEEXTEREE B
B M3k ZBRAR
REHMEAC(EHEB]) -
MR E HFE (AR
(£))  EEAMGERH
B AR & R o

REBCRKRERELM
o ORERZTIAE
TTRET(TERTDINE -
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial Risk Factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

@

Forelgn currency risk (continueda)

The foreign exchange risk from US$ is not
material since it is pegged with HK$ at a
designated range such that the exposure on
fluctuation of foreign currency rate is limited.

For operations in Africa, most of the
transactions are denominated in USS$,
Kenyan Shillings (*“KES”) and South African
Rand (“ZAR”). No financial instrument was
used for hedging purposes for the year
due to the prohibitive cost of available
hedging opportunities. The Group is closely
monitoring the currency exchange risk of
US$ against KES and ZAR and will consider
the use of financial instrument for hedging
purposes, if necessary.

For operations in Laos, DRC and Nigeria,
most of the transactions are denominated in
US$. No financial instrument was used for
hedging purposes for the year.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial Risk Factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

@

(1)

Forelgn currency risk (continued)

For operations in Mainland China, most
of the transactions are denominated in
Renminbi (“RMB”). The conversion of RMB
into foreign currencies is subject to the rules
and regulations of the foreign exchange
controls promulgated by the Chinese
government. The Group is closely monitoring
the currency exchange risk of RMB and is
looking for any opportunities to mitigate the
currency exchange risk of RMB.

The Group’s foreign exchange risk from
these currencies is not material since
majority of its transactions are denominated
in their respective functional currencies.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk arises from bank balances
and deposits and borrowings. Borrowings
obtained at variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk which
is partially offset by bank balances and
deposits held at variable rates. Borrowings
obtained at fixed rates expose the Group
to fair value interest rate risk. During the
year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s
borrowings were denominated in RMB,
ZAR and HK$ (2020: US$ and ZAR). The
Group has not used any derivative financial
instruments to hedge its cash flow and fair
value interest rate risk.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial Risk Factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(b)

(1)

cash tow and rfair value interest rate risk
(continued)

At 31 December 2021, if interest rate had
increased/decreased by 100 basis points
(2020: 100 basis points) with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s loss
after tax and accumulated losses would have
been HK$2,529,000 (2020: HK$2,148,000)
lower/higher.

The sensitivity analysis above had been
determined assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the end of
the reporting period and had been applied
to the exposure to interest rate risk for
financial instruments in existence at that
date, and that all other variables had
remained constant. The stated increase/
decrease represented management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes
in interest rates over the period until the end
of next reporting period. The analysis was
performed on the same basis for 2020.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk

which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts
of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the respective notes to the consolidated
financial statements. The Group’s exposure to
credit risk is mainly related to its contractual cash
flows of trade and bills receivables, deposits and
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial Risk Factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has three types of financial assets that
are subject to the expected credit loss model:

trade receivables from the provisions of
services;

contract assets from the provisions of
services; and

other financial assets at amortised cost.

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject
to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial. Majority
of bank balances of the Group is generally placed
in short to medium term deposits and investments
with reputable banks.

@

Jrade recervables

For trade receivables, the Group applies
the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on
the payment profiles of customers and
the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers
to settle the receivables.

Trade receivables are written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against
the same line item.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMEBRREE@
3.1 Financial Risk Factors (continued) 3.1 HMERBREZE)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) =EmEE(E)
(1) Trade receivables (continued) () BZENEE)
The following table presents the gross TREIRZZEZZEF
carrying amount and provision for kzZZ=Z—F+=A8
impairment loss in respect of collectively e il = - & =
assessed trade receivables by invoice date HEFEZE S ERR
as at 31 December 2020 and 2021; HyEHEBERRES
BEE
2021
—E_—F
Lifetime
expected Gross Lifetime [
credit loss carrying expected carrying
rate amount credit loss amount
2H7EH ZHIES
FEEEE IREAE FEEE REFRE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
Within 3 months 3EAR 0.0% to £ 4.5% 126,526 - 126,526
Over 3 months @A 318 A 0.0% to £ 100% 62,707 (16,699) 46,008
189,233 (16,699) 172,534
2020
—ZT_TF
Lifetime
expected Gross Lifetime Net
credit loss carrying expected carrying
rate amount credit loss amount
2 HETEE TR
EEEEE fREE =EEE FREFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET FET
Within 3 months 3EAR 0.0% to £8.4% 95,777 - 95,777
Over 3 months 88 31E A 0.0% to = 100% 51,393 (16,637) 34,756

147,170 (16,637) 130,533
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial Risk Factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(c)

(7)) Contract assets and other financial assets at
amortised cost

The Group applies a 12-month expected
credit loss on contract assets and other
financial assets at amortised cost.
Management considered among other
factors, analysed historical pattern and
concluded that the expected credit loss for
contract assets and other financial assets
at amortised cost to be immaterial as the
credit risk is assessed as low. During the
year, except for the impairment loss on other
receivables of HK$30,804,000 recognised
in the consolidated income statement, no
other impairment loss was made on other
receivables and contract assets (2020: Nil).

Liquidity risk

The Group implements a prudent liquidity risk
management to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements for maintaining
sufficient cash and the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of committed credit
facilities to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and long term.

Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the Group aims to maintain flexibility
in funding by keeping committed credit facilities
available from various banks if necessary. The
liquidity risk of the Group is primarily attributable
to trade payables, other payables and accruals,
borrowings and lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HBEREE®)
3.1 Financial Risk Factors (continued) 3.1 HMERBREZE)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) mEHELREE(Z)
The amounts of the contractual undiscounted cash TRBEZAENRITRIAESR
flows of the financial liabilities were summarised ESEMENT :
as follow:

More than
1 year but
Within  less than  More than

1 year 5 years 5 years
BB
—FR EBIREE BBRE

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FRET FRET FHET FHET
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE-—&
+=HA=+—H
Trade payables B SR 5E - 69,646 - - 69,646
Other payables and E AN RIER
accruals fE5TE 53,082 66,113 - - 119,195
Borrowings =6 - 21,884 225,750 - 247,634
Lease liabilities HESE - 34,852 35,507 3,743 74,102
53,082 192,495 261,257 3,743 510,577
At 31 December 2020 R=-T=-ZfF
+=B=+-8H
Trade payables B SN RIE = 60,223 = = 60,223
Other payables and HAERRIE R
accruals FEEtE R 38,770 52,055 = = 90,825
Borrowings =EN = 18,937 = = 18,937
Lease liabilities HESE = 61,865 55,632 3,996 121,493

38,770 193,080 55,632 3,996 291,478
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

Capital Management

The Group regards its total equity as capital. The
primary objective of the Group’s capital management is
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders to support the Group’s
sustainable growth and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group reviews and manages its capital structure
and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in
economic conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares, raise new debt financing or sell
assets to reduce debt. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes during the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020. The Group is not subject
to any externally imposed capital requirements.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
gearing ratio (ratio of the sum of total borrowings to the
total assets), which shows the proportion of the Group’s
assets being financed through debt. The gearing ratio
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 was as follows:
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2021 2020

—EB-—F —T-TE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHEIT

Borrowings BE 194,279 18,443
Lease liabilities HEa®E 65,228 106,020
Total borrowings EEBEE 259,507 124,463
Total assets BEMBE 1,173,473 939,918
Gearing ratio ERBEHLRX 22% 13%
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair Value Estimation

The different levels of financial instruments carried at fair

value have been defined as follows:

(a)

()

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices) (level 2); and

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgments and estimates
made in determining the fair values of the financial
instruments that are recognised and measured at
fair value in the financial statements. To provide an
indication about the reliability of the inputs used
in determining fair value, the Group has classified
its financial instruments into the three levels
prescribed under the accounting standards. An
explanation of each level follows underneath the
table.

Financial assets at FVOCI
KazdMmEE

Unlisted equity investment JEEMRERE
Financial liabilities at FVPL
SRaE
G H(E

Contingent consideration

3

BEARBEFAHMEZE

BEARBEGFABREZ

BEREREE &)
3.3 AREEMGE
BARBEAENSRIACEE

BRERWOT :

(a)

()

HREEXRBBEERRTS
HECRERHE) (F—ER) :

BE-ELRMBRIHREIN
EHEEXBBEZAER (A
HER) ER(AITEEE
R ZABRZBAE(E_E
&) R

FREERABE 2 BWAELI
KRBT BR 2 TS8R (AT
AERZBAE) (F=ZEBR) °

RABETR

RENR AR B S R A E R
AREBEEERRAEZERT
A2 AR BERMEL 2 HE
Kfbst - RETEEAAEER
BATRABABE ST - K
SEDREFENZIRTE -
HEMTADR=FEBE - &
B M ERERZ T
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E=ZEB®
2020

—T-TF
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FETT FEr
5 4
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair Value Estimation (continued)

(i)

Valuation techniques, inputs and relationships
to fair value

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based
on observable data, the instrument is included in
level 3.

The fair value of equity instruments at FVOCI at
31 December 2021 with respect to the unlisted
investments amounting to HK$5,000 (2020:
HK$4,000) which are not traded in an active
market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives)
is determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximise the use
of observable market data where it is available
and rely as little as possible on entity specific
estimates.

The fair value of contingent consideration payable
was determined by reference to the probability of
net profit to be achieved in the next three years
by the group of target companies. Key valuation
inputs are set out in Note 34(a).

During the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020, there were no transfers of financial
instruments between levels 1, 2 and 3.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 BRETHEERAE
JUDGMENTS
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are HERABERFETME  WREBATL
based on historical experience and other factors, including SRR E M E ZETE - BREEE@ER
expectations of future events that are believed to be THEREGEZHARAREMHZTEA -

reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the NE B FARRARRAE L B ET RBRE © AT
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, ZBHAHERERE —RTIEEERNEHE
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and BRAER - BERR T -—HHRFEHEER
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material BEREBESERAR ZBRRR 2 T
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities RN T Xt e

within the next financial year are discussed below.

4.1 Impairment of Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets, 41 ™HE HMEBEREE W3 - #3F
Property, Plant and Equipment and Right-of-Use RBREURCEHAEEE ZRE
Assets
The Group tests whether goodwill has suffered any AEBESRFAABEEES LR
impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if B EBEHIMRRE BRI
events or changes in circumstances indicate that they BE R (B IR 5 B b R o E i
might be impaired. Other intangible assets, property, BE W BBEREHEARER
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are BEESEAEEHIRRELLET
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in HIRMEE 1] g8 A 0] T Uk B 0 R &R
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may BB IREFEHAEE
not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been HAEIUNRAAEBEREEKRKAM
determined based on the higher of value-in-use or fair HERHRREERT -

value less costs of disposal.




v

4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continued)

4.1

4.2

Impairment of Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets,
Property, Plant and Equipment and Right-of-Use
Assets (continued)

The calculations require the use of judgments and
estimates. Management judgment is required in the area
of asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether
an event has occurred that may indicate that the related
asset values may not be recoverable; (ii) whether the
carrying amount of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value-in-use which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset in the
business; and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in preparing cash flow projections including
whether these cash flow projections are discounted
using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment,
including gross margin percentage, annual revenue
growth rates, terminal growth rate and the discount
rate used in the cash flow projections, could affect the
net present value used in the impairment test and as a
result affect the Group’s financial position and results of
operations.

Impairment of Trade and Other Receivables

The loss allowances for trade and other receivables
are based on assumptions about risk of default and
expected loss rates. The Group uses judgment in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward-
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continued)

4.3

Income Taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations, including
the aircraft leasing arrangement between the Group
companies that are structured on an arm’s length basis,
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues, if any, based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, including the tax position of those intra-group
transactions, such differences will impact the current
and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all
unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the losses
can be utilised. Significant management judgment is
required to determine the amount of deferred income
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised in respect
of the unremitted earnings of subsidiaries in Africa,
except to the extent that the parent is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Significant management
judgment is required to determine the amount of
deferred income tax liabilities to be recognised,
which is based upon the estimated timing of dividend
distribution.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continued)

4.4 Fair Value Assessment of the Identified Intangible
Assets and the Recognition of Goodwill Arising from
Business Combination

Significant judgments and estimates were involved in
the fair value assessment of the identified intangible
assets and the recognition of goodwill arising from
business combination. These significant judgments
and estimates include the adoption of appropriate
valuation methodologies and the use of key assumptions
in the valuation (mainly annual revenue growth rate,
discount rates, attrition rate of customer relationship and
expected useful lives of order backlog).

4.5 Estimation of Fair Value of Contingent Purchase
Consideration

The fair value of contingent consideration was estimated
by calculating the net profit to be achieved, probability
of various scenarios of achieving profit targets of the
group of target companies.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as
the Board of the Company. Management has determined the
operating segments based on the internal reports reviewed
by the Board of the Company that are used to assess
performance and allocate resources. The Group’s operating
segments are structured and managed separately according
to the services provided by different strategic business units,
and the services offered are subject to risks and returns that
are different from those of the other operating segments.

During the year, management has changed its internal
performance review to align more closely with the Group’s
strategic decision and development, by reallocating some
of the resources between Aviation and Logistics Business,
Security, Insurance and Infrastructure Business and Others,
to reflect the latest business development of the Group. The
comparative amounts of the segment information in 2020 has
been reclassified to reflect such change.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 SHERG@E
The operating segments of the Group are as follows: AEEZRLE DR T -
(i)  Aviation and Logistics Business (“AL Business”) — (i) Mmz=RRES(HRERYR
Provision of aviation and logistics related services; (%) — RBEm=RYIRE
B RTS
(i)  Security, Insurance and Infrastructure Business (“SlI (i) R RBEEEEEB(X
Business”) — Provision of security, insurance and R -RBERREEEEK] — &
infrastructure related services; and HER- R REZHEER
%R
(iiiy  Financial Market Information Business (“FMI Business”) (i) =/MTIZENFED([£mHE
— Provision of online financial market information. ERFE®E]) — RHEELeR

AR -

Others include the provision of healthcare and airport Hih B RHEERRERESEE
management services as well as corporate income and R EURRERAY  HtMEE
expenses, other direct investments and others. B REAM,

Two or more operating segments with similar economic AR RBEMS - AHALUL
characteristics in terms of the services provided were Bz MESZEEE DB 0
aggregated into a single operating segment for segment R ERE D EAEIT D RS -

reporting purpose.

The Board of Directors of the Company assesses segment RARIESSUREMEEFEENR
performance based on reportable operating result. D2 KRIR ©
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 2WMER @)

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, results, assets, liabilities AEEHEZT-_—F+=—A=+—81
and expenditure for the year ended 31 December 2021 by FEZBA - 2E EE  aBERAXE
operating segments is as follows: EHEEBED AT

AL SlI FMI
Business Business Business

RER 2R KRR EA L
WREK  RERER BMER

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FEx FET FE7 FE7 FET
Revenue from contracts with RERPEH WA
customers (from external (REHIEF)
customers) 494,241 236,148 14,095 11,639 756,123
Depreciation nE 37,378 7,019 564 1,086 46,047
Amortisation B 918 2,666 - 53 3,637
Provision for impairment of ME  BERZELZ
property, plant and equipment  J{E#E 5,389 - - - 5,389
Provision for impairment of right- {§ F#E&E 7 R (E & E
of-use assets 10,342 - - - 10,342
Provision for impairment of other Eft & & & 7 RE & &
intangibles 2,029 - - - 2,029
Impairment losses on financial £ BEE ZHEFSE
assets 29,919 933 14 - 30,866
Operating loss HEFSE (46,704) (22,553) (1,076) (52,204) (122,537)
Interest income ENON 2,033
Finance costs BEMKA (15,231)
Provision for impairment of asset #{EHEEE 7 HERE
held-for-sale (10,396)
Share of profits of associates and JE{EBE AR RA LA
a joint venture, net A EE 3,344
Loss before income tax BRETSRAIER (142,787)
Income tax expense FERAY (14,392)
Loss for the year FEERE (157,179)
Total assets BELE 420,609 552,078 2,677 198,109 1,173,473
Total assets include: BERERRE:
Interests in associates N NI 635 41,496 - 2,242 44,373
Total liabilities BERR 149,313 137918 6,042 375,050 668,323
Capital expenditure EREY 27533 241,222 74 91,605 360,434
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DEE R ()

AREBRE-T-BF+=A=t—8L
FEZBA R AR ABRMXE
BEH BAHMT :

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, results, assets, liabilities
and expenditure for the year ended 31 December 2020 by
operating segments is as follows:

AL SlI FMI
Business Business Business Others Total
nzEk ZiR - R SRS
M E® RERES BHEB Hith @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET FET
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(mE5) (mE5) (BE5) (mE7) (ZE5))
Revenue from contracts with KEREAHZMA
customers (from external (REHIER)
customers) 510,443 80,120 14,480 203 605,246
Depreciation wE 43,776 5,866 6558) 1,683 51,880
Amortisation B 1,604 85 = = 1,689
Impairment losses on financial £ BEEZHERRE
assets 14,232 - 34 - 14,266
Operating loss LERR (52,582) (79,441) (292) (78,808) (211,123)
Interest income FEWA 3,702
Finance costs BEKA (19,485)
Share of losses of associates LB ERNR RAEE AR
and a joint venture, net EEFE (2,478)
Provision for impairment of N—RBE AR R
interest in an associate ERE (8,693)
Loss before income tax BRETS R BB 1B (238,077)
Income tax credit FiigkEs 9,491
Loss for the year FEEE (228,586)
Total assets BEGE 515,217 137,235 3,453 284,013 939,918
Total assets include: BEHERE:
Interests in associates i YNGR 2 = 37,458 = 1,943 39,401
Interest in a joint venture R—RaERE ER - - - 983 983
Total liabilities BERR 196,144 49,780 6,914 60,396 313,234
Capital expenditure BARREY 14,877 5,511 13 2,790 23,191
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 2WMER @)
The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. The Group’s revenue AR ES - AEBEREHINEFZ
from external customers by geographical regions is as follows: WAZIMRE ST -
2021 2020
—E=-—-F —TTF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Africa FEM 444,519 366,738
Europe BN - 104,364

The People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) i A RHEME ([HE )

Mainland China FR B A 154,009 69,987
Hong Kong B8 50,574 12,063
South-East Asia and Middle-East EV S GRS 107,021 52,094
756,123 605,246
Revenue derived from external customers with amounts equal REHNEP ZIMAEERI R AEER
to or above 10% of the Group’s revenue is as follows: WA 10% 2 &80T -
2021 2020
Operating =B=—F —F_FF
Segment HK$’000 HK$'000
EESI FET FET
Customer A AL Business N/A* 78,588
BFEH M zE R RER*
£
* The revenue from customer A did not contribute over 10% of * HE-T-—F1+-A=1T—BLEFEEZPF
the total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December BRI A 8 5 7 SR B B AL A A8 10% A

2021. g
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 oE&ERE)
The total non-current assets other than financial instruments BEeR T AREIERESHEEINZ IEREE
and deferred income tax assets by geographical regions is as EAERMWRESNT -
follows:
2021 2020
—E=-—F —TTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Africa FEM 206,989 241,526
Europe B 21,548 28,803
The PRC =8
Mainland China PR SR A 3 10,966 17,907
Hong Kong A 321,403 5,252
South-East Asia and Middle-East EV S G 42,918 29,809
603,824 323,297
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 6 XREEFEHZHBA
CUSTOMERS
(a) An analysis of revenue is as follows: (a) WAZHWMT :
2021 2020
ZEC-—F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FBT

Revenue from provision of aviation 3 B Rtz R YIRRE 2
and logistics services A 494,241 510,443
Revenue from provision of security, K BIRHEZR - R K%

insurance and infrastructure EERBZBA
services 236,148 80,120
Revenue from provision of online RERHE LSBT HEM
financial market information PR 7% < WA
services 14,095 14,480
Others HA 11,639 203
756,123 605,246
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CUSTOMERS (continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH

(=2}

REEFEHNZWA (4)

; NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a) An analysis of revenue is as follows: (continued) (a) WADHUT : (&)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with KEBEFPEKHNZBADT
customers:

2021 2020
—E-—fF —E2TF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Timing of revenue recognition TR A 2 B
At a point in time RE B2 503,901 492 497
Over time B B 252,222 112,749
Revenue from contracts with REBFPAELHZWA
customers (from external CRE¥EINEF)
customers) 756,123 605,246
(b) Assets and liabilities related to contracts with (b) EFEHHEBEERAR

customers

The Group has recognised the following asset related to

contracts with customers:

AEBEBATIEPANEAE
=

2020
—T-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Arising from performance undera  BITERRELIPTEE
construction contract 11,957 -

AEEZEREAENTEENRERH
R RERERMAEKRETEIZ
B DBEBR N RIEA - ZFNRE
RRAIPIEREERGHNEE -

The Group’s construction contract included payment
schedules which require stage payments over the
construction period once milestones are reached. These
payment schedules prevent the build-up of significant
contract assets.
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6 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 6 XRBEFEHNZWA#)
CUSTOMERS (continued)
(b) Assets and liabilities related to contracts with (b) EFEHNHEHBEEREE(E)
customers (continued)
The Group has recognised the following liabilities related AEBEEERATINEFENEBE
to contracts with customers: f& :
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-FTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Provision of security services REZRRG 29,637 -
Provision of online financial market 244 & giin Z RS
information services 4,521 4,725
Total current contract liabilities BMHAG B EBEE 34,158 4,725
(i) Revenue recognised in relation to contract (i) BEXNEEBEZZHUA
liabilities
The following table shows how much of the TRETAREHAREESLD
revenue recognised in the current reporting period BERRHBARE -
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.
2021 2020
—E-—F —T=TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FiET FET
Revenue recognised that was FFAFVENEEEHRZ
included in the contract B HERKA
liabilities balance at the
beginning of the year
Provision of aviation and R ZE R YRS
logistics services - 6,155
Provision of online financial REG EESRTISEM
market information AR 7%
services 4,725 4,733
4,725 10,888
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 7 EERABEAX
An analysis of employee benefit expenses, including directors’ EERAAZ (BEESMHE) 2WWT :
emoluments, is as follows:
2021 2020
—E=--—F —TTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FBT
Salaries and bonuses #e RIEAD 211,120 201,904
Share-based compensation AR A S 1+ 2+ 8 - 6,106
Pension costs — defined contribution BREKA — EREE RS
plans 4,928 4812
Termination benefits B A2 A 1,006 742
Unutilised annual leave RAEAFR 90 351
Other benefits (Note) HEi@A (HE) 25,287 25,069
242,431 238,984
Note: et -
Other benefits include medical insurance, travel insurance and other Hi @A e EBRERE  RERR R EMETEREF

statutory welfare contributions. H o
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7 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued) 7 REETBABEAXZ#E)
(a) Directors’ Emoluments (a) EE=M<
Details of directors’ emoluments are as follows: EEMEFBERIIMT ¢

Contributions
topension  Share-based Other
Name of director Salaries Bonuses schemes  compensation benefits
B HRAZA

£ g 3 i Fig 58 R EfeRA
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEn 7En TEn TEr iZ.23 FEr FEn

Note (i)

Hit()

Year ended HE-B--%1Z8

31 December 2021 St-ALEE
Mr. Chang Zhenming FRAEE - - - - - - -
Mr. Zhang Yichen (Note (i) REREE (M (i) - - - - - - -
Mr. Fei Yiping BRTAL - - - - - _ _
Mr. Erik D. Prince (Note (i)~ Erik D. Prince %4

(Wit (v)) - 1,250 756 - - 3 2317
Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson ~ BiRIB%E 120 - - - - - 120
Mr. Luo Ning BEEHE - - - - - _ _
Dr. Hua Dongyi (Note (v) ~ ER—EL(#Zw) - 2,800 - P)| - 56 2877
Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry ERieta 544 - - - - - 544
Wr. Cui Liguo EfE%L 544 - - - - - 544
Dr. Harold O. Demuren Harold 0. Demuren

(Note (vi) B (M (vi) 203 - - - - - 203
Mr. Hooi Hing Lee SRR 544 - - - - - 544
Mr. Chan Kai Kong RERI%E

(Note (vi)) (Wt vii) - - - - - . _
Mr. Dorian Barak (Note (ix))  Dorian Barak %4

(Wit (ix)) 793 - - - - - 793
Mr. Zhang Yukuan (Note (x)  REELE(HiZ(x) - - - - - - -
Dr. Chan Wing Mui, Helen ~ skigig L (4 (x))

(Note (x) 107 - - - - - 107
Total @it 2,855 4,050 756 2 - 367 8,049
Year ended BE-Z-RE124

31 December 2020 St-ALEE
Mr. Chang Zhenming BRAEE = - - - - _ _
Mr. Zhang Yichen (Note (i) REREAE(Hi (i) - - - . - _ -
Mr. Fei Yiping BipTEa - - = - - - _
Mr. Erk D. Prince (Note (vi))  Erik D. Prince %4

(Wit (v) - 4622 2773 - - 1,164 8,559
Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson B {RIB% & 120 = = - - - 120
Mr. Luo Ning BELL - - = - - - _
Dr. Hua Dongyi (Note (v))  ZR—EL(#Zw) = 6,116 2,566 Y] 6,106 108 14938
Mr. Hu Qinggang (Note (i) HERIE (#12 ii) - 863 = 162 = 28 1,053
M. Yap Fat Suan, Henry i 543 - = - - - 543
Professor Lee Hau Leung — ZMBHE (#(iv)

(Note (iv) 314 - = - . . 314
bir. Cui Liguo ERELE 284 - - = - . 284
Dr. Harold O. Demuren Harold 0. Demuren

(Note (vi) B (M (vi) 543 - . - - _ 543
Mr. Hool Hing Lee Fiacvilbv 9% - - - - - %
Total it 1,900 11,601 5,339 204 6,106 1,300 26,450
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(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued)

Directors’ Emoluments (continued)

Notes:

(i) Other benefits include medical insurance, travel
insurance and other statutory welfare contributions.

(i) Appointed on 24 March 2020 and resigned on 28
February 2021.

(iiiy ~ Resigned on 24 March 2020.

(iv)  Resigned on 29 July 2020.

(v) Resigned on 10 March 2021.

(vi)  Resigned on 13 April 2021.

(vii)  Retired on 15 May 2021.

(viii)  Appointed on 28 February 2021.

(ix)  Appointed on 19 April 2021.

(x) Appointed on 21 October 2021.

Directors’ Retirement Benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any
director during the year ended 31 December 2021 in
respect of services as a director of the Company and its
subsidiary undertakings or in respect of other services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company or its subsidiary undertakings (2020: Nil).

Directors’ Termination Benefits

There were no other payments made to or receivable by
any director during the year ended 31 December 2021
in respect of the loss of office as a director, whether of
the Company or its subsidiary undertakings, or the loss
of other office in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company or its subsidiary undertakings
(2020: Nil).

Consideration Provided to Third Parties for Making
Available Directors’ Services

No consideration was provided to or receivable by third
parties for making available directors’ services during
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

Information about Loans, Quasi-Loans and Other
Dealings Entered into by the Company or Its
Subsidiary Undertakings, Where Applicable, in Favour
of Directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in
favour of directors, their controlled bodies corporate and
connected parties during the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: Nil).

EBR AR
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7 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued) 7 REEEFMNBX#E)
() Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions, ) EENRS ZHIEHNFZEKX
Arrangements or Contracts =
There were no significant transactions, arrangements REZEBRBE_ZT-_—F+=A
and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to “t+—HLEFEAEMHER A2
which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party AN EMBRRMERITEME X
and in which a director of the Company had a material AREBZEBMARRZEEHE
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the SEBEAEFHEEEAERADA
end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31 GBEBIZEARS THEREH(ZZ
December 2021 (2020: Nil). ZEF )
(g) Five Highest Paid Individuals (9) EfumEEHF AL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest FAREERAUZEHFALTEEM
in the Group for the year include two (2020: two) N(ZZEZZFF: Mu)ESE - HB
directors, whose emoluments are reflected in Note 7(a). S RMFE7(a) I - FRERNRT
The emoluments payable to the remaining three (2020: EH=U(ZZT=_ZTF: =) AL
three) individuals during the year are as follows: ZBMemnT
2021 2020
—E-—fF —T-FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Basic salaries, other allowances and EHA&Z & - Hib=E &
benefits in kind EHER 7,203 8,075
Bonuses 14T - 412
Share-based compensation LARR D X+ 2 F1E - -
Contributions to pension schemes  BR& 5T EIH R 198 80
7,401 8,567
The emoluments fell within the following bands: MeNFTIEE :

Number of individuals

Emolument bands B < 1 B

HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7C% 2,500,000 7T
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 /&7 % 3,000,000 7T
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued) 7

(h) Remunerations of Senior Management

Senior Management is set out in the session headed

under “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management”.

Details of the emoluments payable to the members of

the senior management, including key management

personnel, other than Directors, by band for the year are

set out below:

, NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

BEBANFAX (&)

(h)

BREEABSTMH

SREEABHIIN [EERERE
BABZBEFE] —f -

EERIICHREEAR (BEER
EBRAB)BRMEBES D 2 AFE
MEHBLT

Number of individuals

Interests on:

Emolument bands HEEE

HK$500,001 — HK$ 1,000,000 500,001 7T E 1,000,000 57T 3 6
HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T = 1,500,000 7T 2 2
HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T = 2,000,000 5 7T - 1
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 % 7T & 2,500,000 7 7T 1 -
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T & 3,000,000 i 7T 2 2

FINANCE COSTS 8 mEMA
2021 2020
—E-—F —T-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FEIT

THEEZFE -

Bank and other loans RITREME R 2,144 1,893
Lease liabilities (Note 14(ii)) HEaE B 14(i) 8,342 15,494
Convertible bonds (Note 26(b)) AIARR & S (A1 2F 26(b)) 3,123 =
Financing arrangement fee REZHER - 771
Net exchange loss on borrowings Bz ER GRS 1,622 1,327
15,231 19,485
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9 INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 9 FiERiM% (E&)
2021 2020
—E-—fF ZERTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Current income tax BVERFT 15 %1
Hong Kong B
Provision for the year NFE B 1,110 -
Outside Hong Kong BB AN E
Provision for the year NFE B 5,213 29
Over provision in respect of prior BREFEBRBEEE
years - (210)
6,323 (181)
Deferred income tax BEEFTSEL 8,069 (9,310)
Income tax expense/(credit) FiafiRx  (Ee) 14,392 (9,491)
Taxation on profits has been calculated on the estimated FREHMN BB RETERTE
assessable profits for the year at the applicable rates of FINAEBEKMERR, HH 2
taxation prevailing in the countries/places in which the Group RITHEAB =R - EREBITEH
operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and RENEFIMTE -
practices in respect thereof.
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for HE—_Z-_ZF+_-_A=+—HL
the year ended 31 December 2020 because the Group did not FE-UWESLBEEMNGSHELDE
generate any assessable profit in Hong Kong during the prior B RAAEERLLFERNTERL

year. BRBELEEERTER -
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continued) 9 FIBHEX (ER)#)
The reconciliation between the income tax expense/(credit) on FRAREBRIABRABEZMEHAX
the Group’s loss before income tax and the theoretical amount SR BABERREERNSARZ
of income tax expense/(credit) that would arise using the REBRZMEANEEEZFERAS
domestic tax rate applicable to each of the group companies (o) 2 ERSB2HERNOT -
for the year is as follows:
2021 2020
—E=-—-F —TTF
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Loss before income tax K FT5 R A &5 18 (142,787) (238,077)
Tax calculated at the domestic tax ABBBRRER M EFE 2
rates applicable in the respective A
countries (17,662) (40,326)
Tax effects of: AT SEHELE
Income not subject to tax BEMT 2 /A (5,356) (333)
Expenses not deductible for tax NEEFR A IE 2 X
purposes 27,791 22,823
Utilisation of previously unrecognised {7 B ARER 2 HIEEE
tax losses (1,301) (432)
Tax losses not recognised RERZHEEE 10,920 8,987
Over provision in respect of prior years B1f & EBEERE - (210)
Income tax expense/(credit) Fiisfims (%) 14,392 (9,491)
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10 LOSS FOR THE YEAR 10 FEFE
The Group’s loss for the year is arrived at after charging/ AEBEFEBEBENR (GTA) TI&
(crediting): 1A ¢
2021 2020
—E=-—F —TTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
(a) Rental expenses HEeEHR
Rentals on land and buildings THRIEFHS 9,041 7,150
Rentals on equipment HEEe 3,403 4,809
Rentals on motor vehicle HEMAS 118 733
12,562 12,692
(b) Depreciation and amortisation #7E % # 84
Depreciation of right-of-use FRBEERE (Mt 14)
assets (Note 14) 28,735 33,483
Depreciation of property, plant Y - RN GREITE (B 13)
and equipment (Note 13) 17,312 18,397
Amortisation of other intangibles — H b R & E# 8 (A7 15)
(Note 15) 3,637 1,689
49,684 53,569
(c) Other operating expenses Hith & EHH
Professional and consultancy fee H ¥ K # & B 19,859 11,085
Travelling expenses ZIRE R 7,908 7,789
Net exchange (gains)/losses B (W) /B RF (9,465) 3,738
Auditor’s remuneration 1% SRR B &
Audit services ENZ RIS 3,037 2,800
Non-audit services IEFAZ AR 1,163 -
Provision for inventories TFERE (Kit20)
(Note 20) 480 1,032
Others HAh 44,066 45 661
67,048 72,105
(d) Other income and other gains, HblU A& E Uz 258
net
Warehouse income BB A (2,478) (2,344)
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of HEME  HERRHZ
property, plant and equipment (zs) BB FHE (2,371) 768
Others HAb (3,486) (2,687)
(8,335) (4,263)
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LOSS PER SHARE 1 BREE
The calculation of the basic loss per share for the year is REREGREREEIIBBRA R G RES
based on the Group’s loss attributable to the equity holders of BABEAREEEREARFADEITER
the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary IRz i FIIEEE -
shares in issue during the year.
The basic and diluted loss per share for the years ended HRANERZRAZETEING BEEER 2
31 December 2021 and 2020 were the same because the BEERAREBRREREZ(BREAILKRE
effect of the assumed conversion of all dilutive potential Mo BERKAIBRBRESEER  WES
ordinary shares outstanding, including the conversion of the BEASBA TEITRND RERITEZE
exchangeable preference shares and convertible bonds, the EEEITE) AFRESHE - SUEE
contingently issuable shares arising from the Acquisition and - FR-ZT-FEF+-A=+—H
the exercise of the outstanding share options, during the year IFFE SRERREEEEMER -
was anti-dilutive.
The weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue REBEEZZT-Z_—FR=ZTE=-_TF+=A
during 31 December 2021 and 2020 were the number of = t+t—BLEFEZEEHTEBERINETY
ordinary shares in issue, as there were (i) no new ordinary HREETLTBERHYE RAAG)LEIR
shares issued under the share option schemes; (ii) no BT B BT TR () WIBE1E
contingent consideration share issued in relation to the (EF&E R T XM sE34(a)i) 2B REK
Acquisition (as defined in Note 34(a)(i) below); and (iii) no new FREURL A BE 7T ¢ A0 (iii) W 4 A R n] R A
ordinary shares were issued as a result of the conversion of B M BT T AR -
convertible bonds.
2021 2020
—E-—& —T-TF
Weighted average number of ordinary 2 217 & 3@ 0% 2 hnt T 198
shares in issue 2,344,818,660 2,344,818,660
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Group’s loss attributable to the equity N A RIRXE G AFE(L
holders of the Company AEBEEE (159,699) (228,029)
DIVIDENDS 12 RE

The Board of the Company does not recommend the payment
of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
Nil).

AAREZETERENBE-_ZE=—_—%F
T A=+—BHLEFEZAAKRE(ZE




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13 W% - HBERREB
Leasehold Aircraft and Plant, Trucks,
improvements aviation machinery trailers and Motor Office Furniture
and hangars equipment and tooling containers vehicles equipment and fixtures Total
BEnzEE REER  BE BH 0 HE EE
RA#E nzk RIA RERRE A HRERE RARRE st

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK§000
AL AL FiET FET FEL FEL AL AL

Year ended Hz-3-%f
31December 2020  +=F=t+-H
a:3:3
Opening net carrying ~ FAIREFE
amount 3,238 55,063 2,646 4203 13,574 4223 3,050 85,987
Additions NE 1,453 4729 2,009 843 2,860 1,671 1,236 14,801
Disposals (Note 35(i))  (H&(#i#35()) - - (14) (867) (159) (80) (4 (1,124)
Depreciation (Note 10) 7% (4 10) (271) (7.431) (1,658) 2712) (3,896) (1,547) (882) (18.397)
Disposal of subsidiaries {HEHBA A
(Note 34(b)) (Wit 34(b) = = (500) = (20) (356) (28) (904)
Exchange differences X 28 (309) (3,419) (191) (376) (184) 108 (63) (4,434)
Closing net carrying ~ EREHFE
amount 4111 48,932 2292 1,091 12,175 4,019 3,309 75,929
At31December2020 A=%=%%
+2Azt-H
Cost A 6,747 105,535 18,809 14,645 23,548 12,824 6,553 188,661
Accumulated ZERERAE
depreciation and
impairment (2,636) (56,603) (16,517) (13,554) (11,373) (8,805) (3,244) (112,732)

Netcarryingamount ~ REFE 4111 48,932 2,292 1,091 12,175 4,019 3,309 75,929




, NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

”/ 13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 13 W% - #BERRE @)

Leasehold Aircraft and Plant, Trucks,
improvements aviation machinery ftrailers and Motor Office Furniture

and hangars equipment and tooling containers vehicles equipment  and fixtures
BENZRE REE  BRHE 2 %E
RREE RE RI& RERE RE BOERE  BARRE

HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
T FET FEr FEr FEr iZ.23 T 7T
Year ended HZ-3--f%
31 December 2021  +=F=1-A
L5E
Opening net carrying ~ FAIEREFE
amourt 4,1M 48932 2,292 1,091 12,175 4019 3,309 75,929
Additions NE 1,467 - 2,328 3,659 4,122 565 356 12,497
Disposals (Note 35(i)) 1% (22 35()) (43) (2,669) (31) (332) (983) (512) (175) (4,745)
Depreciation (Note 10) & (43 10) (470) (7041) (1,178) (1,779) (4491) (1,444) (909) (17312)
Impairment (Note (i) EBE(H () - (5,389) - - - - - (5,389)
Acquisition of WEEMBLA
subsidiaries 231 - - - 49 124 199 603
Transfer to asset held-  EEEH (et &
forsale (Note (i) BE(ME() - (1133) - - - - - (7133)
Transfer i (439) - - - - 453 (15) -
Exchange diferences 5 238 (76) o (103) (189) ) () (99) (#18)
Closing net carrying ~ £XEEEE
amount 4,782 26,791 3,308 2,450 10,830 3,204 2,667 54,032
At31 December 2021  R=B=-%
t2A=t-A
Cost A 8,352 32,438 20,044 11,693 33,549 13,887 7435 127,398
Accumulated ZiERRE
depreciation and
impairment (3570) (5,647) (16,736) (9243) (22,719) (10,683) (4768) (73,366)
Net carrying amount SRS 4782 26,791 3,308 2,450 10,830 3,204 2,667 54,032
Notes: Wit -
(i) For the year ended 31 December 2021, provision for impairment (i) HE_ZT_—F+_A=+—HILEFEE"
losses was made against non-performing aircraft amounting MTIRREMEZREBREEGESREA
to HK$5,389,000. During the year ended 31 December 2021, 5,389,000 L HE-_T-_—F+ = A
the Group committed to a plan to dispose of the respective ET—HIEFE  AEEBORAEHEM
aircraft. As a result, the net carrying amount of HK$7,133,000 AR - At R=ZT=_—F+=_A=+—
was reclassified to asset held-for-sale as at 31 December 2021. B BREFER7,133,000 8 TEHNHEE
The recoverable amount of the aircraft is measured at fair value RHEREEE - ZREOATKESBIZQ R
less cost of disposal which was determined with reference to BEREEXANGE - DR2EBUEHRH
price quotation provided by independent buyer. The input is HREMETE - ZBABBRRE=BREA

considered as level 3 input (Note 3.3). AR (M17E3.3) °
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14 LEASES

This note provides information on leases where the Group is a
lessee.

()

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows
the following amounts relating to leases:

14 HE

AT RHEAEERABAZEHEZE

Ko

()

REGE B BN RER 2 RE

BARBRREERATERESE
2508 -

2021 2020
—EB-—fF —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Right-of-use assets EREEE
Aircraft TR 1 68,748 76,702
Land-use-right and properties T Hb{E AR R 60,788 49,188
Equipment B 316 600
Trailers biii=2) 9,822 17,931
139,674 144,421

Lease liabilities HEARE

Current lease liabilities mEIEEAE 30,821 54,584
Non-current lease liabilities FRBEERE 34,407 51,436
65,228 106,020

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the
2021 financial year were HK$41,991,000 (2020:
HK$24,919,000), including an amount of HK$36,693,000
which represents the carrying value of a land-use-
right transferred from non-current prepayment upon the
Group obtaining the title.

Due to the scale down of freight forwarding business
of Transit Freight Forwarding Proprietary Limited
(“TFF”) under the AL Business Segment during
the year, and keen competition in the market under
COVID-19, that lead to poor operating performance, an
impairment assessment was carried out with a careful
internal operation review in the context of the CGU’s
historical performance and market expectation by the
management.

RZZEZ—FURFEAEFEAE
BEZ S5 AA41,991,000%8 (=
T - T 249190008 T) 0 B
FERASERBEREEZ B IR
FENREE s T HFEAERTDE
36,693,000 /87T °

R 2= K R 3 75 9 30 T Transit
Freight Forwarding Proprietary
Limited (TFF1) F & %8 & & & £
BEBRE MEFEBERRSHE
RIBTHSHEF M BRRLER
B ERERBRELEML
B 2 R 3R I T 35 TR B 1T RU(E AT
il WEERIANFLE -
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14 LEASES (continued)

; NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 HE&E(#E)

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement (i) REEHBERRRERZRE(E)
of financial position (continued)
The recoverable amount is determined based on e eBEAFREBNESEE
value-in-use calculation. This calculation is made with FeoWrrENERANEEATHY
the use of discounted cash flow model, based on BEESEREMECMBEESRA
financial budget approved by management covering EEMFRBEREEAEL - A
a 5-year period. Cash flow beyond the 5-year period FHBREMNREREFH5.0% 2K
is extrapolated using the terminal growth rate of 5.0%, HgEXR(H2ERBREELSM
which is determined with reference to the industry of ZITERZRCEEBENEEME
relevant CGU and country in which the CGU operates. BREE)HEE - FHEETEMA
The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculation FERBHIWT ¢
are set out below:
Gross margin percentage EF| = 13% to & 16%
Annual revenue growth rate in 2022 —EC_FRNFERAERR 24%
Annual revenue growth rate from 2023 onwards =& = = F 4B EEF R AL E X 10%
Terminal growth rate REIEE R 5.0%
Pre-tax discount rate BRTHT IR = 18.4%

Management determines estimated gross margin
percentage and annual revenue growth rate based
on past performance and its expectation of market
development. The discount rate is determined with
reference to specific risks relating to the relevant CGU
and country in which the CGU operates.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s AL Business
Segment owned intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets before impairment
amounted to HK$5,306,000, HK$49,710,000 and
HK$100,719,000, respectively. As a result of the
assessment, the Group has recognised an impairment
loss of HK$17,760,000 for the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: Nil) under the AL Business Segment (Note
5). The impairment loss includes the provision for a non-
performing aircraft amounting to HK$5,389,000 (Note
18), and the impairment loss provided for TFF CGU
amounting to HK$12,371,000, which was allocated on
a pro rata basis to the carrying amount of each asset
in the CGU. Accordingly, a provision for impairment
of right-of-use assets of HK$10,342,000 (Note 14(ii))
and provision for impairment of intangible assets of
HK$2,029,000 (Note 15) of the CGU was made for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

EBR AR

EEEENBERBEREHRMS
BRNBEPEERFTENRREE
WARR - TR XTH2E RIERA
ReEFBEURZRATELRUL
LERFKAB S ERRRERE

R—_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H' ' &
EBIMERYMREB S BEE
EREAE - M HBERZHEN
REREEZEEBRBRERN) 25
/5,306,000 7T 49,710,000
JC % 100,719,000/ JT > B R %
g AEBEERBEZT = —
F+-_A=t+—BHLEEEMST
kY REBSBTHERBEESRE
17,760,000 B L (ZE =T F : #)
(MizE5) - ZBEEBEBEETRR
W~ 1% 5,389,000 7T (K7 13)
M TFFR S EAXENRBZRE
B 812,371,000 7T » Ty 3% £ Bl
PEERSEAENSEHEENE
mE At HE_E-—F+=
A=+—HLFE REELEN
EnBlaTiefE AEEE 2 RERE
10,342,000 /8 7t (FI & 14(ii)) M &
& E 2R A5 2,029,000 7% 7T (M
HI5)(ZE_ZTF  M|E) -



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

14 LEASES (continued) 14 HE#)
(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement (i) REEHBERRRERZRE(E)
of financial position (continued)
Sensitivity analysis has been performed by management EEEDETHBRES N HBF
with details set out below: BEINET :
Further
provision
Key assumptions resulted
EHZ
FTERR E—SRE
HK$'000
FET
If gross margin percentage decrease by 1% HEMETE 1% 8,154
If annual revenue growth rate decrease by 1% f§FE W ALE K K TFE 1% 9,081
If terminal growth rate decrease by 1% MR ERTR1% 1,448
If discount rate increase by 1% Wi E EFH 1% 2,257
(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income (i) REESWFERERAZRE
statement
The consolidated income statement shows the following REWmRETIATEBAEE 2K
amounts relating to leases: A :
2021 2020
—E_—fF —ETF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use {FREZERES Y
assets
Aircraft TR 8,349 8,420
Properties L ES 17,292 22,166
Equipment & 255 407
Trailers pii== 2,839 2,490
28,735 33,483
Provision for impairment BB R 10,342 =
Interest expense (included in FEFX (GEARERA)
finance costs) (Note 8) (KteE8) 8,342 15,494
Expense relating to short-term fHEHEEZER Gt AH
leases (included in rental <EB8H)
expenses) 9,159 7,883
Expense relating to leases of low- B EXWENRESHEE
value assets that are not shown ZEBEEERELRAX
above as short-term leases (st A€ EZR)
(included in rental expenses) 3,403 4,809
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(i)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

14 LEASES (continued)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated income
statement (continued)

The total cash outflow for leases in 2021 was
HK$58,478,000 (2020: HK$54,854,000).

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various offices, warehouses,
equipment, aircraft and trailers. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 1 year to 6 years,
while the lease terms for the rent of a hangar from Kenya
Airports Authority was 45 years commencing from 1
June 2004 and the lease terms for the lease of land-use-
rights located in Laos will expire on 8 December 2102.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants and
are not used as security for borrowing purposes.

Variable lease payments

Leases of the Group do not contain variable payment
terms that are linked to an index or a rate.

Extension and termination options

Termination options are included in a number of property
and equipment leases across the Group. These options
are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of
managing the assets used in the Group’s operations.
The termination options held, if any, are exercisable
only by the Group and not by the respective lessor. The
Group’s leases do not include any extension options.

Residual value guarantees

The Group did not provide residual value guarantees in
relation to leases during the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020.

EBR AR

; NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
; 1215_:\ é 7

F 75 ¥R 3% B 5E

14 HE&E(#E)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

REFEWBRBERE KA E)

R-E-_—FzHERSRLAE
£58,478,000 B L ( —Z T — T F :
54,854,000/87C) ©
REBHETEHREAKT
AREFBHESHAZET  BE - R

B MiEgkEE - HESH—KE
EAH—FE2F MASEDEK
SEBREERKE 2 HHAE =
TTENA —BRFT45F - ML
REWZ T4 E AERE 2 BR #
RZ—ZE=F+=AN\BHH -

B R R BB (TR A
02 BT RER R - B

Wk N BRI R - T AIE
ERZIER

o R 175
AEBEZHEITESRE KR
K RFER 2 AT E A TR
ERRAUEIERE

RIDEEBAAARBEZENER
REME  ZFEERRERAE
BAKEXKHIACEEZREE
A e TR IDEEE (A ) ER
BMAKETE - MABLEEAATH
TE - ARBZEEL T BFEEM
JERE R

FIrEEER

HE-_Z-_—Fr_F_ZTF+=
B=+—BLFE AEETER
TERERBEEER -
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15 GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES

15 BEREMEFLEE

2021 2020
ZB--F RIRE
Other Other
Goodwill intangibles Goodwill intangibles Total
B HtEKEE HE HUEMAE Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET FHET FET
Note (i) Note (ii) Note (i) Note (ii)
M) Bt (ii) K13z (i) Wiz (i)
At 1 January R—A—H
Cost BRA 104,945 27,581 132,526 107,047 46,601 153,648
Accumulated amortisation R RIEE
and impairment (104,045)  (19,935)  (124,880) | (104,945)  (34296)  (139,241)
Net carrying amount REFE - 7,646 7,646 2,102 12,305 14,407
Year ended 31 December ~ HE+-A=1+—8
HEE
Opening net carrying amount F#EHE FE - 7,646 7,646 2,102 12,305 14,407
Acquisition of subsidiaries  WEHTBA A
(Note 34(a)) (W12 34(a)) 238,525 80,831 319,356 - - -
Amortisation (Note 10) B (HE10) - (3,637) (3,637) = (1,689) (1,689)
Impairment (Note 14(i)) A (A5 14(1) - (2,029) (2,029) - - -
Disposal HE - (1,350) (1,350) = = =
Disposal of subsidiaries HEH BN
(Note 34(b)) (W22 34(b)) - - - (2,102) (2,969) (5,071)
Exchange differences ERER - (1) (1) - (1) (1)
Closing net carrying amount £ 42 B2 & 238,525 81,460 319,985 = 7,646 7,646
At 31 December W+=-RA=+—H
Cost B AR 343,470 107,062 450,532 104,945 27,581 132,526
Accumulated amortisation R RIEE
and impairment (104,945)  (25,602)  (130,547) |  (104,945) (19,935)  (124,880)
Net carrying amount REFE 238,525 81,460 319,985 - 7,646 7,646




, NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HmEMBHRRNE

”/ 15 GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES 15 BEREMELEE @)
(continued)
Notes: et -
(i) Gooduwill is monitored by management at the CGU level within an (i) BEREEENEED HLREEEEMMK

FHEITEE  U2EXBERBRMET
ZEBRR - AREEHEORECHANR

operating segment with reference to the business performance
based on geography and type of business. A summary of the

allocation of goodwill to the identified CGUs of the Group is as SEEBMIBMENT ¢
follows:
2021 2020
—E--% —3-%F
Reportable Accumulated Net carrying Accumulated Net carrying
segment Gross impairment amount Gross impairment amount
2HRAH L ZitHfE REEFE 5 2itAfE FEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TET FET Tz FET
Frontier Services Limited (“FSL”) AL 94,975 (94,975) - 94,975 (94,975) -
Frontier Services Limited ([FSL]) RZERMR
Phoenix Aviation Limited (“PAL’) AL 6,730 (6,730) - 6,730 (6,730) -
Phoenix Aviation Limited ([ BB&H% ) Mz R
Chestah Logistics SARL (“Cheetah”) AL 1,772 (1,772) - 1,772 (1,772) -
Cheetah Logistics SARL ([Cheetah |) fERMR
TFF AL 1,468 (1,468) - 1,468 (1,468) -
TFF nERR
GlobalMedicare Limited (“GMC") Others 38,284 - 38,284 - - -
RRERERAR ((RRER]) £t
Security Associates Limited (“SAL") Sl
and other security business in
Hong Kong 88,351 - 88,351 - - -
$ABRERAR ((RARA]) Zik - RBRRER
REMEERRER
Nam Tai Security Company Limited Sl
(Nam Tai") 72,300 - 72,309 - - -
BAERARAR (K] R RERER
Deep Sea Security Limited Sl
(“Deep Sea’) 39,581 - 39,581
REZREBERA ([RB)) ZiR - RERER
343,470 (104,945) 238,525 104,045 (104,945) -
On 15 December 2020, the Group completed the disposal of its RZZEZZTF+-ATEHHB ' A&EBETHKH
51% equity interests in Maleth, its goodwill was derecognised EH M Maleth 2 51% & # » H B8 & b B
accordingly. Further details in relation to the disposal of SEHIERR o BRI E Maleth Z i — S BERN
Maleth are set out in Note 34(b) to the consolidated financial A B RERMTE34(b) ©

statements.

R-E-_—F+A-+-H AEBEBE
& & B A & Y iE DeWe Security Limited
REMBAR([EBREM])100% 2 ETR

On 22 October 2021, the Group, through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, acquired 100% of the issued share capital of DeWe
Security Limited and its subsidiaries (“DeWe Group”), a group

of entities principally engaged in the provision of security and
guarding services and healthcare services, details of which are
set out in Note 34(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

K EREES—(EAEERFRMLRNLE
BRBEERRERBOTEKE  £—F
FBEINAR & B SRR A0 EE 34(a) ©
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15 GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(0

(continued)

A goodwill impairment assessment was performed by
management at each CGU or operating segment level for the
year ended 31 December 2021. The recoverable amounts of
the CGUs were determined based on fair value less costs of
disposal. This calculation was made with the use of discounted
cash flow model, based on financial budget approved by
management covering a 5-year period. Cash flow beyond the
5-year period was extrapolated using the terminal growth rate.
Key assumptions used in the fair value less costs of disposal
calculation are set out below:

2022 Annual 2023 Annual

revenue revenue

growthrate  growth rate

“BCCEE

WARRE

GMC RRER 339.7% 68.4%
SAL and other security business in % BBRRAMEERRE

Hong Kong B 1% 6%

Nam Tai BA 54% 3%

Deep Sea RE 814% 70%

2024 Annual
revenue
growth rate
= L
KARRE

8.6%

6%
3%
20%

15

2025 Annual

KABRE

revenue
growth rate
ZRCIEE

BAEREMETLEE (&)

Hiat - (&)
(i (&)

HE—T-—F+-_A=t+—HIFE &
BERERCELBNNEEDBHEEST
BERETE - HEeELEMNZAIRESHE
BARBEERLEEXAETE - Wit ETER
NEEhFHTESEEBIEZMBEER
FRAEENTRASRERNEL - AF
HENGZHESRERARPERERESR -
STEAAEBERDERKAAEZREET
U

2021

—E--%
2026 Annual Discount rate
revenue Terminal Post-tax of lack of
growth rate growthrate  discountrate  marketability
ZEINEE RZEHE
hARRE  REERE  REARRR Rz
3% 3% 3% 20% 25%
3% 3% 3% 12% 25%
3% 3% 3% 12% 25%
5% 3% 3% 17% 25%

A higher annual revenue growth rate is projected in 2022 and
2023 for GMC to reflect the growth as a result of the resumption
of cross-border operation and the removal of social-distancing
measures that will be gradually cancelled in the second half of
2022.

Deep Sea was a new business in 2021. Its high annual revenue
growth rate noted in 2022 and 2023 is due to its organic growth
based on its available contracts.

Management determined estimated annual revenue growth
rates based on past performance and its expectation of market
development. The terminal growth rate is determined with
reference to the industry of respective CGU and country in which
the CGU operates. The discount rates were determined with
reference to specific risks relating to the relevant segments and
countries in which they operated.

REBENR - —FR - _=F2FE
A RRIBH LA - ERBRERELEE
MERAREREREENR T —F 45
EABUEFER 2R ©

REA-T-—FIHER - ZAAR-T
CoER-EoCEIEFERAEERE
ERERAANGEL ARIER -

EEEENBERRRAHNTIHERNT
HEERAFRRAREER - REBRXT)
2ERPREELEBU I TERZRSEE
BUEEMERRETE - fTRXH2EHM
BMOBMEZENBMEEMERREMIRE
RERIREEE




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HmEMBHRRNE

15 GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES 15 BEREMEREE£)

v

(continued)
Notes: (continued) HiaE - (48)
(i) (continued) (i) (%)

RIBHGTH - SRSE L BIRAFRER

Based on the assessment, the headroom available in each CGU

is set out below: R
SAL and other
security business
GMC in Hong Kong Nam Tai Deep Sea
BREHEBREAM
REREERE ERTRER B i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
226 17,926 4,891 1,970

ERECETHRESN - BB

Sensitivity analysis has been performed by management with

details set out below:

Reasonably
possible changes
on key assumptions
FERBRZ
RETRERE

If relative annual revenue
growth rate increase/
decrease by 5% - 10%

AR E IR A R R
EF S TFE5% E10%

If terminal growth rate
increase/decrease by 1%

i = H 3% R =R
R TEA%

If discount rate increase/
decrease by 1%

fig 338 =
TR 1%

GMC
RRER

Fair value less costs
of disposal will
increase/(decrease)
by HK$3,716,000/
(HK$3,595,000)
RABEREEKAREG
#m,/ CRd)
3,716,000 7T/
(8,595,000%7T)

Fair value less costs
of disposal will
increase/(decrease)
by HK$1,617,000/
(HK$1,436,000)
RABEREEKARG
#m, Cld)
1,617,000 7T,/
(1,436,000 % 7T)

Fair value less costs
of disposal will
(decrease)/increase
by (HK$2,847,000)/
HK$3,213,000
RAABEER L EK A
Gl /#n
(2,847,000 7T) /
3,213,000 % 7T

SAL and other
security business
in Hong Kong
BREAEBEREM
BERRRER

Fair value less costs
of disposal will
increase/(decrease)
by HK$3,049,000/
(HK$3,010,000)
RABER SRR
#m/ Cid)
3,049,000 7T,/
(3,010,000%7T)

Fair value less costs
of disposal will
increase/(decrease)
by HK$16,032,000/
(HK$12,260,000)
RABEEREER ARG
#m,/ Cld)
16,032,000 % 7T,/
(12,260,000 % 7T )

Fair value less costs
of disposal will
(decrease)/increase
by (HK$14,831,000)/
HK$19,365,000
RAABEERLEER ARG
CRiA) /#
(14,831,000 7T) /
19,365,000 % 7T

The impairment assessment is performed based on a valuation
prepared by an independent professional valuer.

&L= [

BRAT

T

Nam Tai

BA

Fair value less costs
of disposal will
increase/(decrease)
by HK$4,891,000/
(HK$4,828,000)
RABER L EKA’
#m, CRd)
4,891,000 7T,/
(4,828,000 7T)

Fair value less costs
of disposal will
increase/(decrease)
by HK$14,036,000/
(HK$10,734,000)
RAEERLE KA’
#m,/ Gl )
14,036,000 7T/
(10,734,0007T)

Fair value less costs
of disposal will
(decrease)/increase
by (HK$12,847,000)/
HK$16,842,000
AABEER L ER ARG
CRiA>) /48
(12,847,000387T) /
16,842,000 7T

Deep Sea
o

Fair value less costs
of disposal will
increase/(decrease)
by HK$3,918,000/
(HK$3,802,000)
DRABERD SRR
R A)
3,918,000 7T,/
(3,802,000 7T)

Fair value less costs
of disposal will
increase/(decrease)
by HK$3,808,000/
(HK$3,265,000)
RAEER LSRR
#m, CRl)
3,808,000 7T,/
(3,265,000 7T)

Fair value less costs
of disposal will
(decrease)/increase
by (HK$4,437,000)/
HK$5,183,000
RAABEERLEER ARG
CR) /4
(4,437,000 7T) /
5,183,000/8 7T

AR RT A ThAR AR — 4 78 S B 5 (LBl AT A 2

ZAGEHETT
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15 GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES 15 BERHEMEREE(£)

(continued)
Notes: (continued) HiaE : (48)
(i) Other intangibles represent operating certificates and trademark, (i) HtEREEXZEWBEZRWBARES

MELBERAE  ERBERERYNMS K
TR E  REBERRTHF B -

telemed application software, order backlog, customer
relationship and non-compete agreements derived from the
acquisition of various subsidiaries.

The carrying amounts of intangible assets contained the below BREEZ FREREUNTEERR
classes of assets:

Operating Telemed
certificates and Non-compete Customer application
trademark agreements relationship ~ Order backlog software Others Total
fegs BRER
G FHRFhE RFBE ARBAE ERas 4] Eh
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT AT AT AT AT
Year ended 31 December 2020 HZ=B=%%
tZAZT-ALEE
Opening net carrying amount ENERFE 1,468 4% 5320 - - 5,022 12,305
Amortisation By (502) (239) (744) = = (204) (1,689)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBARHits40b)

(Note 34 (b)) (629) - (2,340) - - - (2,969)
Exchange differences EXzE = = = = = (1) (1)
Net carrying amount FEFE 337 256 2,236 - - 4817 7,646
At 31 December 2020 i 23

tZB=1-H
Cost A 1,921 2,654 3,354 - - 13,646 27,581
Accumulated amortisationand ~ EiFEHREE

impaiment (7,590) (2,398) (1,118) - - (8,829) (19,935)
Net carrying amount KHE 337 256 2,036 - - 4817 7,646
Year ended 31 December 2021 ~ HZ-F--%

tZR=t+-BLEE
Opening net carrying amount ENREFE 337 256 2,036 - - 4817 7,646
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERBARHE M)

(Note 34(a)) - - 51,713 22,094 964 - 80,831
Amortisation B (337) (239) (1,751) (1,068) (53) (189) (3637)
Disposal hrt - = - = = (1350) (1,350)
Impairment B - (17) (2,012) - - - (2,029)
Exchange difference EfzE - - = = = (1) (1)
Closing net carrying amount EREEEE = - 56,246 21,026 911 3201 81,460
At 31 December 2021 R-B--%

+tZA=t-8
Cost AR 1,921 2,654 61,127 22,094 964 12,296 107,062
Accumulated amortisationand ~ ZEEERHE

impairment (7.927) (2,654) (4.881) (1,068) (53) (9,019) (25,602)

Net carrying amount KEFE - - 56,246 21,026 911 3211 81,460
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(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ii) (continued)

15 GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES

15

The provision for impairment of other intangibles of
HK$2,029,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021
represented impairment of customers’ base and non-
compete agreements arising from the acquisitions of TFF in

2015.

No provision for impairment on other intangibles was
considered necessary for the year ended 31 December

2020.

SUBSIDIARIES

The table below lists out the subsidiaries of the Company
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 which, in the opinion of
the directors, principally affected the results of the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of
the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Name

1

FSL

FSL

FSG Aviation Limited

FSG Aviation Limited

PAL

BEfZz

Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operation

AL
B/ BEsY

Bermuda

BRE

Bermuda

Nominal value of

issued ordinary shares/
preference shares/
paid-up capital/registered
capital

BRITEER/
Eik/BaRER/
EMEAEE

US$1,000 common

1,000 %2 EER

US$1 common

1XTZERBK

KES550,488,000 ordinary

550,488,000 5 E% %%
LR
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BEREMERLEE (&)

HiaE - (48)
(i) (&)

HE-_ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—ALtEE  Hft
A E 2 RERE 2,029,000 BT HER=F
—HAERBTFFREEZBEF BRI FHE
ZIEME °

HE-_Z-_THF+-_A=+—RHILFE 8
ERRBAREMEREEFLRERE -

o) PN

EERR TRIHEARR-F_—FR
TECEFS A=+ BHAFEXER
KEBZEIEAKRBEABNEEFEZA
REIMBAR - RERERBRITR  EF
RRBASN B EAMKBAR ZFE -

Percentage of attributable equity interest held

by the Company Principal activities
RARFREGRERD L TEXR
Directly Indirectly
E& 583
100% - Investment holding and

(2020: 100%)

100%

provision of aviation and
logistics services
- REABRRRERZ RDRRS

(Z2ZZF 1 100%)

100%
(2020: 100%)

100%

- Aircraft holding and provision
of aviation and logistics
services

= REsERRERZE R RRS

(ZZZZF 1 100%)

100% Aircraft holding and provision
(2020: 100%) of aviation and logistics
services
100% RsER Rz R RS

(ZZZZF 1 100%)
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16 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 16 MEAR (&)

Nominal value of

Place of issued ordinary shares/

incorporation preference shares/

or registration/ paid-up capital/registered  Percentage of attributable equity interest held
Name operation capital by the Company Principal activities

BRALER/

FMR LR BiR/CHRER/

£ B/ BEn% EMEXEE KRR EERER L TEEH
Directly Indirectly
EE B

FSGC Security Service  Cambodia 1S$50,000 ordinary - 60% Provision of security and
(Cambodia) Co., (2020: 60%) consultancy services
Ltd

FSGC Security Service ~ ¥HE 50,000% T2 &R - 60% REZRRANRS
(Cambodia) Co., (Z2ZFF :60%)

Ltd

FSGL (Cambodia) Cambodia USD50,000 - 100% Provision of logistics and
Logistics & (2020: 100%) consultancy services
Consultancy
Services Co., Ltd

FSGL (Cambodia) RIEE 50,000% 7 - 100% AR Rk AR
Logistics & (ZBZZF: 100%)

Consultancy
Services Co., Ltd

Boten Frontier Services ~ Laos RMB1,000,000 ordinary - 100% Provision of security training
Limited (2020: 100%) services

Boten Frontier e ARH1,000,0007C - 100% RERRIERS
Services Limited Lak (ZE-FF - 100%)

FSG (Myanmar) Myanmar US$150,000 ordinary - 55% Provision of security and
Security Services (2020: 55%) consultancy services
Co., Ltd

FSG (Myanmar) i) 150,000 % L2 EBiR - 55% REZRRBARSE

Security Services
Co., Ltd

(ZB2%F 1 55%)
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16 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name

1

TFF

TFF

Transit Freight Co-
ordinators Limited

Transit Freight Co-
ordinators Limited

Frontier Xinda Security
Consulting (Beijing)
Company Limited *

TeEELEER
(R BRAT

Frontier Logistics
(Shanghai)
Company Limited *

TR (L)
BRAH

DVN (Group) Limited

DVN (Group) Limited

Place of
incorporation
or registration/
operation

AL
B/ BEny

South Africa

EE:

Zambia

ElkS

Mainland China*

B

Mainland China*

A

British Virgin

Islands

EBRARE

Nominal value of

issued ordinary shares/
preference shares/
paid-up capital/registered
capital

BRTEER/

Bk /EHRER/
EMEREE

ZAR70,521,780 ordinary

70,521,780 3ER 55
LER

Zambian Kwacha 10,000
ordinary

10,000Et TR RE
LERR

RMB100,000,000 paid-up
capital

AR 100,000,0007T
ZEARER

US$10,000,000 registered
capital

10,000,000 % T Z AR

US$10 ordinary
US$15,000,000
preference

10ETZ LR
15,000,000 0
ZBRER

, NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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16 KMIEAT &)

Percentage of attributable equity interest held

by the Company

FARFREERERD L

Directly
E&

100%
(2020: 100%)

100%
(ZZZZF:100%)

Indirectly
B

100%
(2020: 100%)
100%
(ZFZFF - 100%)

50%
(2020: 50%)
50%
(Z2ZFF :50%)

100%
(2020: 100%)
100%
(ZZZZF :100%)

100%
(2020: 100%)

100%
(ZZZZF :100%)

Principal activities

IRER

Provision of freight forwarding
services

RHEERBRS

Provision of freight forwarding
services

Rt EERBRS

Investment holding and
provision of aviation and
logistics related consultancy
services

RABRRERMERZERDREHE
HARB

Provision of logistics related
services

REMRIABRS

Investment holding and
management

RARRRER
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16 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Nominal value of

16 KMEAT &)

Percentage of attributable equity interest held

by the Company

FARFREERERD L

Directly
E&

Place of issued ordinary shares/
incorporation preference shares/
or registration/ paid-up capital/registered
Name operation capital
BRALER/
Bl BiR/CHRER/
£ B/ BEn% EMEXEE
Telequote Data Hong Kong HK$10,000 ordinary
International Limited
EEANERARAT B 10,000 T2 EiBiR
GMC Hong Kong HK$10,000 ordinary
RHER B 10,000 T2 EBiR
SAL Hong Kong HK$10 ordinary
S HER B 108z EBR
Nam Tai Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 ordinary
(DN Ek 1,000,000 2 EB R
Deep Sea Hong Kong HK$10,000 ordinary
w8 B 10,000 T2 EBiR
* Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprise with limited

liability under the PRC law

# For identification purposes only

Indirectly
B

100%
(2020: 100%)
100%
(ZZ2ZF5F:100%)

100%
(2020: NJA)
100%
(2224 TER)

100%
(2020: N/A)
100%
(Z2=%%: TER)

100%
(2020: N/A)
100%
(Z2=%%: TER)

100%
(2020: N/A)
100%
(Z2=%%: T8ER)

Principal activities

E2:$33

Provision of online financial
market information services

RESLERHEERRY

Provision of healthcare related
Services

REERREAERE

Provision of security services

REZRRY

Provision of security services

REZRRY

Provision of security services

REZRRY

* RETEEEEMANIBBECEERAT

A R]

# (EX2 A3
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT

, NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HmEMBHRRNE

17 RBELATAR-—REELTZEE

VENTURE
(a) Interests in associates (a) REELATZER
2021 2020
—EB-—F —T-FTF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
At 1 January R—A—~ 39,401 53,885
Capital contribution to an associate [[—ZKE & N BER (A2 (1))

(Note (i) 17 B
Acquisition of subsidiaries s BB B A A 219 =
Share of profits/(losses) of EIEEE S N EDE R (Ei8)

associates, net FEE 4,423 (1,225)
Provision for impairment (Note 31) B (K177 31) - (8,693)
Transfer to assets held-for-sale ERERELELE (WWi7E31)

(Note 31) - (4,514)
Exchange differences fE N Z2E 313 (52)
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 44,373 39,401
Notes: Biar

(i During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group,
together with independent third parties, agreed to
incorporate a company in Singapore, named FSG
Leasing LTE (“FSG Leasing”). The Group made a capital
contribution of SGD3,000 (equivalent to HK$17,000) in
return for 30% equity interest in FSG Leasing. The Group
accounts for FSG Leasing as an associate.

(i) BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=+t—HLHF
B AEBERBYFE=HRERT
I EEMAC S, —R AR FSG Leasing
LTE([FSG Leasing]) - ZX & & 5t
M FSG Leasing 2 30% & # * &
3,000 %7 7t (#8 % 7 17,0007 7T ) °
REERFSG Leasing A—FKE & A
e
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT
VENTURE (continued)

(a)

(b)

Interests in associates (continued)

The following list contains only particulars of principal
associate as at 31 December 2021:

Place of incorporation or

Name registration/operation
8 HEMAR LR BT,
Global Pioneer Assurance DRC

S.A. (“GPA”)
Global Pioneer Assurance ME(%)

S.A. (TGPAY)
FSG Leasing Singapore
FSG Leasing N

There were no contingent liabilities relating to the
Group’s interests in associates at 31 December 2021
(2020: Nil).

Summarised financial information for a material
associate

The tables below provide summarised financial
information for the associate that is material to
the Group. The information disclosed reflects the
amounts presented in the financial statements of the
relevant associate and not the Company’s share of
those amounts. They have been amended to reflect
adjustments made by the entity when using the
equity method, including fair value adjustments and
modifications for differences in accounting policy.

50% (

30% (

17 REBEQRATR—REEQATZER
(%)
(a) REEQT 2R (E)

Interest held
FriskEs

50% (2020: 50%)
ZETF 1 50%)
30% (2020: N/A)

ToRF  TERA)

— =

(b)

TRHIWR-_ZTE=-_—F+ = A
=+ BEBBEQARZFFS

Principal activities
TEER

Engaged in general insurance
business

HE—RRBER

Engaged in equipment leasing
business

HERBEEED

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—HBItE
ERAEERBENR 2R 2K
RAB(ZE-TF : @|&) o

—REABE QAR 2MBERNMRE

TREHRGASEMSBER M
BRBEIZHBENRE - FIKRE
AR RRARE SN E 2 M IBRE
25 2%E2 E  MELIFARA
BHZZEEH HELHEBUR
BRE RS IR RS P Z SR
BREAABEFABREAESAEEE
EFTEZIERT °

2020

—TTF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET F&T

Non-current assets FEMEEE 5,368 2,867
Current assets mMENEE 99,259 83,894
Current liabilities mEAE (21,635) (11,846)
Net assets BEFE 82,992 74,915
Profit after income tax for the year FEBRTETE %M 7,609 858
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2 EUzs,/ (F518) 238 8,077 (3)
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7/ 17 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT 17 RBERARR—FREEQARZER
VENTURE (continued) (%)
(b) Summarised financial information for a material (b) " XNEAKEATZHBEERHE
associate (continued) ()
Reconciliation to carrying amounts: BRETE 2 #15% :
2021 2020
—E-—fF —T-FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FEIL
Net assets as at 1 January R—A—BZEEFE 74,915 74,918
Profit for the year FEimH 7,609 353
Other comprehensive income/(loss) HwamUkzs, (EE) 468 (356)
Net assets as at 31 December R+ A=1+—BEEFE 82,992 74,915
Group’s share in % REBEEE (D) 50% 50%
Group’s share in HK$'000 REBEENL(FHET) 41,496 37,458
(c) Individually immaterial associates (c) ERIFERKEAQT
In addition to the interest in an associate disclosed br EXCATH BRI — KB & A Al 2 #E
above, the Group also has interests in a number of = AEETMRZREAERE
individually immaterial associates that are accounted for AR Z BRI FEE KB & N m) A RE
using the equity method. = o
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETF
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Profit/(loss) after income tax BT R E R A, (E1E) 2,061 (2,651)
Group’s share of profits/(losses) for ZAEBEEEFEE HF], (BE)
the year 618 (1,402)
Group’s share of other AN G E FE AL H A 2 Wz
comprehensive income 79 126
Group’s share of total AEEEGEEKE(B8)
comprehensive income/(loss) 1B=E 697 (1,276)
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17 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT 17 RBERARR—REEQARZER
VENTURE (continued) (%)
(d) Interest in a joint venture (d) R—IEELTFZER
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —TFTF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 January n—H—AH 983 -
Capital contribution to a joint venture [—XRA& % R BER (K127 (1))

(Note (i) - 2,236
Advanced to a joint venture A—RAEERNRIRR 96 -
Share of loss of a joint venture EE—X&8 % QR EIE (1,079) (1,253)
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H - 983

Note:

(i)

On 3 December 2019, the Group entered into a
shareholders’ agreement with Rainbow Sea Limited
(“RSL"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CITIC
Capital Holdings Limited in relation to the establishment
of a joint venture company, Frontier Strategic Resources
Holding Ltd. (the “dV Company”). On the same date, the
Group entered into a limited partnership agreement and
the subscription agreement pursuant to which the Group
and RSL shall commit to a contribution of US$25,000,000
each to the investment fund (the “Fund”) managed by the
JV Company and the JV Company’s subsidiaries. Pursuant
to the agreement, capital call out of the contribution
commitment was subject to the terms and conditions as
stipulated in the agreement. As at 31 December 2020, the
Group had capital commitment for investment in the fund
of US$24,712,000 (equivalent to HK$191,614,000) (Note
36(a)).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, both parties of
the JV Company decided to abort the Fund and to close
down the JV Company. As at the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements, the entire process is
still in progress.

Hiiz -

(i)

R-ZZ—hFE+=-F=A A%LEHR
HEERAR(IRE]) (AHEERN
ERERARZEEEZEMBAR)
B AKX 3 & % A & Frontier Strategic
Resources Holding Ltd. ([ & & &
AR % - B - AEEET
SNEREBHERREE - Bt
REE KRGS B HE 25,000,000
ELTHALARREMBARRE
BrREES (B - RBEHE
SEREYEZ BB EBURN I FTR]
A2 GG - RZT_ZTF+=
A=+—8  K&E#%E24,712,000
=T (FE1R 191,614,00087T) 2 &
SIE 2 EANFESE (HitE36(a)) °

NEE-_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—81t
FE - AEQARZ2HAERERLE
BIEZESWBBAZAEE AR - KA
RAEMBHRESED - BERED
THEITH -
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18 DEFERRED TAXATION 18 EEHE

v

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when KB & EENTTHER A5 BN BA % 15 & /2= £ Bl B
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets HEaEHERWNELEFREHEERBE
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income TEE—HBEREHE - BIIEETSH
tax assets and liabilities relate to the same tax authority. The BEENBRYHE - KYER2IBELEMSH
deferred income tax assets and liabilities after offsetting are BERARHET -
as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—& —T-TF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTST A E 6,245 17,635
Deferred income tax liabilities REFREHEE (43,766) (32,708)
(37,521) (15,073)
The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities FAREMSHEERBECRF KRR
during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting ERTE ALERE [ A SR8 ) 2 BT

of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

Deferred income tax assets EEFREBHEE

Tax losses Unrealised exchange differences

HEER ABREHEE

2020 2020 2020 2020

“52%% S 2 e :3 St 3

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAT FET Z:23 T T AT

At1 January R-A-R 23,709 17,003 1,356 - 1,279 3,591 26,344 20,684
(Charged)fcredited to R4 M#ER
consolidated income ~ ($1%) /4t A

statement (16,280) 6,253 233 1,390 553 - (15,494) 7,643
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEHE AR - - - - 16 - 16 -
Disposal of subsidliaries  HEHBAT - (214) - = - (2,401) - (2,675)
Exchange diferences B 28 (709) 637 1) (34) (52) 8 (808) 692

At 31 December RTZA=t-A 6,720 23,709 1,542 1,356 1,796 1,219 10,058 26,344
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18 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)
Deferred income tax assets (continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carried forward to the extent that realisation of the related
tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. At
31 December 2021, the Group did not recognise deferred
income tax assets of HK$67,883,000 (2020: HK$57,731,000) in
respect of unrecognised tax losses of HK$289,710.000 (2020:
HK$246,888,000) that can be carried forward to offset against
future taxable income. The unrecognised tax losses include an
amount of HK$160,976,000 (2020: HK$118,512,000) arising
from Mainland China and HK$748,000 (2020: HK$585,000)
arising from Zambia, which is due to expire within one to five
years and HK$42,381,000 (2020: HK$54,056,000) arising from
Kenya, which is due to expire within one to ten years.

Deferred income tax liabilities

Accelerated tax depreciation

Other intangibles

DERENR AftEVEE

2020 2020

18

LB IR (#)
EIEFRSHEE (&)

EIEFTS TR &8 B A AR AR 45 S B IR S 1B
R EZFTHEETHEEBB AT B BRI
JERFL &M EREEABERN = AR - R
—E-—F+-_A=+—H A&EEFT
AR RERBRBRA Z RERHIE
B 18 £ 289,710.0008 T ( —Z & = T F :
246,888,000/ 7T ) + i H MRS 2 KR
RIEFTSH & E 567,883,000 T (=F
— =4 57,731,000 7T ) - AHERFIE
EREAETEARENDEAZERE
7 5l £160,976,0008 T ( — & = T 4F :
118,512,000/8 7t ) & 748,000/ L (= &
ZZF :585,00087T) 0 ERIBBEBRN
—ZERFRNER ' MEEDRMELZ KE
R IEE1842,381,000/8 T( — T —ZT4F ¢
54,056,000 7T) R —ZE T F AER °

EEFREHAR

Deferred income
BEYA

2020 2020

2020

5% C50%E %% C50%E %%

HK$'000 HK8000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK§'000

i FAT Fér 71 Fér FAT iz 71 Fér 7T

At1 January R-A-A 13,754 14123 5,737 1213 19,393 20,545 2,533 1,805 47 43,746

(Credited)charged o REEAKER

consolidated income ~ (5fA) /1%

statement (4,468) 3 (1,264) (498) 1 x| (6% 79 (1425 | (1667)

Acquisition of subsidiaries  WEHBAR 4 - 13,337 - - - - - 13,380 -

Disposal of subsidiaries ~ HENEAF - (34) - (1,039) - - - - - (1,073)

Bxchange differences EREE (290) (112) - 1 570 1,190 1) (68) 207 i

At 31 December Rt=B=1-A 9,039 13,754 17810 5131 19,963 19,393 67 2,533 47579 aH417
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DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)
Deferred income tax liabilities (continued)

Pursuant to the Kenyan Income Tax Act, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to non-residents from the
enterprises established in Kenya. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Kenya and the
jurisdiction of the non-residents. For the Group, the applicable
rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding tax
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Kenya. At 31 December 2021, the Group did not recognise
deferred income tax liabilities in respect of temporary
differences relating to the withholding tax of HK$2,586,000
(2020: HK$1,418,000) on the unremitted profits of subsidiaries
in Kenya amounting to HK$25,858,000 (2020: HK$14,182,000),
that would be payable on the distribution of these retained
profits, as the Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and it is probable that these profits will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future. Therefore, the related
temporary difference will not be reversed and will not be
taxable in the foreseeable future.

NON-CURRENT PREPAYMENTS

18

19
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LB IR (#)
EIEFRSHAME(E)

BIESEDFEHE  RERERL Z 1
¥MEEREIREKEBIZ10% B UTEN
MeoWAERHEIEERZAIZRESFE
BB S M ERAREKZEMR
Ko AEEME F MATERE10% - B
bt AEEEEARRBEEERIZZE
M AR ATk 2 B S BS FENR - K=
T _—F+-_A=1+—8 AEELER
75 e 2T B A Bl K 9k 4 7 25,858,000
BT( =T — T F 14,182,000/ 7T )
Z B F 2,586,000 T(—FT =T F :
1,418,000 7T) B M L = 2 iERIR T
FISBaB(ZRBERRD KZERE &
PR  RERRD LS ZEH B
AR ZBEBER - B R AER R
RATGE N FHITHIK - FLt - BT RZE
ERTSRE] RAERBEET TSR -

FEENE TN

2021 2020

—E--F 3

Engine Other Engine Other
overhaul deposits overhaul deposits Total
GlE-2:80 Hitke ElEg Hipiz e @t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January R—A—H 31,154 23,763 54,917 31,784 22,372 54,156
Additions RE 7,801 20,684 28,485 6,154 - 6,154
Acquisition of subsidiaries 4B KB A - 249 249 = = =
Utilisation of prepayments  EIBTEMNF - - - (4,564) = (4,564)

Transfer to right-of-use EREGREEE

assets - (36,693) (36,693) - - -
Exchange differences EHESR (1,006) (192) (1,198) (2,220) 1,391 (829)
At 31 December Rt=ZA=+—H 37,949 7,811 45,760 31,154 23,763 54,917

The non-current prepayments for engine overhaul represent
the engine overhaul cost prepaid to aircraft manufacturers but
the engines are not yet overhauled and are not expected to be
utilised within twelve months after the reporting period.

EBR AR

SIERiE 2 FFRNHTAN RIETAN TR
ERZ B ERIEKA  EESIZEHRE
TiREARAETERREDRR T+ —EA
ML e
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NON-CURRENT PREPAYMENTS (continued) 19 FAMBNRE)
On 3 November 2017, the Group entered into an agreement RZF—tF+—A=H ' AEEFZ—
pursuant to which the Group agreed to purchase a land- Dz Bl AEEREAREREA
use-right, which is located outside Hong Kong, for a R # 30,000,000 7t ( 18 % 7 36,693,000
cash consideration of RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to BT WBARE BRI L FERRE -
HK$36,693,000). On 13 January 2021, the purchase of land- RZEZ—F—A+=H ' WELTHEF
use-right was completed upon the payment of final instalment AREENINEE —HBEEEARK
of purchase price amounted to RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to 10,000,000 7t ( 48 & 7 12,930,000 7% 7T )
HK$12,930,000). BT ©
INVENTORIES 20 78
2021 2020
=B=—F —TTF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Aircraft spare parts and consumables — FHEZ 2p {4 K& FEH 10,604 9,166
Packaging materials BEYR 424 568
Healthcare consumables BEREEM 694 -
11,722 0,734
Less: Provision for inventories B FERE (6,998) (6,518)
4,724 3,216

During the year ended 31 December 2021, provisions for

inventories amounting to HK$209,000 (2020: HK$887,000) on
obsolete aircraft spare parts and consumables, HK$97,000
(2020: HK$145,000) on packaging materials and HK$174,000
(2020: Nil) on healthcare consumables were recognised
in other operating expenses in the consolidated income
statement.

HE-_Z-_—F+-A=t+—HLEE"
PREMET I REMTE %”%1%209,000
BIL(ZZE _ZF 887,000 L)
*%H%{ﬁg?ooo;‘%ﬁ(_?_gi
145, ooo) R B EAR R REM B 174,000 78
T(ZZEZZF  BERGAEKERZH
ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁqﬁ&wo
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TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 21 ESEWREBERERERE
2021 2020
—E-—fF ZERTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Trade receivables from contracts with  RKEBFE AL 2 & 5 E W FIE

customers 189,233 147,170
Bills receivable EWNERE 23,052 24,927
212,285 172,097
Less: loss allowance Bt IR RE (16,699) (16,637)
195,586 155,460

The fair values of trade and bills receivables approximate their
carrying amounts.

Credit terms of one to three months from invoice date are
generally granted to major customers. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. The
Group performs ongoing credit evaluation of its customers
and makes frequent contact with its customers, if necessary.

An aging analysis, based on the invoice date, of the trade
receivables as at the date of statement of financial position is

as follows:

Within 1 month —@AA

1 - 2 months —E=mEA
2 — 3 months Mz =184
Over 3 months HBmiB=1EA

BHRBFBAREREEREZ A EERE
FREEMRE -

AEE—METIEZFARZAR—=
“BAZEES - REBGHEERSIES
HiRWER 2 BIKGRIE - REBHERFS
BEETERES YEPHEFER
(WFE) -

REBIMRE B - BIMBHEZFRS
I (EREEE) W -

2021 2020
—E-—F —T-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
81,402 55,809
30,597 33,154
14,527 6,814
62,707 51,393
189,233 147,170
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21 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 21 BSRVWHREREBRRE &)
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, aging analysis of bills RZEZ—FRZTE_FFF+A=1+—
receivable based on the bills receiving date is as follows: H BREEZER T (ERZERIKR
BE)MT
2021 2020
—B-—F —EEF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHT FHETL
Within 1 month —@AA 1,407 2,970
1 -2 months —ZmEA - 7,129
2 — 3 months MZE=1E A - 3,922
Over 3 months HBiE=18A 21,645 10,906
23,052 24,927
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and bills REB 2B RERBGRIERERRE ZEE
receivables are denominated in the following currencies: BEATIEBE
2021 2020
—E-—F ToTHF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHETL
us$ = 44,008 59,209
RMB AR 63,023 49,138
HK$ AT 37,070 -
ZAR EEREES 42,151 49,805
KES BREHES 4,096 4,085
Nigerian Naira (“NGN”) FEAFZzH ([fEBRIEZH|) 11,202 1,389
Others Hh 10,735 8,471
212,285 172,097
The Group transferred certain bank’s acceptance bills AEBEER=-ZTE=_—F+=-_A=+—RH#&
amounting to RMB10,200,000 (equivalent to HK$12,476,000) BETWERECRITEALEBRARE
with recourse in exchange for cash as at 31 December 2021 10,200,000 7t ( 48 & 72 12,476,000 % 7T )
(2020: RMB11,900,000 (equivalent to HK$14,139,000)). The —T-_FTF: AR 11,900,000t (17
transactions have been accounted for as collateralised bank £M14,139,000/7L)) + NEIRE © %
advances (Note 26(a)). ERXRSEERABFEBEITERIE (M =E
26(a)) °
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the R|ERR EEERzKSEEAR L
reporting period is the fair value of trade and bills receivables B S5 RWHIERERER 2 AAEE -

mentioned above.
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TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Movements in the loss allowance of trade receivables are as

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HmEMBHRRNE

21 BEREWFHERERES &)
LYW EIBY BEBESHNT -

follows:
2021 2020
—E=--—F —TTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At 1 January wn—HA—H 16,637 13,882
Additions INE 62 14,266
Disposal of subsidiaries HEM B AR - (11,511)
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 16,699 16,637
PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22 FERR - ZERHEMERFIE
RECEIVABLES
2021 2020
—E=--—-F —TTF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
Deposits and other receivables R R H A EURIE 95,814 89,909
Amounts due from associates JE Ui Bl % X R R IE 9,741 12,064
Prepayments FE 25,321 33,426
Value-added tax receivables FEYEE T 3,364 3,056
134,240 138,455
Less: loss allowance Bl IR BE (58,774) (27,970)
75,466 110,485
The amounts due from associates are non-interest-bearing and BHE-_ZTZ-_—FR-_ZE=-_FTF+=-A
repayable on demand during the years ended 31 December =+—RHIFE  EUWEEQRRIBELE
2021 and 2020. MEER B REEREREE o
The fair values of deposits and other receivables approximate e RkHMERFBBZ ANBEELRERER

their carrying amounts.

ERE -
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22 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 21 BEFEWRERERERE#Z)
RECEIVABLES (continued)
Movements in the loss allowance of certain deposits and other ETiReREMERRB(BCREE)Z
receivables, which were financial assets, are as follows: BEBHZHOT
2021 2020
—E=-—F —TTF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHT FET
At 1 January mn—A—H 27,970 27,970
Additions NE 30,804 -
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 58,774 27,970
23 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 23 BHERREEEY
2021 2020
—E=--—-F —TTF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY
Cash at banks and on hand RITRFHRIES 185,991 134,670
Bank deposits with original maturities ~ RE|BHA=R@AKA T2
of three months or less RITHER 81,440 184,011
267,431 318,681
Maximum exposure to credit risk EERRzRSEE 261,865 310,367
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily RITAEFIRE BIRITIF BT ORI = BREUR
bank deposit rates. Short-term bank deposits earn interest at B MHRITERDIRE B 2R ER

the respective deposit rates. & o
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued) 23 RERREZEEY(#)
The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances are BeRB|THEFZEREENN T E KT
denominated in the following currencies: & :
2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
RMB AR 54,410 119,833
uss ET 119,480 151,797
HK$ BT 70,522 14,353
Euro ("EUR") BT (TR T 1) 2,401 3,289
ZAR e LS 631 9,752
KES BEELS 11,204 12,009
Others HAth 8,783 7,648
267,431 318,681
The cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in AEBUARKFEZRE RRITEFT
RMB are not freely convertible into other currencies. However, TEREMEEE RIS - Rl - RiBF
under PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and SMNEE FEAR RAERE - EERMNEEER
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign o OARBEEETEE BRI AR T
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange IEEBZRITBARBEB/EME
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct %
foreign exchange business in the PRC.
The fair values of all bank balances approximate their carrying FTRSRITHEIT 2R J L H B mE(E A
amounts. Ao
TRADE PAYABLES 24 EH5RENNE

An aging analysis, based on the invoice date, of the trade

RBEBRR BFRNRAZRE DT

payables as at the end of the reporting period is as follows: (ERERR)WT :
2021 2020
—B-—F —EEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Within 1 month —@ARN 46,557 32,409
1 - 2 months —ZM1EA 9,406 14,134
2 — 3 months MZE =18 A 3,906 4,908
Over 3 months HmiBd=1EA 9,777 8,772
69,646 60,223
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24 TRADE PAYABLES (continued) 24 BEENFREE)
The carrying amounts of trade payables are denominated in ESRENFIEZERENATIEEE :

the following currencies:

2021 2020
—E=-—F —TTF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET

ZAR ek 29,383 37,279

US$ E7T 27,266 13,422

KES BREES 370 371

HK$ BIT 1,943 52

Others Hiptb 10,684 9,099

69,646 60,223
The fair values of trade payables approximate their carrying BENFBZAAEBEEEEEDEMR
amounts. Ao
25 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25 HtENKERESER
2021 2020
—E=--—-F —TTF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Amount due to an associate (Note (ii) — FEN — SR B A T FRIE (H1:7 (i) 39,000 38,770
Amount due to a director of ENASE-—RWBAR —BE
a subsidiary of the Group (Note (ii)) BFRIE (M 57 (i) 14,082 =

Other accrued expenses HipEst&H 33,353 25,640

Investment payables (Note (i) B RN FRIBE (B2 () 7,018 6,979

Deposits received BEliRE 121 187

Others Hith 25,742 19,436

119,316 91,012

Notes: Hiat -

(i) At 31 December 2021, the investment payables include (i) RZE-_—F+-_A=+—8H  REENEK
the consideration payable to Chinese Online Corporation EEREENENELZBERAA (AEE L —
Limited, an associate of the Group, of US$900,000 (equivalent REE A R)) 2R {E900,000% T (HEFR
to HK$7,018,000) (2020: US$900,000 (equivalent to 7,018,000 7T) (== — =4 : 900,000
HK$6,979,000)). 7t (#8511 6,979,000%7T)) °

(i)  The amount due to an associate and the amount due to a (i) KRB FR-F-ZTF+=-_A=1+—
director of a subsidiary of the Group were non-interest-bearing B EN—REEQRRERENREE—
and repayable on demand as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. R E A 7 — % E =R EM SRS RA

RERMEE -
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’/ 26 BORROWINGS 26 EX

2021 2020
—EBZ—fF —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FEL

Bank loans and bank advances for SBITERRITHEZEIRITER
discounted bills (Note (a)) (K7t (a)) 21,439 18,443
Convertible bonds (Note (b)) AR IES (A2 (b)) 172,840 -
Total borrowings B ez 194,279 18,443

The fair values of the borrowings approximate their carrying
amounts.
(a) Bank loans and bank advances for discounted bills

The bank loans and bank advances for discounted bills
are repayable as follows:

Rz AnBEEAEREERS -

(a) BITERRTARBRTEN

FAERRARRRBETRREE
o

2021 2020

—EZ—fF T T

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within 1 year —FR 21,439 18,443
Bank loans and bank advances for  $R1ITEZ RITHEHRITER

discounted bills denominated in: A3 E%5E :

ZAR EZE LS 8,963 4,304

RMB AR & 12,476 14,139

21,439 18,443

The bank loans of HK$8,963,000 (2020: HK$4,304,000)
are denominated in ZAR bear interests with reference
to South African Prime Rate ranging from 7% to 7.25%
per annum and are repayable 3 months after the
respective drawdown dates (2020: 7% to 10%). At
31 December 2021, these bank loans are secured by
certain trade receivables of ZAR56,096,000 (equivalent
to HK$27,526,000) (2020: ZAR64,161,000 (equivalent
to HK$34,012,000)) and are guaranteed by an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company to the
maximum extent of ZAR25,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$12,268,000) (2020: ZAR14,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$7,421,000)).

LA IE 7B 2 R 17 B 5£8,963,000 7
(= ZF = T : 4,304,000 7T ) & @
EEBERFNNENT7%ET7.25%
(ZE_ZFF 7% E10%):t 8 AR E
ERBNBHE=ZMAEE - N T =—
FE+-A=+—H8 %EHETEFHH
=T Z 5 & W 5% 18 56,096,000 F I i £
(HZER27,526,00087T) (ZE-_FTF :
64,161,000 F3 3 B 5 (48 £ 74 34,012,000
B EERRARRRZ —REEE2E
B B A 7] £2 £ & /= 25,000,000 73 FE B 4
(HHZEM 12,268,000 8 TL) (ZE=ZFF :
14,000,000 73 FF B 5 (#8 55 70 7,421,000
PEIT)) ZHEAR o
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26 BORROWINGS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Bank loans and bank advances for discounted bills
(continued)

Bank advances for discounted bills amounted to
HK$12,476,000 (2020: HK$14,139,000) with recourse
have been accounted for as collateralised bank
advances. The discounted bank’s acceptance bills and
the related proceeds of the same amount are included
in the Group’s trade and bills receivables (Note 21) and
short-term borrowings, respectively at the end of the
reporting period.

The effective annual interest rates incurred on bank
loans and bank advances for discounted bills are 3.3%
to 7.25% (2020: 3.6% to 10%).

Convertible bonds

On 22 October 2021, the Company completed the
issuance of convertible bonds with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$210,000,000 to five different
subscribers (the “Bond Holders”), which are convertible
into 210,000,000 shares of the Company at a conversion
price of HK$1.00 per share upon full conversion (the
“Convertible Bonds”). Pursuant to the terms of the
Convertible Bonds, they bear interest at a coupon rate
of 2.5% per annum and are due for repayment on 21
October 2023 (the “Maturity Date”). Interest attached
to the Convertible Bonds are payable to the Bond
Holders on the Maturity Date. The Company has the
rights to extend the Maturity Date of the Convertible
Bonds for an additional one year pursuant to the
terms of the Convertible Bonds. The conversion rights
attaching to any Convertible Bonds restrictions: may
be exercised, at the option of the Bond Holders, to
convert the Convertible Bonds in whole or in part of the
outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Bonds
into Conversion Shares, provided that the exercise of
the conversion rights will not result in (i) the Company
breaching the rules governing the exercise of convertible
securities under the Listing Rules or (ii) the total issued
Shares held by the public (as defined under the Listing
Rules) being less than 25% (or the minimum public
holdings for companies listed on the Stock Exchange
as prescribed by the Listing Rules from time to time).
Assuming the exercise in full of the conversion rights
(the “Conversion Rights”) attached to the Convertible
Bonds at the initial conversion price of HK$1.00 per
Conversion Share, an aggregate of 210,000,000 Shares
(with an aggregate nominal value of HK$210,000,000)
will be issued.

26 ER(#)

(a)

(b)

RTERRITREBRTER ()

MEBERELHMBEEZERRITER
12,476,000% 7t( = & = & F:
14,139,000 8 7T ) B fE A A EIFRTT
BEINER - HRBRTEA L ZERRA
ESHEEEMBHREERKRES
RKOBIBEEREEE 5 EKFRIA
KU EE (isEo1) REHERA -

SR1TE R T IR AR AR 17 B8 T P A
EZBBEFENEARII%ET.25%(=
T-TE 36%%10%) °

AR ES

RZE-_—F+A=-+=H ' &R
AITEAE AL TRAREA(EHE
BADETALE%A210,000,000
Bz BB ES AR B E R
% IBE SR 1.0078 TR BRRE
# i 4 290,000,000 A% & 2 &) % 1
([ ES]) - REBEURRES
ZIER - TRBREFIREF25% 2
ZHEMEFE WR=ZT=_=F1
A=+—BUZHA]) B HHEE -
MR ESFMT 2 EEREEAR
IR TFEFFEA - BETBRARE
HZAER - AR BB EG A RRE
HF2BHBALRRE—F o Tl R
BEHMH o BRETIZESZFEA
HIBIBITHE  BAEBRESZEE
RN A BB A S EE R BB
7 BIIREITEERETSEH()
RpalER EmRABBITHETR
BEEZRIY KHA2BR(EER
EWRADBEZEBTROAH
DR 25% ok _E i1 53 B T AR TE 2 B
R EMARIZREARFERE -
R % 1% & B #2 B B 1% 1.00 75 7T /9 7))
TR EBRHITE AR ES TN
veEnE((Higkgl) BEmsaH
210,000,000 % f% 1 ( E 1B 4 % &
210,000,000,8 70 ) 1T ©




7/ 26  BORROWINGS (continued)

(b)

Convertible bonds (continued)

The fair value of the liability component of the
Convertible Bonds was calculated using future
repayments discounted at an estimated discount rate of
9.98% per annum. The residual amount of approximately
HK$40,283,000 (being the difference between the fair
value of the Convertible Bonds at issue date and the fair
value of the liability component on initial recognition)
is assigned as the equity component and is included
in equity heading convertible bond equity reserve. The
liability component is subsequently stated at amortised
cost.

26 ERX
(b)

, NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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K (&)
RS (E)

BMBREFEERNZANEBED
EEF998% MR RETH
ZAREREME - FHASEED
40,283,000 7T (BN AT A fR B 5 A 8%
THEHZARBERAEBERBHR

PR Z ANBEZEZHE)IERA
ﬁs 75 21D R AT A AT IR AR (B 55 4 o
ﬁsz%éﬁﬁﬁ? c BEMNHKERBIRE
SHAK AT AR

The convertible bonds are presented in the consolidated AR ESFREA T ERARET
statement of financial position as follows: N
2021 2020
—B-—F —EEF
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FEIT
Face value of bonds issued BETESF 2HE 210,000 -
Other equity securities — value of HibligEE s — HREEE
conversion rights (Note 32) (K17£32) (40,283) -
169,717 =
Interest expense* FERZ* 3,123 -
Interest paid 2ARFLE - -
Non-current liability FEREBE 172,840 -

Interest expense is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate of 6.59% to the liability component.

* FERIRERFR6.59% T ABE

27 o
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26 BORROWINGS (continued) 26 B (#)
BEIBHELEZEE

BMERBEL CBEHENOT :

(c) Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities (c)

The reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities is as follows:

Bank loans
and bank
advances for
discounted Lease
bills liabilities Other loan Total
RTERRAR
FERTBN HESE HitER o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FET
At 1 January 2020 R-ZE-Z%-A-AH 4172 111,664 340 116,176
Changes from financing cash flows: BERSHEZET:
Net drawdown of bank loans and bank REBTERRIE
advances for discounted bills ZEPTRTEE 14,421 - - 14,421
Repayment of other loans EELHER = = (134) (134)
Repayment of principal elements of lease  EERETE
liabilities e HHR - (26,668) = (26,668)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BEB&HE 7 BEE 14,421 (26,668) (134) (12,381)
Other changes Hit#E
Recognition of lease liabilities BANESRE - 24919 - 24,919
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - - (227) (227)
Foreign exchange differences ERZS (150) (3,895) 21 (4,024)
Total other changes Eh28eE (150) 21,024 (206) 20,668
At 31 December 2020 RZ2=%%
+=A=+-8 18,443 106,020 - 124,463
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26 BORROWINGS (continued) 26 ER(#)

v

(c) Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities (c) BMEIZBELEE8E(E)
(continued)
Bank loans
and bank
advances for
discounted Lease Convertible
bills liabilities Bonds
RITERRITE
ZERTBI HEak TERES
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE--%-F-H 18,443 106,020 - 124,463
Changes from financing cash flows: RERSREZ2E:
Net drawdown of bank loans and bank REBTEXRNBZE
advances for discounted bills BIrRTEE 3,643 - - 3,643
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds /TR Rk &S 2 1708 - - 210,000 210,000
Repayment of principal elements of lease ~ EERERAE 2 A2 54
liabilties - (37574) - (37574)
Total changes from financing cash flows RERETRE R 3,643 (37,574) 210,000 176,069
Other changes Hib2E
Derecognition of lease liabilities RERANESE - (3,59) - (3,59)
Other equity securities - value of EthiRiEEs
conversion rights - BEERE - - (40,283) (40,283)
Interest expenses FlEm% - - 3,123 3,123
Acquisition of subsidiaries KERBAR - 2,475 - 2475
Foreign exchange differences ERiEH (647) (2,097) - (2,744)
Total other changes EftE5RE (647) (3,218) (37,160) (41,025)
At 31 December 2021 R-E--5+-A=t+-8 21,439 65,228 172,840 259,507




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

27 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 27 RERESZERMIA

2021 2020
—EC-—F —EEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAT FHEIT

Financial assets at amortised cost REHR AT Rz 2 RUE E

Trade and bills receivables (Note 21) % 5 e U 718 K fiE W Z 4%
(Biaot) 195,586 155,460
Deposits and other receivables Re RHE M EWFRIE 46,781 74,008
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 23) IR&RIR&ZEY (H723) 267,431 318,681
509,798 548,144

FVOCI BEAREBEEREMEE

Weas 51 BR 5 4
509,803 548,148

Financial liabilities at amortised cost REBHEKARFEZ E@MBE
Trade payables (Note 24) B 5N RIB (Hat 24) 69,646 60,223
Other payables and accruals Hitb e RIB R ETEA 119,195 90,825
Borrowings (Note 26) B (K1 26) 194,279 18,443
Lease liabilities (Note 14) HEEREKZE14) 65,228 106,020

Financial liability at FVPL EBARBEBEBERYIEZ

CRIBE

Contingent consideration HARRAE 135,055 -
583,403 275,511
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SHARE CAPITAL

28 A&

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
BRO.10BTZEBER

Number of shares HK$ 000
&1 8B FHET
Authorised EE
At 31 December 2020 and 2021 RBE-_TER_FT_-—F
+=—A=+—H 6,000,000,000 600,000
Issued and fully paid ERITREHZE
At 31 December 2020 and 2021 RIBE-TFN T - —F
+=—HA=+—H 2,344,818,660 234,482
The authorised share capital of the Company has been HEZZ-_ZF+_A=+—HLFE
increased from HK$300,000,000 divided into 3,000,000,000 7 83 5% %8 50 3,000,000,000 A% A 15 15 AN
shares of HK$0.10 each (the “Shares”) to HK$600,000,000 RNA T ZEFERZA - #300,000,000 7% 7T
divided into 6,000,000,000 Shares by the creation of an % #%3,000,000,000 & F AR E{E0.10 8 7T
additional 3,000,000,000 Shares during the year ended 31 Z B (T B 49 1) 32 A0 % 600,000,000 7
December 2020, all of which will rank pari passu with all JC 5 4 6,000,000,000 A% f% 17 @ & EF 15 £
existing shares of the Company. The increase in authorised RARARMBRBROEBRZHA - EE
share capital was approved by the shareholders of the RAIEINAARRRRRR_-Z=_ZF 1A
Company at the special general meeting of the Company by THHERRFRAE LLSAZRRS
way of a special resolution on 17 September 2020. LA o
29 SHARE OPTIONS 29 HBikHE
Share Option Schemes B AEST &

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 28 March 2012. The Scheme continues to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions of the Eligible Participants
(as defined in the Scheme) to the Group. The Scheme is also
designed to provide incentives and help the Group in retaining
its existing employees and recruiting additional employees.

The Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing from 28 March 2012, the date of the approval
of the Scheme. Subscription price in relation to each option
pursuant to the Scheme shall not be less than the higher
of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date on which the
option is offered to an Eligible Participant; (ii) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares. The options are exercisable within the option period as
determined by the Board of the Company.

EBR AR

RZE—Z—F=A=Z+NH ' KQAHEH
—IEERERTEI([5T8)) - srElEES T
kRAUGERSHE(ERXRFTE)HA
SEELZER - STEIMEERHEEH R
A EERBEREREERBEES R
AEaEESRECE T ——F=#
—+NABREAERA10F - BRRE
S EEREZRBENSER TS
BaE: (\NEERSHEERTEREY
A XM ERERIT 2RO KT E
(hBERLABRMAELEXABIMEH
WERES 2D FHKTE : RK(ii) &
NEE BRERARRESSETZE
BEEEAR A A FITLE -
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued)
Share Option Schemes (continued)

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Company can grant options to
Eligible Participants for a consideration of HK$1 for each
grant payable by the Eligible Participants to the Company. The
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to each Eligible Participant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any twelve-
month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares then in issue.

Pursuant to a resolution passed at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 10 June 2019, a new scheme
mandate limit was refreshed, which allowed the Company to
grant 234,481,866 options, representing 10% of the Shares
in issue as at 10 June 2019. During the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020, no share options were granted
and exercised under the Scheme. At the end of the reporting
period, the total number of options that can be granted was
234,481,866 (2020: 234,481,866).

Movements in the number of outstanding share options
and their related weighted average exercise prices were as
follows:

29

BREE)
BRESE(E)

RIEFTE > ARFAAMAERSEERD
BRE SOBREZAER1ET  H
BERZREINTARAE - REM+Z
BAME ERTERER2EEZER
B(BEETR CEHERAERTEZE
i) BITEREBRITRE TERIT RN
BB TSEBAERCHETRMNZ1% -

BERAARNE-_T—LFA+BL
TZBRRBFRS LBBZRER
STEIRERECET Y EARREL
234,481,866 0 AR - MER =T — N1
FRNATHEBTRHGZ10% - REZE
—E - FR-FE-_EF+-_R=1+—
ALIEFE @ ARARWERE TS L RIT
FERE - RREHR IREZEBR
TE 48 8 5 234,481,866 10 ( =T — T4 ¢
234,481,866 17) °

R T BRI B 2 B ) B AR B A
THITEEMT

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TE

Weighted Weighted

average average

exercise exercise
price per Number of price per Number of
share options share options

R mE ANt
FHTEE BRESE EESSEeE S ]

HK$ HK$

T BT
At 1 January Rn—H—H 1.127 71,679,276 1.130 76,039,276
Granted =3 - - - -
Exercised 2176 - - = =
Lapsed B R 1.127 (71,679,276) 1.170 (4,360,000)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H - - 1.127 71,679,276
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7/ 29 SHARE OPTIONS (continued)
Share Option Schemes (continued)

There was no outstanding options as at 31 December 2021
(2020: 71,679,276). During the year ended 31 December
2021, no share options were exercised and 71,679,276 share
options were lapsed (2020: 4,360,000 share options were
lapsed).

Share options outstanding at the end of the reporting period
have the following expiry dates and exercise prices:

Expiry date EIHH

21 August 2021 —E-—%)\A=-+—8
23 August 2022 T _FNAZ+=H
26 August 2023 —E-=f/\A=+xH
29 August 2024 —EWFENAZTNA

29

Exercise
price per
share
BRITEE

HK$
B

1.100
1.410
1.310
0.800

" NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B
BRESE(E)

R-TE-_—F+-_A=+—H #E(Z
T T 1 71,679,27610 ) MARITEZHE
BE - 2T -—F+_-_A=+—HIt
FE - BIEEREETERT71,679,276 10
BREE AR (ZZE=ZF : 4,360,00013
BRED R -

R|BERRERTEBRE 2R B KT
EEMT

Number of options
BREHE
2021 2020
—EB-—F —TFTF
- 12,337,030
- 14,497,030
- 21,397,030
- 23,448,186
- 71,679,276
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29 SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 29 MBI (@)
Share Option Schemes (continued) BRESE (&)
The details of movements of the outstanding share options MARITEZERERNFAZZEFHFBL
during the year are as follows: I
Weighted
Outstanding Options Options Options ~ Outstanding average
options at granted exercised lapsed options at  closing price
1 January during during during 31 December  before dates
2021 the year the year the year 2021 of exercise
R=%=-% R=%=-%
-A-A tZA=+-B  RIERH

HKTEZ FhRH Fhfif ERRH MATE  ZMETH
Bhke ZBRE ZBRE P i ZBRE LGl

HK$'000
AT
The Scheme it
Date of grant REAH 22 August 2016
2 ENAZTZR
Exercise price per option BhBREER HK$1.100
1.100%7T
Exercise period {1 22 August 2017 -
21 August 2021
ZZ-tE\AZ1ZRE
i S 1V oy
Held by a director H-285KE
Dr. Hua Dongyi 5t 12,337,030 - - (12337,0%0) - -
Date of grant RHEH 24 August 2017
ZZ-tE\A=tHA
Exercise price per option BhBEREEE HK$1.410
1H0ET
Exercise period i 24 August 2018 -
23 August 2022
ZI-\FNAZTWAZE
i St |V o
Held by a director H-%EZHE

Dr. Hua Dongyi ER-fit 14,497,030 = - (14,497,030) = =
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7/ 29 SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 29 MBREE)

Share Option Schemes (continued) BRESTE (E)

Weighted
Outstanding Options Options Options ~ Outstanding average
options at granted exercised lapsed options at  closing price
1 January during during during 31 December  before dates
2021 the year the year the year 2021 of exercise

R=%=-% R=%=-%
-A-A TZRAZt-B  RERAA

HRTEZ EhRH Fhfif FRKN WAGE  ZHETH
BhkE ZBRE ZBRE P i R LG

HK$ 000
AT
Date of grant REAH 27 August 2018
ZE-NFNA=ttR
Exercise price per option lhERETEE HK$1.310
131031
Exercise period fifed 27 August 2019 -
26 August 2023
“E-NENRZTtRE
ZEZZENAZHSR
Held by a director H-RESKE
Dr. Hua Dongyi E5-fit 21,397,030 = - (21,397,030) = =
Date of grant REAH 30 August 2019
“I-hENA=TA
Exercise price per option BRERENER HK$0.800
0.8007%7
Exercise period i 30 August 2020 -
29 August 2024
ZE-REN\R=TRE
“ZoRENAZTAA
Held by a director H-ZEEHE
Dr. Hua Dongyi ER-fBT 23,448,186 - - (23,448,186) - -
There was no employee benefit expenses arising from options FAMESBREEBRES I BTER
issued under employee option plan during the year (2020: REEZEEBERMNAI(ZZEZZF:

HK$6,106,000) (Note 7). 6,106,000 77T ) (HI5E7) ©
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31

SHARE AWARD SCHEME 30 RUTEEEE
The Company has adopted a share award scheme on 10 PIN/N —hFE+Z AT BEHR—
December 2015. The share award scheme does not constitute I8 % Tﬁ ﬁﬁb a‘l‘ %J HEMRAUNEI7TEM
a share option scheme for the purpose of Chapter 17 of the = R RENET BN A AR RS -
Listing Rules. The purposes and objectives of the share award RO REFEZENRRE NRREEE
scheme are to recognise the contributions by Eligible Persons BAT(ERRRMEBE) MEZE
(as defined in the share award scheme) and to provide Bt WA TREABEZZEATALTEHR
them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual PIRHEEERERY  NAEREEZE
operation and development of the Group and to attract —HBRWRSIAT -
personnel for further development of the Group.
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no REE-_ZT-_—FR-FT_TF+=A
share was granted to any Eligible Persons under the share =+—BIEFE  WERERDEEE
award scheme. MEANEERALELR®D
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no RBEZE - —FRZZFE_ZTF+=A
share of the Company was acquired by the trustee of the share =+—H” ¢¢F f& 7 2@t 8l 2 X FEA
award scheme. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, no share WEEBEARARRZRG - RZTEZ—F K
was vested to any Eligible Person and no unvested share of —E-TF+_A=+—HB  TERNE
the Company was held in trust for the share award scheme by BTHEMEERAL  ROZEFE X
the trustee of the share award scheme. FEABL DA R AR () 22 ) ‘l'i‘J & 255t
NFEB AR RIAREBHORG
No expenses arising from share award scheme was REEZZ-_—FR=ZZE=FTF+=A
recognised during the years ended 31 December 2021 and =+—HLEFE" I?ﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁ@)d‘%?i
2020 as part of employee benefit expenses. AT WHERAEERIRASZ 2 —517 -
ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE 31 BHIEHEEE
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ERTF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHT FHETL
Assets held-for-sale RFEHEEE
Property, plant and equipment M - R R (Mat 13)
(Note 13) 7133 -
Loan to an associate (Note (i)) mA—REERATIREER
(BT (i) - 5,585
Interest in an associate (Note (i) e /NI - F
(BT (i) - 4,514
7,133 10,099
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ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE (continued) 31 HELEEE#)
The movement of assets held-for-sale is as follow: BIEHEEEZ2#EHNT
2021 2020
=B=—%F —TTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FBT
At 1 January wn—HA—H 10,099 6,209
Transfer from loan to an associate ERAN—RBEQRIREER
(Note (i) (B (i) - 5,585
Transfer from interest in an associate ~ ERBER —FBL AR ZER
(Note (i) (B1£ (i) - 4,514
Transfer from property, plant and EEAYE  ERERK
equipment (Note (ii)) (B13E (i) 7133 =
Disposal H & - (6,182)
Provision for impairment VoRIERE L] (10,396)
Exchange difference &N =% 297 (27)
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 7,133 10,099
Notes: Hiat -
(i) On 8 December 2020, the Group entered into an equity (i) RZZF_TF+-_ANA  AEEHEBK
repurchase agreement with an existing shareholder of ISDC (the T2 RIER— %fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ((ﬂ%t%%

“ISDC Buyer”) to dispose of its 47% equity interests in ISDC of
HK$13,207,000 and the assignment of remaining loan to ISDC of
HK$5,585,000 at an aggregate consideration of RMB8,500,000
(equivalent to HK$10,099,000) (the “ISDC Disposal”). The
carrying amounts of the interest in the associate was written
down from HK$13,207,000 to HK$4,514,000, such that it was
measured at lower of their carrying amounts and fair value
less costs to sell. An impairment provision against the Group’s
interests in ISDC of HK$8,693,000 was set aside as at 31
December 2020.

The ISDC Disposal was initially completed on 8 December
2021 upon the receipt of the aggregate consideration. As at
31 December 2021, no consideration was received from the
ISDC Buyer and the transaction has been lapsed. In view of
the recoverability of the loan to an associate balance and the
marketability of the equity interests, a provision for impairment of
HK$10,396,000 has been recorded in the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has reclassified one aircraft
from property, plant and equipment to assets held-for-sale as the
Group intended to dispose of one Boeing 737 aircraft with net
carrying amount of HK$7,133,000.

BBREN DI —HOREEBE R

HEHERBBRLZE2HFS FZM%M&*Z
13,207,000 57T RERFIHER T RHFE L2
B 137 &2 Bx 5,585,0008 ¢ A BAARK
8,500,000 7T (#8574 10,099,000 7T ) ([ Bl
BREBHESRHEEEE]) - AEEREE
A A) 2 ¥ 7 AR E B B 13,207,000 7 7T #fUR
4,514,000 7T * BIAREERAAEE
BHER R ZBREEFE - RASKERBIE
21 B b 2 s 2 R B 7 5 8,693,000
BLTER-_T_TF+_A=+—HBfEH -

BERZ2MAEEREHEFER T _—F
TZANBEREBREEZIDTTK - R
T-—F+-A=+—B  YEABREBZZ
PR ERE A WBEMRE  MZRHEX
W ERA—RBERRREEREHZ A
el R Bk fE 2 B - BRGRAEMB®RE
TR E & 10,396,000 7 7T ©

RZB-_—F+-A=+—H BAREKEHE
B EREF(E 7,133,000/ 8T —RKE
73T IR - MARE D KRR EADE
ERRBEEFORERHEHEEE °
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32 RESERVES 32 f#%E
Equity  Share-based
Share Contributed Exchange General instrument ~ compensation  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
R
a1 EARS B GE —fRERE BRIARE LRERE S @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
AT FEr AT AT AT AT AT FEr
Mo (i) (Noefi)  (Norefii)  (Nolefi)  (Norefy) (Moo (v})
(Wit) (Wit (i) (Wit (i) (Wit (i) (Wit iz w)
At 1 January 2020 i 2.3
-B-H 1,423,768 628,235 (20,928) 13,088 (6,963) 36,864 (1,589,808) 484,256
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (208,029) (228,029)
Other comprehensive ~ Eft2 Elz
income
Foreign exchange EXZE
differences - - 3,297 - - - - 3,297
Release of exchange ~ AIHEHE
feserve upon NARE
disposal of BEX G
subsidiaries {0
(Note 34(b)) (b)) - - 1,501 - - - - 1,501
Other comprehensive  FEEM2ERA
income for the year, net (%)
of tax - - 4,888 - - - - 4,888
Total comprehensive loss N2 EEELEE
for the year - - 4,888 - - - (228,029) (223,141)
Transactions with equity EEREEAL
holders 25
Share-based PSP
compensation wE - - - - - 6,106 - 6,106
Lapse of share options ~ EERRE% M - - - - - (2,490) 2,490 -
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEMER
(Note 34(b)) Az
4(b) = = = = 6,963 = - 6,963
- - - - 6,963 3616 2,490 13,069
At31December2020 R-E-FF+=
A=1-H 1,423,768 628,235 (16,040) 13,088 - 40,480 (1,815,347) 274,184
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32 fRfE @)

Share-based  Convertible
Share  Contributed Exchange General compensation  bond equity  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses
Rzt TRRES
RiteE LE ENfS -RiE  ZRERE BER% gihe
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
71 7 71 7 i Fér 223 Fér
(Nofe (1)) (Note (i) (Note (ii) — (Note (i) — (Note(v)) — (Note (vii))
Bz wEm)  wEG) WEe)  WEm) (B
At1 January 2021 HoE---f-4 1,423,768 628,235 (16,040) 13,088 40,480 - (1,815,347) 274,184
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - (159,699) (159,699)
Other comprehensive loss Hh2EER
Forsign exchange differences EXZEE - - (4611) - - - - (4,61)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, £ER 2 EEE (BH%)
net of tax - - (4,611) - - - - (4,611)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ FAZAEELE - - (4,611) - - - (156,699) (164,310)
Transactions with equity holders HERHEALRS
Issue of convertible bonds EuaRESR - - - - - 40,283 - 40,283
Lapse of share options BRELH - - - - (40,480) - 40,480 -
- - - - (40,480) 40,283 40,480 40,283
At 31 December 2021 HoE--F+Zf=+-F| 1423768 628,235 (20,651) 13,088 - 40,283 (1,934,566) 150,157
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32 RESERVES (continued)

Notes:

(0

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

The application of the share premium account is governed by
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

The contributed surplus of the Group arose from a scheme of
arrangement on 31 October 1989 and capital reorganisations
on 2 November 2001 and 18 December 2007. Pursuant to the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, a company incorporated in
Bermuda is not permitted to pay dividends or make a distribution
out of the contributed surplus if there are reasonable grounds
for believing that the company is, or would after the payment
be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or the
recognised value of the company’s assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital
and share premium accounts.

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.6.

In accordance with the PRC regulations, each of the Group’s
PRC subsidiaries is required to transfer not less than 10%
of its profit after tax, as determined in accordance with PRC
accounting standards and regulations, to the general reserve
until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital. The
quantum of the annual transfer is subject to the approval of the
board of directors of the PRC subsidiaries in accordance with
their articles of association.

The equity instrument reserve represents the fair value of
the right derived from the symmetrical put and call option
agreement amounted to HK$6,963,000 signed by FSL on 3
February 2016 to purchase the remaining 49% equity interest
in Maleth at an option price ranging between EUR1,000,000
(equivalent to HK$8,732,000) and EUR10,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$87,315,000) from 6 July 2020 onwards. The respective
liability was recorded in other payables in the consolidated
statement of financial position. Pursuant to the disposal
agreement signed on 15 December 2020, the symmetrical put
and call option was terminated (Note 34(b)).

32 f#E@)
Wit -

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

BmaEREMRBRE-NN\—FQF
ELZER e

AEEZEHBRDIE-—BER -/ \NE+
A=+ —BZRBA B8 RN —EE—F+—
AZANM—ZZLF+-_A+N\HZELXE
AMES - REAFRE-NAN—FREE -
MBEFEEMAIL 2 A BE T AER T T™F
REREIEELRBBRPIELDIR : AR
#IEREEABARNKER SR SHAT
BERBEEEBMEY  AEMAREEZE
EREGELERNEEE  BBETRARR
I BRI o

X RN EEMBRRIAEES
ZIIAERZ% - LB DHBRIEN 2.6
S EETRREIE ©

REREER  ARERHEMBARER
TAm10% 2 BrFiigm ) (RH E g ER|
FERERE) BE-—RER BEEZREZ
REEZAMEARZ50% Rl - BEERZ
RBARAAZTHEMBRAR CEFTERE
HAMEREAIAE -

HETERERRFSLR =2 —"F-A=
SRRV SE HERSEIN T L A = e
ZZFL AXNARUNT 1,000,000 BT (6
£ 8,732,000 7T ) Z 10,000,000 B 7T (48
£ 487,315,000/ 70 ) 2 [ 2 HA#EE W iE
Maleth 8 T 49% R A MESE £ 2 M Z A
A {B166,963,000/8 T - BB BENGE M
BRRKRI AEMENKIE - RER =T =
TFE+-_ATREBETZHE R - HER
h R REHRE D R (K 34(b)) ©
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Notes: (continued)

(vi)

(vii)

The share-based compensation reserve represents the fair
value of the unexercised share options granted under the
Company'’s share option schemes and the fair value of the share
award granted under the Company’s share award scheme to
the eligible participants recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 2.23(b).

As detailed in Note 26(b) of these consolidated financial
statements, the Company completed the issue of Convertible
Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of HK$210,000,000.
The fair value of the liability component of the Convertible
Bonds was calculated using future repayments discounted at
an estimated discount rate of 9.98% per annum. The residual
amount of approximately HK$40,283,000 (being the difference
between the fair value of the Convertible Bonds at issuance date
and the fair value of the liability component on initial recognition)
is assigned as the equity component and is included in
convertible bond equity reserve.

, NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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32 f#EE)
HaE - (4)

(vi)

(vii)

VAR A7 32 A5 2 468 8 o A 46 1R PR T = 2.23(b)
Fol & 5t BURAR B A 1 B R0 B8 i =t &) ;e A
RAIRN R TERI A ERDE
EXABTEBRERBROZEH I AAE
1=

AR ANER & B TS ¥R 2R MY 5 26(b) FraF it
AN BIFERRBETTA S 5 A 210,000,000 7%
T A ES - JRREFRESIHZA
AEETDIZESF9.98% ML EBIR R E ~
RABEFEEMTE o FIRrSFEL 40,283,000
BT (B R ESRETERZAAEE
HEESNRY P HERBEZ ARBEZ =
1) IR A0 Rt AR R EHER
o
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33

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

33 FERERS

2021 2020
—E-—fF ZERTF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
At 1 January Wn—ABA—H 118,018 124,875
Capital injection from non-controlling ~ — KK B A G FEIERER 2T A&
interest of a subsidiary - 45
Acquisition of non-controlling interest W% — KB A B IEHE AL
of a subsidiary (40) -
Share of results FEIE AR 2,520 (557)
Derecognition upon disposal of RHEEH B A RZREUEER
subsidiaries (Note 34(b)) (K15t 34(b)) - (6,323)
Exchange differences &N ZE%8 13 (22)
At 31 December R+=—B=+—H 120,511 118,018

Non-controlling interests include, inter alia, an amount of
US$15,000,000 (equivalent to HK$116,250,000) preference
shares issued by DVN (Group) Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, on 31 March 1999. The preference
shareholder has the right at any time starting from 1 July 2000
to exchange all (but not part) of the preference shares into
34,191,176 ordinary shares of the Company at an exchange
price which has been subsequently adjusted to HK$3.40 per
share, pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 22
June 2018. The Company has the right, at its discretion, to
request the preference shareholder to exercise his exchange
right to exchange all (but not part) of the preference shares
into the Company’s ordinary shares at the exchange price
at any time from 1 July 2000, provided that the average
of the closing prices of the Company’s ordinary shares for
the 20 consecutive trading days ending on the trading day
immediately preceding the date of giving notice of such
compulsory exchange is not less than HK$10 per share.

FEERE R B E(EH 8 1E) 15,000,000
Z (% ©116,250,000/8 7t ) Z B\ &
AN F & & W E A FDVN (Group) Limited
R—AANE=ZA=1+—BFRBT2EL
e RZTEZETF+ A — AEEMER
BAERBRRB G2 (MIEH) BER
BRBERBARRE] 34,191,176 B EBAX
(BEARTR=_FE—N\FEA=+=H
Tz NE  KBEEREERAREER
340%BL) - R—_ZEZZEF+A—HEFT
R - AR ARZ EBR 2 FHRTE
REBEZERLERIIRBEZANRS
HiEZ 20 @B ERZ 5 B NMER B 10
T ARRBREREERBERREITE
R - 2 EB (T FEEP D) 8 2 BRIR IR
BRBANARZ LB -
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°/ 34 BUSINESS COMBINATION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

Business combination

()

Summary of acquisition

On 22 October 2021, the Group, through its
wholly-owner subsidiary, acquired 100% of the
issued share capital of DeWe Group, a group of
entities which principally engaged in the provision
of security and guarding services and healthcare
services (the “Acquisition”). Details of the
Acquisition was described in the announcement of
the Company dated 23 September 2021.

Management believed that the Acquisition will
significantly improve the Group’s security business.
In addition, the Acquisition will provide the Group
with a steady source of income and cash inflow.
The DeWe Group’s security and guarding services
segment has a relatively stable portfolio of security
contracts and strong credentials, enabling the
Group to bid for government or private security
contracts which require proof of track records.
Details of the purchase consideration, the net
assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

, NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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34 EBEHRHENBLF

(a)

EBEH

(0

WEHE

RZE=Z—F+A=+=8H"
AEESREZENB QA
U B B Bk 5 B 100% B B 1T R
X EREEA—EEENRE
RHLREEGRERBER
ERBHEBHE(KRES
B ) o WEEEMFEHNA
REIRZE=Z—FNA=+=
ARNAER -

BEERE WESESEE
RAAEEZZRER - It
5 WEEEEK RAKEIRH#
REZBARBREZRA °
BEEE 2 ZREEGRE D
MAEGRERENLRAE DA
BRBAREE  SAKEBESR
SHERREECHERAZBA
HILARRE TR - WER
B B FEERBEN
BT :

2021
—E-—fF

HK$’000
FAET

Purchase consideration: WHERE -
Cash paid BfNEE 200,000
Contingent consideration HARRE 135,055
Total purchase consideration LU RE 335,055
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34 BUSINESS COMBINATION AND DISPOSAL OF 34 XBEHREHEMELR (#)
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(a) Business combination (continued) (a) EBE/(E)
(i) Summary of acquisition (continued) (i) WEHEE)
The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of KWEERNEERBEDN
the acquisition are as follows: T
Fair value
AREE
HK$°000
F#ET
Cash and cash equivalents BeRESEEY 28,787
Intangible assets BmAE 80,831
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E A fE KGRI 37,702
Other non-current assets HEMIEmeNEE 3,573
Other current assets HEMREEE 889
Trade and other payables and accruals B 5 R H M EMRIERERER (34,405)
Lease liabilities HEaE (2,475)
Income tax payables P45 ¢ FE 1+ 3008 (4,992)
Deferred income tax liabilities BTSSR AR (13,380)
Net identifiable assets acquired Pk B8 ml 35 51 & B VR E 96,530
Add: goodwill o 238,525
Net assets acquired P& EFE 335,055
(1)  Acquired receivables (1) BTN IE
The fair value of acquired trade and other kg & 5 & H i fE
receivables is HK$37,702,000. The fair value WHRBZAREBES
of acquired trade and other receivables 37,702,000/ 7T ° FT UK
approximates the gross contractual amount HEHE 5 & HME W RIE
with no material loss allowance made upon ZANBEEINBPES
the Acquisition. JERFRIBEE X 2R

B MEBSEEY &
TR EAE IR -




°/ 34 BUSINESS COMBINATION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)
()
)

&

Business combination (continued)

Summary of acquisition (continued)

Gooawill on acquisition

The Group recognised goodwill of
approximately HK$238,525,000 in the
consolidated statement of financial position,
which was primarily attributable to the
consideration that was mutually agreed
between the parties, with reference to the
carrying amount of the identifiable net
assets of approximately HK$96,530,000
as at the date of Acquisition. Goodwill is
primarily attributable to the anticipated
profitability, cost saving synergy of the
acquired business with the Group’s existing
security business and net cash inflows of the
acquired business.

Acquired intangible assets

The fair value of acquired intangible assets
amounted to HK$80,831,000 contained the
below classes of assets:

Customer relationship
Order backlog
Telemed application software
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34 EBESHRHEMBEAR (&)

(a)
()
2)

(3)

EFRE
RITHKETE
EIZE R AT

ERAO(E)
WEHEE ()

WEFR BE
=

REBREAMH
MARBEREELD
238,525,000 Jt° =E
ZHRITNF —BRAE
ZREMW BERE
Th2Z U HE B B A 3
AMEEFEZEEAY
96,530,000/ L& E °
EMEDEEREMIKE
XM TR & FI 8

Fir W B 2 765 B 7S £ [ 3
ELRIREBHKAE L
BRI E RIR S FRA o

PRI TR B E

BB EEZ AR
& {& /480,831,000/8
T YBEEATEER
Al

HK$°000
FET

57,773
22,094
964

80,831

The key assumptions used in determining
the fair value of customer relationship and
order backlog are disclosed as follows:

Customer relationship

BEPRE%

Order backlog
RITAKE] &

Post-tax
discount rate

BB RITHR =

12.5%

16%

BEERFBAERKRTX
FEAAREBERREZ
RBRWENT

Expected
useful
lives

A
CIREREE:S:

Attrition
rate

AR

10% to 13%
10% = 13%

N/A
i

N/A
ER

3.86 to
5.52 years
3.86 £5.52F
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34 BUSINESS COMBINATION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

Business combination (continued)

()

Summary of acquisition (continued)

4

Contingent consideration

The Group shall satisfy the contingent
consideration by the issue of maximum
230,769,228 shares of the Company
(“Consideration Shares”) to the vendors of
the Acquisition in three instalments within
14 Business Days after confirming the
DeWe Group’s net profit for (1) the period
from the date of Acquisition completion to
31 December 2022 (the “First Relevant
Period”); (2) the year ending 31 December
2023 (the “Second Relevant Period”); and
(3) the year ending 31 December 2024
(the “Third Relevant Period”) (collectively,
the “Relevant Periods”). The number of
Consideration Shares to be issued for each
Relevant Period is determined based on the
DeWe Group’s consolidated net profits after
tax under the HKFRSs adopted by the Group
and audited by the auditors appointed by
the Company for the Relevant Periods.

The fair value of contingent consideration
at the completion date of the Acquisition
amounting to HK$135,055,000 was
calculated with reference to the expected
value of DeWe Group’s net profits after tax
for the Relevant Periods and the probability
of various scenarios of achievement of
the targeted net profits. It is expected that
192,935,000 Consideration Shares would be
issued at the prevailing share price as at the
date of completion of the Acquisition.

34 XBEHRUHEHBLRR (&)

(a)

KRS0 (E)
(i) WEHEE)
(4) BEARE

REBBERBERERSE
BERr() BREBEIES
KrzBARBREZT=Z

+-A=+—HItHMHE
([EEHEEBELD (2
HEZZTZ-_=F+=A
=t+—HLEFE(E=
BHEBEHBEI &@3)
HEZZTZ-_MFE+=A
=t+t—BLEEJSE
=EAEAEBE]) (58
[HEBH8E ] 2 F5H
BI4EAZEBR - AR
BEBCZBEAETRS
230,769,228 i% AN X Al
o ((RERSB]D 27
X DZHTARAR
8 o #5705 48 B8 2 F B
TZRERGKEE iR
EHEERBRELCAER
Rz BEATIEREE
IS E RS NN
BT R B M AZ SR ] 5
ZIRAEBRBIEFF EE

.
TE °

R BRI RS T
HE 2 AREBEAE
135,055,000/ 7T T3
2 Z B K E R R
MzBRBEFFEZE
HEEREZFFBEE
EXEBE B X
H o 8 51192,935,000
B8 B % 17 18 70 Uk BB 2
X B BpiR E AR B EEAT -




°/ 34 BUSINESS COMBINATION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Business combination (continued)

, NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

34 EBESHRHEMBEAR (&)

(a) EKEH(E)

(i)  Summary of acquisition (continued) (i) WKEHEE)
(5)  Revenue and profit contribution (5) WA R FIE B
The acquired business contributed FrEXEBRE ZZ
revenues of HK$35,735,000 and net profit —— %+ A=+=H
of HK$3,108,000 to the Group for the period RBE_ZT-_—F+-A
from 23 October 2021 to 31 December 2021. =+—HIEHHEALRSE
® 5 Bf W A 35,735,000
Y87 K% A1 3,108,000
VBT °
If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January WM EEERN T = —
2021, consolidated pro-forma revenue F-—A—B®%£ B
and loss for the year ended 31 December 2T —F+=A
2021 would have been HK$868,046,000 =St+—HBLEEEZEE
and HK$154,010,000 respectively. These HERARBEED?
amounts have been calculated using the £ 868,046,000 7T &
subsidiary’s results and adjusting them for 154,010,000/ 7T ° %%
the additional depreciation and amortisation SHEEFEANB AR
that would have been charged assuming FEGE WHERK
the fair value adjustments to property, plant ¥ MERRENU LR
and equipment and intangible assets had FEENARBEARE
applied from 1 January 2021, together with BEEZE=_—F—A—
the consequential tax effects. HERMmSEHEINT
EREHEED 2B -
ERBEHEHRIED
There were no acquisitions during the year HE=E_ZT-_ZTF+=A
ended 31 December 2020. =t+—HIEFELEK
MEEIE o
(ii)  Acquisition — net of cash acquired (i) WHEEE — HIBFRERE
2021 2020
—B-—F —EEF
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FH&T
Outflow of cash to acquire BURENBARMALZ
subsidiary, net of cash RE - MBRAMKERS
acquired
Cash consideration RERE 200,000 =
Less: Balances acquired R PTHE A AR
Cash and cash equivalents B RESZEM (28,787) -
Net outflow of cash — investing ~ HR&RH FHE — REEH
activities 171,213 -
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34 BUSINESS COMBINATION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Business combination (continued)

(iij)  Acquisition — net of cash acquired (continued)

Acquisition-relaled costs

Acquisition-related costs of HK$4,513,000 that
were not directly attributable to the issue of shares
are included in other operating expenses in the
consolidated income statement and in operating
cash flows in the consolidated statement of cash
flows.

Disposal of subsidiaries

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to 15
December 2020, the Group owned 51% equity interest
in Maleth and its subsidiaries (together, the “Maleth
Group”) through its wholly-owned subsidiary, FSL.
Maleth Group was principally engaged in the provision
of aircraft management services and insurance,
maintenance, charter and regulatory related services to
owners and operators of private and commercial aircraft
registered in Malta and other countries.

On 15 December 2020, FSL entered into a stock
purchase agreement (the “Agreement”) with Aircraft
Engine Lease Finance Inc. (the “Maleth Purchaser”),
pursuant to which FSL agreed to sell and the Maleth
Purchaser agreed to acquire approximately 51%
equity interest in Maleth Group for an aggregate
cash consideration of US$1,050,000 (equivalent to
HK$8,142,000). Pursuant to the Agreement, the right to
purchase the remaining 49% equity interest in Maleth
Group at an option price ranging between EUR1,000,000
(equivalent to HK$9,501,000) and EUR10,000,000
(equivalent to HK$95,005,000) effective from 6 July
2020 onward, attached to the symmetrical put and call
option agreement entered into between FSL and the
non-controlling interests of Maleth Group on 3 February
2016, was also terminated on 15 December 2020.

34 XBEHRUHEHBLRR (&)

(a)

(b)

KA (E)

(i) WHEEE — HBFKEBEES
(#)
W BB 1B E A
IEEREARBITREZWE
FERIRK AR 4,513,000 7T 2 &

AGERaERZEMEEER
RiGERERNBERZEERS

MER e

HEMBLQH

REBE-_Z—NF+=ZA=+—H
TEERBEE-_ZE-_ZETHE+_-A
+HE AEEFREZENE
A AJFSLA Maleth &z H Bt B A 7]
([Maleth &£ @ |) # & 51% % # °
MalethEEBEEH EM R SEE M &
H B R AL A K g A R
BAREEE R RME IR R A
KRB~ #18 - B REE R
ﬁ%o

R-_ZE-_TF+_-_F+HHB FSL
i AjrcraftEnginel.easeFinancelnc.
([Maleth B 75 1) 5] 2 B Rk i3 ([ &%
W&l B FSLEEHEM
Maleth & 75 [&] Z U & Maleth £ B 49
51% izt + 4838 & {E /51,050,000
FE T (HHE 58,142,000 7T ) ° 1R
& % 1 &% ' FSLEE Maleth & B 3E
EREEN T A"F_A=HF]
ST 2 E R RN K FR B HA R v P I
wEHZE_EFLANARBRERK
Z LA F 1,000,000 7t ( 48 & 7
9,501,000/ 7t ) EZ10,000,000 X
7T (851 95,005,000 7T) 2 M2
HARE (B UL BB Maleth (2 B84 T 49% MR
T EN -_E-_ZTF+_ A
+HBAL -
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’/ 34 BUSINESS COMBINATION AND DISPOSAL OF 34 EBAHRHENBAR (&)
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(b) Disposal of subsidiaries (continued) (b) LHEMEBLAR(E)
The transaction was completed on 15 December 2020. REHEENR_E_ZTF+_A+HA
Upon the completion, Maleth Group ceased to be FERK ° 75}775{% Maleth & B T~ B &
subsidiaries of the Group. The disposal resulted in a AEBZHBAR - HEFHEHR
loss on disposal of subsidiaries of HK$486,000. The i & FfT B 2 R & 18 486,000 78 7T ©
respective liability previously recorded in other payables BT R ARG B AR 3R B E A FE
in the consolidated statement of financial position in RIEMESEENEERERRE
relation to the symmetrical put and call option was Mg BHARREAED BUSHER
derecognised and credited to the equity instrument Wit AfEm TR -
reserve.
Financial information relating to the Maleth Group for the BT -_TF—A—HRBREZLE
period from 1 January 2020 to the date of disposal is set B Hi | BARS & B Maleth £ & 2 81 7%
out below: BREST ¢
(i)  Financial performance (i) HBEXE
From
1 January 2020
to 15 December
2020
BE-Z-ZF
—HA—HE=E
—T-FF
+=A+EHB
HK$'000
FET
Revenue ek 104,364
Other income E A 1,715
Expenses gy (108,605)
Loss before income tax MRET1S B AT E58 (2,526)
Income tax credit Frig i 235

Loss after income tax

BAiSBiR B 1R

(2,291)
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34 BUSINESS COMBINATION AND DISPOSAL OF 34 EBEHREEWBRR (&)
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(b) Disposal of subsidiaries (continued) (b) HEMEBEAR(E)
(ii)  Details of the disposal of subsidiaries (i) HEWBRGZ5FE
2020
—T-FF
HK$'000
FH&T
Consideration received in cash PARR @ WERR B 8,142
Carrying amount of net assets sold Rl & & EFEZ REE (13,360)
Derecognition of non-controlling interests BUHFER I A 25 6,323
Release of exchange reserve ¢ I 5 (1,591)
Loss on disposal HEEE (486)
The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities as at BENBENRHEBH(ZZEZF+=
the date of disposal (15 December 2020) were: A+RHHB)ZEEES :
2020
—ERTF
HK$'000
FET
Property, plant and equipment M - SR RE 904
Goodwill and other intangible assets BENEMEREE 5,071
Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIE 61,608
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBFEEED 6,508
Other assets Hin & E 22,028
Total assets BELE 96,119
Trade and other payables B 5 R HE M ENFE 65,5056
Other liabilities EMAaRE 17,254
Total liabilities HERE 82,759

Net assets BEFE 13,360
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CEMAZRE
FEFBBRLEMAZAS ZUENT :

CASH USED IN OPERATIONS 35

The reconciliation of loss for the year to cash used in
operations is as follows:

2021 2020

—E-—f BT

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FET

Loss for the year FEEE (157,179) (228,586)

Adjustments for FAEIFE

Income tax expense/(credit) FEHEY,/ (FEr) 14,392 (9,491)

Finance costs Bh& Bk AN 15,231 19,485

Depreciation e 46,047 51,880

Engine overhaul cost SIS KA - 4,564

Amortisation of other intangibles Hihmp B EHH 3,637 1,689

Share-based compensation LARR 9 2 1~ 2 FE & - 6,106

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries LEME AR EE - 486

Impairment losses on financial assets & @& E 2 HEEE 30,866 14,266

Provision for inventories FEEME 480 1,032
Provision for impairment loss of other  E b £ 28 & ~ il (B E5 18 B 5

intangibles 2,029 -
Provision for impairment of property, M - HES KRR E A R (E AR

plant and equipment and right-of- BERERE

use assets 15,731 -
Provision for impairment of assets BIELEEE 2 RERE

held-for-sale 10,396 =
Provision for impairment of interest in R —KE L AT 2 #Ex 2 H1E

an associate by - 8,693
Loss on disposal of other intangibles & H B EE 7 518 350 =
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of HEME  KEREHEZ

property, plant and equipment (Wezs) /B8 35 (HaE (i)

(Note (i) (2,371) 768
Interest income F B Uz A (2,033) (3,702)
Share of (profits)/losses of associates  JE{HEEZE NG N —FRAEZ AT

and a joint venture, net CaFl) /Eia%E (3,344) 2,478

Exchange differences [EN =5 (5,721) 843
Changes in working capital LEEASED
Inventories TE (1,099) 935
Trade and bills receivables, contract BRI HIEREWREE &

assets, prepayments, deposits and NEE -  BAH RekHE

other receivables b, FE UL FR I8 (19,734) 9,480
Trade payables, other payables, E S EMNRIE - HA MR

accruals and contract liabilities H- - EBAERRGHNEE 34,602 (39,700)

Cash used in operations REEBHAZE S (17,720) (158,774)
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35 CASH USED IN OPERATIONS (continued) 35 EEFAZAE#E)
Note: et -
(i) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from (i) REFERERERT - HEWE  HBERR
disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise: BZAERIER
2021 2020
—B-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Net carrying amount (Note 13) BREVFE (Hat 13) 4,745 1,124
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, HEME  HERRE 2K
plant and equipment (Note 10(d)) (E548) F58 (1a£ 10(d)) 2,371 (768)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
and equipment HEME - #23 RRE 2 FEHR 7,116 356

36 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36 AERIAREE

(a) Capital Commitments (a) EXREIE
The Group’s capital expenditures contracted for as at 31 AEBR-_ZE-_—FR_ZT_ZTF
December 2021 and 2020 but not yet incurred were as +-A=+—BERiHEHKREL
follows: ZEARZIT

2021 2020

—EB-—F —TFTF

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FE&T

Investment in a fund (Note 17(d)) RESZIRE (HiF17(d)) - 191,614

Purchase of land-use-rights BE B 4 5 FR 4 - 11,882

- 203,496




(b)

(c)

(d)

7/ 36 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(continued)

Operating Lease Commitments as a Lessor

The Group leases its leasehold properties under non-
cancellable operating lease agreements. The lease
terms is 35 years, and the lease agreement is renewable
at the end of the lease term at market rate.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group had total
minimum lease payments receivable on leases under the
non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

36

, NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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RAERIREE#)
(b) REBRQYERE(EREAN)

AEEREBENABHCEHO W
HEHHEWX - AT A
HrE N E R R IR T B ERT -

R-BE_—SR_F_F+_A
=t+—8B AEBEREBETAMHEL
EHRNEE 2 RIEHEE N FEER

IR

2021 2020
—EB-—F —T-FTF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Not later than 1 year D —F 9 10
Later than 1 year but not later than ~ —FAEBRF AR
5 years 37 39
Later than 5 years AF B 252 270
298 319
Financial Commitments (c) BIIEA&IE
The Group did not have any significant financial REBR -_ZTE-_—F+_A=+—
commitments as at 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil). B EEAERMEEE(ZCE-Z
Fm) e
Contingent Liabilities (d) BRERE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liability. At 31 December 2020, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company issued
a fixed and floating debenture on all its assets to a bank
as securities for a banking facility of US$1,500,000
(equivalent to HK$11,687,000).

R—_TE-_—F+-_A=+—H ' &
EEVETMNERAKAREE K=
TZ-FTF+_A=+—H ' KAA
2 REEZENBRARINHRE
FBEEZRTEE R B EREE
£ & — 51,500,000 T (A EH K
11,687,00087T) ZRITHLE 2 (RFE
{:Eo
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37 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

Transactions with Related Parties

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries,
which are related parties to the Company, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in
this note. In addition to those transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following material
transactions with related parties during the year:

Provision of security services to
subsidiaries of a shareholder of
the Company

REZRRE

37

A AR &) — B AR IRz KT X Al

EXBABALRES
(a) BHALRS

AREEEE AR (BAR R
AL 2Bz X EREEEETIA
His - BXBRAMERE - BN
ZEEEMBBRREMM T RE L

R RAERIN

FARAEEBE

TTATERBEBALRS

2021
—EBE-—fF
HK$°000
FET

1,314

2020
—E-FTF
HK$'000
FET

25

All the transactions were negotiated with related parties
on normal commercial terms or in accordance with the
agreements governing those transactions.

Details of Key Management Compensation of the
Group

HEBALZAARSHR—KRE
EGRFBES IRBREZERS

2 BT -

(b) FAEMIEEBASMEFE

2021 2020

—EB-—F —TTF

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FET

Short-term employee benefits EHESEN 12,680 22,845
Post-employment benefits BB R A 219 246
Share-based compensation PARS AR & +F 2 # (& - 6,106
12,899 29,197

The directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief
Operating Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of
the Company are regarded as the key management
personnel of the Group.

ARAREE  THAH 2EHE
RUBREERERAEE L ETEE

HEAB -
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°/ 37 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37 EXBBALRS (&)

(continued)

(c) Other Year-End Balances (c) HibFERER
2021 2020
—EB-—F —T-FTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Trade receivables B S ERRE
Subsidiaries of a shareholder of KA —ZREZHB AR
the Company 461 -

Prepayments, deposits and other TN - H& R HEWFE

receivables

Associates il 9,741 12,064
Other payables and accruals HtENRERESER

Associates B & 7] 46,018 45,749

A director of a subsidiary of the REE—KKHEB AT

Group —ZE= 14,082 =

Assets held-for-sale BEHEESE

An associate —REE QA - 10,099

(d) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to (d) BEXIZZIHRABEAYE

Connected Transactions
The related party transactions in respect of (a) above EX(a) 2B A TR SR EER
constitute connected transactions or continuing SUFERER S (FHR EMHEL
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A F14AE) o AT » ARZERFHH
of the Listing Rules. However, these transactions are BLEENE14A76(1) IEB N2 &
fully exempt from any disclosure requirements as the BEREKT  HZERSFEEEZA
aggregate amount of these transactions is below the de M BTEMBEERE -

minimis threshold under Rule 14A.76(1).
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38 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(1)

(if)

Due to the fifth wave of outbreak of COVID-19 in Hong
Kong since early 2022, the relevant precautionary and
control measures has become stringent. Management
expected the resumption of its cross-border healthcare
business as planned would delay and its business
in Hong Kong might be subject to a certain extent of
disruption. This would result in deterioration in the
performance of business held by certain subsidiaries
in Hong Kong, in particular the cross-border healthcare
business of the Group. In preparing these consolidated
financial statements, the Group tested goodwill for
impairment (Note 15) and the recoverable amount of
the relevant CGUs exceeded its carrying amount, thus
no provision for impairment was made in relation to
those subsidiaries in Hong Kong. In performing this
assessment, the Group estimated the present value of
future cash flows of the CGUs based on the conditions
as at 31 December 2021. In the goodwill impairment
test to be performed in 2022, COVID-19 outbreak and
its impact on the present value of estimated future
cash flows of the CGUs will be considered. Up to the
date on which these consolidated financial statements
were authorised for issue, the Group is still in the
process of assessing the impacts of the COVID-19 on
the performance of the relevant CGUs and is currently
unable to estimate the quantitative impacts to the Group.
Management will closely and continuously monitor the
situation and assess the financial impact to the Group.

On 20 January 2022, Mr. Li Xiaopeng (“Mr. Li") was
appointed as an Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company. On the same date, 23,400,000
share options were granted to Mr. Li, details of which
were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
20 January 2022.

Except for as disclosed above and elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, there are no material
subsequent events undertaken by the Company or by the
Group after 31 December 2021 and up to the date of the
annual report.

38 HIEER

(i)

(i)

HREBR-_E-_—F¥E%ER
B E MR RS RES - ARERIE
B2 SUSERE -  SBEE
BHEREEBEERRBERZ
Bl HRBRBZEB A XE
—EREMNTE  UHBBETH
BRAAREBEERBZEBRER
bt BHRERAEEZBEEERRE
X RRHEALRE W B HRERE -
AN 55 Bt B TR E DR B (B R
15) MABMRESELEN 2
hesmBBEERE  WILARZ
ERBWBRARTELREREM - KX
ETZAER  AEERBER_Z
——F+ZA=+—HzZARRMEE
ReEEBEUARARBEEREZR
B - RZE_—FHTETIHE
BEART  BEERHEERRS
REBEREHRSELABNAEFR
REEREREZLXE - HEALR
EMBHRRERETEZEAYR A%
B 375 51 & 1 2L AK 7R S5 W ¥ 48 28
ReELEBURBEZZE HAA
EERBTHAEB 2 E2LEE B
BEEERMISFEERGHEER
Wt AR EE 2 & o

RZEZZF—RA=+8H ' FTEE
EE((ZERE ) EZTHERARSF
TESRTHRER - BE - BERAZE
% & 1% 123,400,000 17 BE RX 4 - &
BERAARBSHA-_ZTE-__F—AH
ZHBRZRAERNEE -

BREXREAMBREREMM T AEE

I

RZEBE-_—F+=-—RA=+—HELRE
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7/ 39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

, NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

39 ARAFRHBRRE

COMPANY
2021 2020
—B-—#% —TFTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FBT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M HEERRE 470 651
Intangibles mpEE - 1,350
Interest in a joint venture MN—RELE NI ZER - 983
Interests in subsidiaries R B AT 2 R 740,652 494,341
Total non-current assets IEmBEELE 741,122 497,325
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other TR - ' REMmEK
receivables I8 1,634 2,418
Contract assets BREE 11,957 =
Cash and cash equivalents HENESEED 75,736 117,095
Total current assets mENVE EARME 89,327 119,513
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables Z 5 RN RIE 17,132 -
Other payables and accruals Hih I RERETER 11,362 13,032
Total current liabilities mENBERRE 28,494 13,032
Net current assets TEEERE 60,833 106,481
Total assets less current liabilities BELERRBERE 801,955 603,806
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FkRBEE
Contingent consideration payable BB RE 135,055 =
Convertible bonds AR ES 172,840 -
Total non-current liabilities IEmBAEETE 307,895 =
Net assets BEFE 494,060 603,806
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to the Company’s RATREREA
equity holders b
Share capital A% X 234,482 234,482
Reserves (Note) @ (KE) 259,578 369,324
Total equity 1R 494,060 603,806
Signed on behalf of the Board on 30 March 2022 by REZBFEN-Z-__F=A=TH%ZE
Ko Chun Shun, Johnson Luo Ning
S iRIE B=
Director Director
£ =2




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 39 AQTHBEAMRREKE)
COMPANY (continued)

Note: et -

Reserve Movements of the Company RARREEES

Convertible  Share-based

Share  Contributed Exchange  bond equity compensation Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
ARRES URBIZ
R E(E EHRH B R REREE 2itER @it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET

At 1 January 2020 R-Z=-2F
-A—H 1,423,768 558,899 - - 36,864 (1,472,335) 547,196

Loss for the year FEER - - - - - (183,978) (183,978)

Total comprehensive loss £E 2 AEEEE
for the year - - - - - (183,978) (183,978)

Transactions with equity EREFEEAZZ S

holders
Share-based PABRD 2 1 2 4 1B
compensation - - - - 6,106 - 6,106
Lapse of share options ~ B§RR#EA = = = = (2,490) 2,490 -
B - - - 3,616 2,490 6,106
At 31 December 2020 R=F-ZF
+=B=+-8 1,423,768 558,899 - = 40,480 (1,683,823) 369,324
At 1 January 2021 R-B=--F
—-R—-H 1,423,768 558,899 - - 40,480 (1,653,823) 369,324
Loss for the year FEBE - - - - - (150,062) (150,062)
Other comprehensive  Eft 2 E iz
income
Foreign exchange ~ [EREH
differences - - 33 - - - 33
Other comprehensive ~ F£EHMZFERHE
income for the year, net (&%)
of tax - - 33 - - - 33
Total comprehensive loss FE 2 EEBAE
for the year - - 33 - - (150,062) (150,029)
Transactions with equity EEXEBEAZZ S
holders
Issue of convertible bonds %47 Al # ik & % - - - 40,283 - - 40,283
Lapse of share options  B&fR#E 4% - - - - (40,480) 40,480 -
- - - 40,283 (40,480) 40,480 40,283
At 31 December 2021 R-B--%
+=HA=t+-H 1,423,768 558,899 33 40,283 - (1,763,405) 259,578




FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFMBEME

The consolidated results, and assets and liabilities of the Group for AEBEBRERARMREEZLEFEE BEME
the last five financial years are summarised below. BT o

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—E--F ZTZTF ZT-NEF —T-N\F —T—tF
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FAET FET FAT
Results ES
Loss attributable to: IATALTREES :
Equity holders of the AARERFAA
Company 159,699 228,029 354,793 258,846 223,760
Non-controlling interests JEE R AE (2,520) 557 1,954 (2,223) (658)
157,179 228,586 356,747 256,623 223,102
Assets and liabilities BEEREE
Total assets EERE 1,173,473 939,918 1,223,423 1,505,983 884,177
Total liabilities BiEBE (668,323) (313,234) (379,810) (314,462) (496,236)
Non-controlling interests IR (120,511) (118,018) (124,875) (126,913) (124,267)
Equity attributable to the RAREEHEAAE
Company’s equity holders (=L £ 384,639 508,666 718,738 1,064,608 263,674
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